# Identifying drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions and innovative nutrient policies

using the Canadian geographic context

Sibeal McCourt

Department of Geography

McGill University

November 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in

partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

© Sibeal McCourt 2022

#### Abstract

Excess reactive nitrogen  $(N_r)$  in the environment results in serious negative impacts to society including air pollution, eutrophication, and climate change. To better manage Nr there is a need to examine the underlying drivers of  $N_r$  emissions and to identify potential areas for intervention. However, gaps remain in our understanding of the drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions because they are diverse and often complex. In this thesis, I address three specific gaps: accounting for subnational geographic variation, understanding the effects of changes in economic structure on whole-economy Nr emissions, and integrating nutrient-related concerns comprehensively into policy. I undertake a series of analyses to inform these aspects of research into the drivers of  $N_r$ emissions and opportunities for policy integration in Canada. These three studies draw on multiple methodological and interdisciplinary approaches, including the development of a novel N footprint model, application of economic decomposition analysis methods, and a policy assessment that uses text and network analysis techniques. First, using my model of Canadian N footprints, I examine the patterns of provincial footprints and how consumption-oriented drivers of Nr emissions vary between provinces in relation to their diverse geographic contexts. I then expand on the footprint accounting perspective by exploring more detailed trends in Nr emissions across Canada over time. I do this by synthesizing data from a variety of sources to assess the role of socioeconomic drivers on whole-economy Nr emissions. My results from these two studies collectively show that provincial total and per capita N footprints and territorial emissions vary considerably based on population, affluence, and the relative economic importance of the fossil fuel and agriculture sectors across Canadian provinces. They also underscore the challenges of attributing  $N_r$  emissions for export-oriented economies like Canada's and emphasize the importance of improving emissions intensity and shifting economies toward less Nr intensive sectors. I then explore the nutrient-related policy

environment in Canada (i.e., federal and provincial legislative Acts with relevance to nitrogen and phosphorus) using semantic network analysis. My findings from this analysis reveal potential areas for policy integration in nutrient-related legislation in Canada. Finally, I reflect on the results of my three studies from different emissions accounting perspectives, examine how Canadian legislation matches (or does not match) previously identified drivers and sources of N<sub>r</sub> emissions, and remark on the overarching geographic and provincial trends identified throughout this dissertation. Despite the difficulties in sustainably managing nutrients at the national scale given conflicting or competing economic, social, and environmental goals, my research demonstrates how the multifaceted nature of nutrient issues provides opportunities for innovative policies to address these challenges.

#### Résumé

L'excès d'azote réactif (A<sub>r</sub>) dans l'environnement entraîne de graves impacts négatifs sur la société y compris la pollution de l'air, l'eutrophisation et le changement climatique. Pour mieux gérer le A<sub>r</sub>, il est nécessaire d'examiner les facteurs sous-jacents des émissions de A<sub>r</sub> et d'identifier les domaines potentiels d'intervention. Cependant, il existe des lacunes dans notre compréhension des moteurs des émissions de A<sub>r</sub> car ils sont divers et souvent complexes. Dans cette thèse j'aborde trois de ces lacunes: le rôle des variations géographiques infranationales, les effets des changements de structure économique, et l'intégration des politiques de pollution par les nutriments. J'utilise le Canada comme étude de cas pour éclairer ces trois domaines de recherche. Mes études utilisent plusieurs méthodologiques interdisciplinaires, notamment le développement d'un nouveau modèle d'empreinte, l'application de méthodes d'analyse de décomposition économique, et une évaluation des politiques qui utilise des techniques d'analyse de texte et de réseau.

Tout d'abord, à l'aide de mon modèle d'empreintes canadiennes d'azote, j'examine les tendances des empreintes provinciales et la façon dont les facteurs d'émissions de A<sub>r</sub> axés sur la consommation varient entre les provinces en fonction de leurs divers contextes géographiques. Je développe ensuite la perspective de comptabilisation de l'empreinte en explorant des tendances plus détaillées des émissions à travers le Canada au fil du temps. Je synthétise des données provenant de diverses sources pour évaluer le rôle des moteurs socio-économiques sur les émissions de A<sub>r</sub> de l'ensemble de l'économie. Mes résultats de ces deux études montrent que les empreintes provinciales totales et par habitant, et les émissions territoriales varient considérablement en fonction de la population, de la richesse et de l'importance économique relative des secteurs des combustibles fossiles et de l'agriculture dans les provinces canadiennes.

Ils soulignent également les défis d'attribuer les émissions de Ar aux économies axées sur l'exportation, comme le Canada, et soulignent l'importance d'améliorer l'intensité des émissions et de déplacer les économies vers des secteurs moins intensifs en Ar. Ensuite, j'explore l'environnement politique lié aux éléments nutritifs au Canada (lois législatives fédérales et provinciales pertinentes à la fois pour l'azote et le phosphore) à l'aide d'une analyse de réseau sémantique. Mes conclusions révèlent des domaines potentiels d'intégration des politiques dans la législation relative aux nutriments au Canada. Enfin, je réfléchis aux résultats de mes trois études à partir de différentes perspectives de comptabilisation des émissions, j'examine comment la législation canadienne correspond (ou ne correspond pas) aux facteurs et sources d'émissions de Ar précédemment identifiés, et aux tendances géographiques et provinciales globales identifiées tout au long de cette thèse. Malgré les difficultés de gestion durable des nutriments à l'échelle nationale compte tenu des objectifs économiques, sociaux et environnementaux contradictoires ou concurrents, mes recherches démontrent comment la nature multiforme des problèmes de nutriments offre des opportunités pour des politiques innovantes pour relever ces défis.

Abstractii
Résuméiv
Table of Contents
List of Figures ix
List of Tables xi
Acknowledgementsxii
Contribution of authorsxiii
Chapter 1 Introduction 1
1.1 Research Context
1.2 Research Question/Objectives
1.3 Thesis Structure
Chapter 2 Literature Review
2.1 The nitrogen problem
2.2 Nitrogen accounting and indicators
2.3 Drivers of Nr emissions
2.3.1 Supply-chains and N footprints
2.3.2 Other socio-economic drivers
2.3.3 Nr policy integration and institutional drivers
2.4 The Canadian context
2.5 Literature Review Conclusions
Preface to Chapter 3
Chapter 3 Provincial nitrogen footprints highlight variability in drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions in Canada
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Methodology
3.2.1 Food production and VNFs
3.2.2 Food origin scenarios
3.2.3 Food consumption
3.2.4 Wastewater treatment

# **Table of Contents**

3.3 Results and Discussion	
3.3.1 Food production and consumption	
3.3.2 Fossil fuels	
3.3.3 Attributing top-down N footprint emissions from fossil fuels	50
3.3.4 Nr reduction policies and future research	52
3.4 Conclusions	52
3.5 References	54
Preface to Chapter 4	
Chapter 4 Decomposing three decades of nitrogen emissions in Canada	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and Methods	
4.2.1 An inventory of Nr emissions between 1990 and 2017	
4.2.2 Classification of Nr emissions into source sectors	
4.2.3 Decomposition analysis	
4.3 Results and discussion	
4.3.1 Trends in total and per capita Nr emissions	
4.3.2 The role of regulatory policy in decreasing fossil fuel Nr emissions	
4.3.3 Shifting agricultural Nr emissions and policy gaps	
4.3.4 Technology and efficiency improvements can offset positive drivers of growt Nr emissions	
4.3.5 Sectoral $N_r$ emissions and the influence of economic structural changes	
4.3.6 Uncertainties and limitations	
4.4 Conclusions	
4.5 References	
Preface to Chapter 5	
Chapter 5 Identifying leverage points for sustainable nutrient policy integration in Canad	da 94
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Results and Discussion	
5.2.1 Nutrient legislation topic classification.	
5.2.2 Cross-cutting 'hub' and 'bridge' legislation	100
5.2.3 Similarities and differences in N and P networks	103

5.2.4 Role of indirect legislation in novel nutrient policy integration	105
5.2.5 Alternative network classifications and uncertainties	106
5.3 Toward greater nutrient policy integration	107
5.4 Methodology:	109
5.4.1 Identifying Nutrient-Related Legislation	109
5.4.2 Semantic Network Analysis	110
5.5 References	113
Chapter 6 Discussion	
6.1 Comparing Prairie and central provinces: production vs consumption	116
6.2 Producer-consumer responsibility: accounting for exports	122
Chapter 7 Conclusions and future research	126
7.1 Original contributions to research	126
7.2 Directions for future research	128
7.4 Closing remarks	130
References for non-manuscript chapters	131
Supplementary Materials	

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Thesis Outline including the relationship among the three manuscript (analysis)
chapters
Figure 2.1 The major components of food system NUE in a national food system 11
Figure 2.2 An example of Canadian geographic heterogeneity shown by the terrestrial ecozones
across the 10 Canadian provinces
Figure 3.1 Overview of the 10 Canadian provinces in terms of population, agricultural and
energy characteristics that affect N footprints
Figure 3.2 Diagram illustrating the key components of our top-down N footprint model
Figure 3.3 Total provincial N footprints by sector (A), per capita provincial N footprints by
sector (B), and the relative contribution of each sector to a provinces' per capita footprint (C). 42
Figure 3.4 Per capita provincial N footprints by subsector (A), and the contribution of each
subsector to each provinces' per capita footprint (B)
Figure 3.5 Provincial virtual nitrogen factors (VNFs, g N kg food <sup>-1</sup> ) for different food groups 45
Figure 3.6 Sensitivity analysis using different VNFs to estimate national and provincial virtual
nitrogen footprints (N kg cap <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ) from consumption of crops and animal products
Figure 3.7 Wastewater sensitivity analysis examining different assumptions about recycling
versus landfilling biosolids and sludge from wastewater treatment (N kg cap <sup>-1</sup> year 1) 48
Figure 4.1 Breakdown of total (Gg N year <sup>-1</sup> ) and per capita (kg N capita <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ) $N_r$ emissions,
nationally (a and b, respectively) and by province (c and d, respectively), between 1990 and
2017
Figure 4.2 Summary and comparison of Nr species from agricultural sources (left side) with
those from fossil fuel combustion (right side) nationally (a, b) and for each province (c, d) from
1990 to 2017

Figure 4.3 Classification of relative subsector and Nr species contributions as a percentage of
total Nr emissions in each province and nationally between 1990 and 2017
Figure 4.4 Changes in provincial $N_r$ emissions compared to changes in (a) GDP (in billion
\$CAD, current dollars), (b) population, and (c) GDP per capita (thousand \$CAD) between 1990-
2017
Figure 5.1 The network of nutrient-related Acts across Canada
Figure 5.2 Phosphorus (left side, a and c) and nitrogen (right side, b and d) related policies across
Canada depicted as network graphs
Figure 5.3 Flow chart depicting process of Act selection and screening for the semantic network
analysis in this study110
Figure 6.1 A comparison of different accounting perspectives

# List of Tables

Table 3-1: Overview of N flow methodologies and data sources for the N footprint model in this
study
Table 3-2 Per capita fossil fuel emissions from three methodologies, nationally and for two
major oil and gas dependent provinces, Alberta, and Saskatchewan
Table 4-1 Categories of Nr species included in the emission synthesis by source sector and
subsector
Table 4-2 Decomposition of changes in overall $N_r$ emissions between 1990 and 2017 across
Canada and the provinces of Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Ontario
Table 4-3 Decomposition of sectoral changes in Nr emissions from two NAICS economic
sectors, agriculture and oil & gas, between 1990 and 2017 across Canada and the provinces of
Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Ontario
Table 5-1. List of topics identified by a Leiden clustering analysis of Canadian nutrient-related
legislation (using a clustering resolution of 1.35) 100
Table 5-2 Top five hub and bridge acts in the Canadian nutrient network as measured by their
closeness and Burt's constraint scores respectively
Table 6-1 Comparison of total and per capita Nr emissions using an N footprint approach
compared to a synthesis of national and provincial emissions inventories

### Acknowledgements

There are many people I would like to thank for their support during my PhD. First and foremost, I need to thank my supervisor Graham MacDonald, who provided me with guidance and feedback at every stage of my research. He is a generous mentor, passionate and thoughtful about his student's research. His encouragement sharpened my critical thinking and led me to try new techniques and analysis. I am grateful to my committee members Elena Bennett and Kevin Manaugh, and especially to Jim Galloway for sharing his extensive knowledge about the nitrogen cycle. I also appreciate Alley Leach's and David Kanter's discussions on nitrogen footprints and nitrogen policy.

I am grateful for the support I received from Department of Geography, both from admin, staff, and other students. In particular I want to thank Kerstin and Heloisa and the students in the Land and Water Lab for their moral support, snacks, and coffee discussions we had. I also thank Cat and Emmett for our weekly virtual get-togethers during the lockdown. They (and our BTS/ATEEZ music obsession) kept my spirits up!

Finally, I need to thank my family: my parents George and Maureen, my brother Liam, my partner Peter, and my cat Hansel, for putting up with and supporting me during the tougher parts of my research and celebrating with me after my successes.

xii

## **Contribution of authors**

This thesis includes three manuscripts that are either published at or submitted to a journal. These manuscripts were written with co-authors, whose contributions are as follows.

Manuscript 1 (Chapter 3): "*Provincial nitrogen footprints highlight variability in drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions in Canada*" by Sibeal McCourt and Graham MacDonald. Sibeal McCourt led the conceptualization, N footprint model development, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Graham MacDonald contributed feedback throughout the conceptualization and analysis stages and reviewed and commented on the manuscript. Chapter 3 is published in *Environmental Research Letters* can be found at:

McCourt, S., & MacDonald, G. K. (2021). Provincial nitrogen footprints highlight variability in drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions in Canada. *Environmental Research Letters*, *16*(9), 095007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac1e3b

Manuscript 2 (Chapter 4): "*Decomposing three decades of nitrogen emissions in Canada*" by Sibeal McCourt and Graham MacDonald. Sibeal McCourt led the conceptualization, data collection, data analysis, and writing. Graham MacDonald contributed feedback throughout the conceptualization and analysis stages and provided detailed feedback on the manuscript. Chapter 4 is published in *Future Earth* and can be found at:

McCourt, S., & MacDonald, G. K. (2022). Decomposing three decades of nitrogen emissions in Canada. *Earth's Future*, e2022EF002774.

Manuscript 3 (Chapter 5): "*Identifying leverage points for sustainable nutrient policy integration in Canada*" by Sibeal McCourt, David Kanter, and Graham MacDonald. Sibeal McCourt led the conceptualization, data collection, analysis, and writing. David Kanter and Graham MacDonald contributed feedback throughout the conceptualization and analysis stages and provided feedback on the manuscript. Chapter 5 will be submitted to a journal in 2023. It has been formatted according to requirements for the journal *Nature Sustainability*.

#### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

# **1.1 Research Context**

Excess reactive nitrogen (Nr, commonly defined<sup>1</sup> as any form of nitrogen other than the gaseous  $N_2$  that makes up most of our atmosphere; Galloway et al., 2002) in the environment is resulting in serious negative consequences, including climate change, impacts to human health, biodiversity, and environmental quality (Galloway et al., 2003; Lade et al., 2020). The global N biogeochemical cycle has been massively disrupted. The planetary boundary for nitrogen, the amount of new Nr that can be 'safely' added to the environment without creating major disturbance, is estimated to be 57 Tg yr<sup>-1</sup>. Anthropogenic sources currently contribute a surplus of 119 Tg N yr<sup>-1</sup>, far above this proposed limit (Schulte-Uebbing et al., 2022). Reducing excess Nr is complex problem for several reasons (Morseletto, 2019). Not only is Nr released from multiple sources (e.g., inefficient fertilizer use, fossil fuel combustion, wastewater), some of which are non-point source and difficult to regulate, it is also highly mobile in the environment (Galloway et al., 2003). Additionally, there is the competing goal of needing to increase the amount of Nr available in our food system in order to feed the global population as it continues to grow both in numbers and in wealth (Bodirsky et al., 2014; Springmann et al., 2018; Tilman et al., 2011).

To balance future increases in  $N_r$  demands, while mitigating negative effects of  $N_r$ , there is a need to quantify the pressures and drivers of  $N_r$  emissions to identify potential areas for intervention (Houlton et al., 2019b; Kanter, Del Grosso, et al., 2020; Malik et al., 2022). At the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the purposes of this thesis, which focuses on human dimensions of the nitrogen cycle, my use of  $N_r$  generally encompasses NH<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub>, NO<sup>-</sup><sub>3</sub>, NO<sup>-</sup><sub>2</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O unless otherwise specified.

global scale, previous studies have identified population growth, affluence, meat consumption, and international food trade as important drivers of Nr emissions (e.g., Lassaletta, et al., 2014; Malik et al., 2022; Oita et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2022). However, there are important gaps in our knowledge of drivers of Nr emissions. Many studies on the drivers of Nr emissions are consumption-oriented 'footprint' approaches (indicators that quantify consumers' pressure on the environment through resource use and emissions) (Vanham et al., 2019), and most are at the national level and report their findings as a national per capita average. Furthermore, the footprints often aggregate multiple  $N_r$  species to total N (e.g., Dhar et al., 2022; Leach et al., 2012; Oita et al., 2016; Shibata et al., 2014). This may obscure important details in drivers of N footprints, especially in large countries, and therefore potential strategies to reduce Nr pollution. Additionally, we have a limited understanding of the impact of a range of other socio-economic factors on Nr emissions (Malik et al., 2022). Finally, effective Nr management needs policy integration, including with other nutrients, such as phosphorus. Where it exists, nutrient policy is characterized by limited co-ordination and partial coverage of sources and impacts. A better understanding of the nutrient policy landscape could enable more effective policy through better policy integration (Kanter, Chodos, et al., 2020; Morseletto, 2019; A. L. Yang et al., 2022).

My thesis addresses the research gaps identified above, using Canada as a case study. Canada provides an illustrative example to undertake assessments of drivers of  $N_r$  emissions and nutrient policy. There has been relatively limited research into the drivers of  $N_r$  emissions in Canada—a large socioeconomically and geographically diverse country. In this thesis I therefore use Canada to inform new aspects of research into drivers of  $N_r$  emissions, drawing on an interdisciplinary approach that includes model development, synthesis of trends over varying spatial and temporal scales, multiple accounting perspectives, as well as policy analysis. My findings provide insight

into substantial spatio-temporal variation in drivers and policy in Canada, which could also be informative to studies on  $N_r$  emissions and nutrient policy in other regions.

# **1.2 Research Question/Objectives**

This dissertation responds to gaps in understanding drivers of Nr emissions outlined above. The guiding research questions for this thesis are:

- (1) How do consumption-oriented Nr drivers vary with different regional geographic contexts across a large country?
- (2) What is the role of changing economic structure in whole-economy Nr emissions?
- (3) What opportunities do nutrient-related legislation provide to support innovative nutrient policy integration?

Accordingly, my specific research objectives pertaining to my focus on Canada are to:

(a) Develop a nitrogen footprint model for Canada that reflects subnational variation in production and consumption contexts between provinces;

 (a) Examine the change in drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions in Canada over time through decomposition analysis, reflecting the important socio-economic differences between provinces; and,

(a) Examine the nutrient legislation environment in Canada using a semantic network analysis to identify potential for novel nutrient policy integration.

## 1.3 Thesis Structure

This thesis comprises seven chapters, including this introductory chapter. Figure 1.1 shows the outline of my dissertation, how the chapters confront the three overarching gaps in Nr accounting research outlined above, and how the chapters relate to each other. Chapter 2 is a literature review on nitrogen emission research and the methodological approaches I draw on, beginning with on overview of several Nr accounting studies, then examining research into socio-economic drivers of Nr emissions and supply chain accounting perspectives followed by a summary of policy integration concepts and major Nr policy developments. I conclude chapter 2 with a summary of nitrogen related research in Canada. The main body of this thesis is comprised of my three manuscript chapters, which have been published in, or will be submitted to, peerreviewed journals. The first manuscript, Chapter 3, presents the development of a new N footprint model for Canada, and examines how results vary between provinces in relation to their diverse geographic and socio-economic contexts. Chapter 4 examines trends in Nr emissions across Canada over time, synthesizing data from a variety of sources. In chapter 4, I also perform, what is to my knowledge, the first whole-economy index decomposition analysis of Nr emissions. The final manuscript, Chapter 5, applies semantic network analysis to examine the nutrient regulation environment in Canada, applying a novel methodology to identify potential for nutrient policy integration. The discussion section of the dissertation, Chapter 6, synthesizes my findings from the three analyses presented in the manuscript chapters. I summarize the overarching geographic and provincial Nr trends identified throughout this dissertation then compare and contrast the drivers identified by using different accounting methods described in Chapters 1 and 2. Finally, my conclusions (presented in Chapter 7) summarizes the main results of this dissertation and discusses potential implications for future research.



Figure 1.1 Thesis Outline including the relationship among the three manuscript (analysis) chapters.

## **Chapter 2 Literature Review**

In this chapter, I summarize the existing literature relevant to this thesis. I begin with an overview of our understanding of the global nitrogen problem, the negative impacts of excess N in the environment, and the scale of the issue. I review major concepts such as nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) and summarize large-scale N budget assessments to highlight areas that have been recognized as crucial sources and flows of Nr. With this starting point, I then discuss different methodological and conceptual N accounting approaches that can be used to identify underlying drivers of these Nr emissions. Given that the term "driver" is broad and used in diverse contexts in literature on Nr emissions (Malik et al., 2022), for this literature review I organize the discussion on drivers into 3 broad categories: *supply-chain drivers* (consumer vs producer), *socio-economic factors* (population, affluence, diet, etc.), and *structural influences* (policies, educational programs, financial incentives, etc.). Finally, I discuss the Canadian context as it pertains to each section and demonstrate why Canada is an excellent case study to examine the knowledge gaps I have identified.

## 2.1 The nitrogen problem

Nitrogen is one of the major building blocks of life. It is a key component of nucleic acids and proteins in every living creature. Yet, even though nitrogen gas (N<sub>2</sub>) is almost 80% of the Earth's atmosphere, this reservoir of N is not biologically available to most organisms (Galloway, 2014). Breaking the stable N<sub>2</sub> molecule so that N that can be incorporated into proteins is an energy intensive process, and in nature this is mostly accomplished by a few specialized organisms including blue-green algae and some symbiotic bacteria on the roots of leguminous plants (e.g. soybeans and clover) (Galloway & Cowling, 2002, 2021).

In the early 1900's, the Haber-Bosch process was developed to produce ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) by reacting atmospheric  $N_2$  with hydrogen at high temperature and pressure using iron as a catalyst. NH<sub>3</sub> is a biologically available form of reactive nitrogen (N<sub>r</sub>), any kind of nitrogen other than N<sub>2</sub>, and so the Haber-Bosch process allowed for the creation of synthetic fertilizers at an industrial scale. This in turn dramatically increased agricultural productivity across most of the world, and synthetic fertilizers were estimated to produce the additional calories needed to feed ~40% of the world's population by the 2000s (Erisman et al., 2008).

Through increased synthetic fertilizer use, expanding cultivation of N-fixing crops, and burning fossil fuels ( $N_r$  is released to the atmosphere both through oxidizing atmospheric  $N_2$  during combustion and by releasing N contained in fossil fuels), each year more and more  $N_r$  is being created through anthropogenic sources. In the 1990's, it was estimated that ~140 Tg N<sub>r</sub> was created by human activities (Vitousek et al., 1997). In 2010, N<sub>r</sub> created through anthropogenic activities was estimated to be ~210 Tg N<sub>r</sub> (Fowler et al., 2013), and by 2020, the estimate had risen to ~240 Tg (Galloway & Cowling, 2021)—nearly doubling the amount of N<sub>r</sub> created through natural ecosystems.

While increased  $N_r$  has been beneficial for improving agricultural productivity, excess  $N_r$  is now accumulating in the environment, and can have multiple negative consequences to the environment and human health. NH<sub>3</sub> and nitrous oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) emissions to the atmosphere can cause induce serious respiratory illness, cancer, and cardiac disease in humans, and when mixed with water can cause acidification and loss of biodiversity. Ammonia and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) in water can lead to eutrophication, groundwater contamination, hypoxia, and habitat degradation and is a significant issue in many coastal areas. Nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) is a greenhouse gas and contributes to ozone depletion. With seven oxidative states, numerous environmental pathways for transport and conversion between species, a single molecule of  $N_r$  can create multiple impacts in sequence as it moves through the environment, a process referred to as the 'nitrogen cascade' (Galloway et al., 2003, 2004)

The magnitude of the addition of  $N_r$  to the environment has resulted in grave concern as to the state of the global N biogeochemical cycle. It has been posited that the planetary boundary for nitrogen (the amount of  $N_r$  which can safely be added to the environment in a 'safe operating space before Earth systems may fundamentally change and put humanity is at risk) has been exceeded, although due to the complex nature of the N biogeochemical cycle and other earth system processes it is still under debate as to by how much (de Vries et al., 2013; Lade et al., 2020; Steffen et al., 2015).

#### 2.2 Nitrogen accounting and indicators

There is increasing scientific and political interest in managing the nitrogen problem. Controlling and reducing emissions requires that they be measured and accounted for. Tracking anthropogenic nitrogen through the environment is a challenge, however estimating N budgets, (quantifying stores and flows of N), is a critical first step to identifying where N<sub>r</sub> losses to the environment could be reduced and to track progress towards different environmental goals (Galloway et al., 2004; Sutton et al., 2021).

There have been several global assessments (e.g. Fowler et al., 2013; Galloway et al., 2004), as well as an increasing number of national N budgets (e.g. for the United States (Sabo et al., 2019), Germany (Häußermann et al., 2021), Denmark (Hutchings et al., 2014), China (Cui et al., 2013) and Japan (Hayashi et al., 2021)) published in the last decade. Creation of NH<sub>3</sub> for fertilizer application and cultivation-induced biological N fixation (CBNF) are the main sources of new N<sub>r</sub> globally and are increasing across most of the world. But, depending on the study area, fossil fuel combustion for transport and energy generation are also important sources of  $N_r$  emissions to the environment, although this source of  $N_r$  is decreasing in many areas (Galloway et al., 2021). Agricultural N budgets at the national level (e.g. the United States (J. Zhang et al., 2021), France (Le Noë et al., 2017)) and global level (Lassaletta et al., 2016; X. Zhang, 2021) show large losses of  $N_r$  through leaching and volatilization.

A complementary indicator to estimating N budgets is nitrogen use efficiency (NUE). NUE indicates whether N<sub>r</sub> is being used effectively: enhancing agricultural productivity and minimizing losses of N<sub>r</sub> to the environment. NUE can be defined and quantified in several ways, and with different purposes across scales (from crop field to country). One of the more common definitions is to use crop production and the ratio of N taken up in crop yields over the amount of total N inputs applied to soils (Lassaletta, Billen, Grizzetti, Anglade, et al., 2014). It is currently estimated that the global NUE of crop production is less than 50% (X. Zhang et al., 2015). However, we can also assess the NUE of crop and livestock systems (Hutchings et al., 2020), whole food systems (Erisman et al., 2018) or entire economies (Sutton et al., 2013). When assessing NUE across the whole food system we include the entire chain of producers, collectors, processors, distributors, retailers, and consumers (see Figure 2.1). Therefore NUE for the whole food system is the ratio of N<sub>r</sub> available for food consumption to the new N<sub>r</sub> used to produce that food (Erisman et al., 2018). NUE for an entire economy adds N<sub>r</sub> creation from energy use and transport, so whole-economy NUE is the amount of N<sub>r</sub> consumed over all anthropogenic N<sub>r</sub> emissions. Globally, whole-economy NUE is currently estimated to be at ~8% (Sutton et al., 2013).



*Figure 2.1 The major components of food system NUE in a national food system Figure from Erisman et al. (2018).* 

# 2.3 Drivers of Nr emissions

While there has been some success in reducing fossil fuel-related N<sub>r</sub> emissions through legislation and a general trend towards more renewable source of energy in some regions, there has often been less success in regards to agricultural N<sub>r</sub> emissions. Competing goals to produce more food but protect the environment, and the multitude of actors influencing N<sub>r</sub> losses along an increasingly globalized food supply chain, make decreasing agricultural N loss a 'wicked problem' (Galloway & Cowling, 2021; Kanter et al., 2019). There is increasing interest in quantifying underlying drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions in order to identify new pressure points to reduce emissions (Malik et al., 2022). The following sections discuss supply-chain drivers, socio-

economic factors, and structural influences as they relate to N emissions, and highlight some gaps in the literature where additional research is needed.

#### 2.3.1 Supply-chains and N footprints

N budgets and NUE indicators, while useful in identifying major flows of  $N_r$  inputs and outputs do not explicitly focus on how mitigation responsibility could be assigned. Accounting for emissions is the first step towards allocating reduction responsibility. Accordingly, three major principles for allocating reduction responsibility along a supply-chain have been described in the literature: producer, consumer and shared responsibility (Lenzen & Murray, 2010).

In the past ten years there has been a surge of interest in examining the role of consumers as an alternative to solely focusing on producers as drivers of N emissions. Consumption-oriented accounting, or 'N footprints' account for all upstream losses of N<sub>r</sub> due to the consumption of a good or service. Footprint analysis has parallels to Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) and both are based on 'life cycle' thinking, however, they differ in their aim and system boundaries. Footprints are concerned with environmental 'pressures' (resource use or emissions) whereas LCA is impact oriented (Einarsson & Cederberg, 2019; Vanham et al., 2019). The footprint concept has been widely used since the term was originally coined (as the Ecological Footprint) in 1996 by Rees & Wackernagel. Footprints have been used in relation to carbon, water, and land usage (Vanham et al., 2019). The popularity of footprints as an accounting tool is due, in part, to the fact that footprints can give policymakers and scientists a goal to work towards. For example, footprints converge well with the concept of planetary boundaries. (e.g. with the planetary boundary for N of 62 Tg yr<sup>-1</sup> that translates to a N footprint goal of ~8 kg person<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (Vanham et al., 2019)).

The first N-specific footprint model (the N-Print model) was developed by Leach et al. (2012). The N-print model uses estimates of Virtual Nitrogen Factors (VNFs) to calculate N footprints. "Virtual" nitrogen is the amount of nitrogen that is released to environment during the production and consumption of a good, for every unit of the good. Alternatively, VNF is sometimes defined as the ratio of nitrogen released during production and consumption of a good compared to the Nr contained in the item itself (Galloway et al., 2007). The N-print model uses a hybrid top-down and bottom-up approach to estimate an entity's N-footprint, combining data on individual food and energy consumption with national statistics on total energy production.

N footprints have been estimated for several countries. The N-Print model has been used to estimate the average N footprint for the United States and the Netherlands (Leach et al., 2012), Japan (Shibata et al., 2014), the United Kingdom (Stevens et al., 2014), Austria (Pierer, Winiwarter, Leach, & Galloway, 2014), Australia (Liang et al., 2016), Tanzania (Hutton et al., 2017), Egypt (Elrys et al., 2019), and Thailand (Mungcharoen & Suwanmanee, 2021). Other methods have been used to estimate N footprints for China (Gu et al., 2013) and Japan (Shindo & Yanagawa, 2017), and a multi-regional input-output model (MRIO) was used in global study of all nations (Oita et al., 2016). Partial food-system N footprints have been estimated for the European Union (Leip et al., 2014), China, India, Japan (Dhar et al., 2022; Oita et al., 2020; Shindo et al., 2020), Germany (Klement et al., 2021), Rwanada (Harerimana et al., 2021), and Sweden (Einarsson et al., 2022). There have also been adapted N-print studies performed at smaller scales, such as the city (Dukes et al., 2020; Xian et al., 2022) or institution (MacDonald et al., 2020; Martinez et al., 2019). Most of these studies identify meat consumption, in particular beef, and consumption of energy created through coal burning as important drivers of Nr emissions.

National-level N footprint studies typically report their findings as national totals and per capita averages (e.g., kg N capita<sup>-1</sup>). This may mask important subnational differences in per capita footprints, especially in large countries with substantial spatial variability in socio-environmental conditions, such as Canada (Godar et al., 2015). Detailed VNFs are also currently unavailable for many countries, and many of the above-mentioned studies have used VNFs developed by Leach et al. (2012) for the U.S. as proxies. Estimating additional national and sub-national VNFs will therefore enable improved accounting of international N footprints.

#### 2.3.2 Other socio-economic drivers

Other than N footprints, there has been relatively limited research into socio-economic drivers behind N<sub>r</sub> emissions (Malik et al., 2022). There are a wide range of other important socioeconomic drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions that are not elucidated upon by N footprints including, for example, improvements in technology, or changes in economic structure. One method frequently used to measure the association between changes in socio-economic indicators and environmental measurements is decomposition analysis. First used in the 1970's as a way to study the impact of changes in production on industrial energy demand, decomposition analysis began as straightforward formulae that computed a hypothetical aggregate energy intensity (energy consumption over production) for a target year if sectoral energy intensities for all industries remained unchanged from a base year (Ang & Zhang, 2000). The difference between the hypothetical energy intensity in the target year and the observed energy intensity in the base year can be defined as the impact of structural change. The difference between the hypothetical and observed energy intensity in the target year can be defined as the impact associated with changes in sectoral energy intensity (Ang & Zhang, 2000).

Several more mathematically complex decomposition methods have been proposed over the years, and can be broadly broken down into either structural decomposition analyses (SDA, which use input–output models and data as a basis for decomposition) or index decomposition analyses (IDA, which use aggregate sector information) (de Boer & Rodrigues, 2020; Hoekstra, 2003). Both types of decomposition analysis are widely used as a research tool to study drivers of change in an array of research areas, and are popular in energy and environmental analysis (Ang, 2004; Ang & Zhang, 2000).

Several country-level assessments have been undertaken using decomposition analysis to examine pressures behind changes in  $N_r$  emissions over time, however they often focus on only one species of  $N_r$  or only one economic sector. For example, an IDA study of the EU found that growth in GDP per capita increased NO<sub>x</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub> emissions up to a certain point and then decoupled (following the Environmental Kuznets Curve hypothesis), and increasing energy consumption increased NO<sub>x</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub> emissions (Hnatyshyn, 2018). Another study using IDA to examine non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture in India showed that there were large increases in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions over the study period, which positively correlated with growth in fertilizer intensity (fertilizer use per unit of land), affluence and population. On the other hand the study found that relative contribution of agriculture to national GDP, and improved agricultural output per unit of fertilizer use or unit of cultivated land kept emissions lower than they otherwise might have been (Some et al., 2019).

However, due to the complexity and mobility of  $N_r$  in the environment, for  $N_r$  management to be effective it is often beneficial to take a "Total  $N_r$  Approach" which accounts for all species of  $N_r$  (Galloway & Cowling, 2002). I am aware of only two published studies that use decomposition

analysis to examine changes in total  $N_r$  emissions of an economy. One of the studies examined drivers of national-scale  $N_r$  emissions in Denmark using SDA and identified rising exports and technological change as key factors driving national  $N_r$  emissions (Wier & Hasler, 1999). The second was a global scale analysis, which also used SDA, and found that combined pressure from increasing affluence, population growth, and changes in final demand outpaced any emission reductions driven by improvements in NUE (Malik et al., 2022). Comprehensive new whole-economy  $N_r$  decomposition studies can provide additional insight into drivers of overall  $N_r$  emissions.

# 2.3.3 N<sub>r</sub> policy integration and institutional drivers

Understanding supply chain and socioeconomic drivers of  $N_r$  emissions is important in encouraging more efficient  $N_r$  use. But scientists and policy makers must also take into account the institutional and structural environment that influences actors (educational programs, financial incentives, and regulations, etc.). New and innovative measures are needed to address  $N_r$  pollution, and nutrient pollution in general.

There are benefits to addressing the management of phosphorus and nitrogen together. Both nutrients derive overwhelmingly from agricultural sources. This means that measures to reduce pollution of one nutrient can reduce the other. Additionally, one of the main environmental impacts of N<sub>r</sub>, eutrophication, is a function of the interaction between nitrogen and phosphorus pollution, so in some cases an individual approach focused on a single nutrient may not resolve the underlying problem (Houlton et al., 2019a; Kanter & Brownlie, 2019; Metson et al., 2020).

Despite its social and environmental relevance, nutrient pollution still lacks coordinated global (and sometimes regional) governance (Garske & Ekardt, 2021; Sutton et al., 2021). This reflects the existing policy landscape, in which strategies often address disparate sources (industry,

transport, agriculture, waste, etc.). But nutrient management is also considered a 'wicked problem', especially in regards to agriculture, a sector with multiple diverse actors, and where there are conflicting goals to protect the environment while producing more food (DeFries & Nagendra, 2017; Galloway et al., 2021).

Traditionally, agricultural nutrient reduction policies have focused on farm management, with mixed results (Lintern et al., 2020). This may, in part, be because farmers face a range of economic and policy pressures from the whole food supply chain, which may incline them towards less stringent nutrient management strategies (e.g., production contracts may restrict farmers' ability to adopt alternative production practices) (Hendrickson & James, 2005; Sheriff, 2005). Expanding policy, sectoral, and supply-chain boundaries have the potential to better address these indirect forces affecting N<sub>r</sub> emissions and highlight policy interventions that have yet to be explored in relation to nutrient management. This could include anything from educating consumer to change their consumption patterns, to focusing on 'cluster points' in the food supply chain network where limited actors play a decisive role (e.g., supermarkets, fertilizer suppliers, etc.) (Galloway & Cowling, 2021; Kanter et al., 2019).

Incorporating nutrient reduction and management goals into policy and economic sectors not traditionally focused on nutrient management is a form of 'policy integration'. Policy integration is a proposed solution to the problem of traditional specialised policy measures not adequately addressing issues that transcend the boundaries of established institutional and political responsibilities. Policy integration attempts to ensure that there is consistency in addressing an issue across a variety of policy sectors and government agencies (Meijers & Stead, 2004). The concepts of "Health in All Policies" and "Environmental Mainstreaming" are examples of policy integration where policymakers have aimed to create interdependency and coherency between

different policy domains (Tosun & Lang, 2017). While nutrient policy integration is a comparatively new scholarly discussion it is seen as way to potentially achieve multiple nutrient management objectives simultaneously, reduce policy transaction costs, and increasing the likelihood that governments' nutrient goals are met (Persson & Runhaar, 2018; A. L. Yang et al., 2022). I therefore apply this theme in my policy analysis in this thesis (chapter 5).

Understanding the landscape of existing policies is the first step in discussing new avenues for nutrient policy integration. Exploring the specific effects of nutrient policies has so far been beyond the scope of most nutrient accounting assessments and nutrient budget studies to date (Kanter, Chodos, et al., 2020; Kanter et al., 2019). Two recent studies have helped to establish a baseline for evaluating existing N policies, one which assessed national and regional N-related environmental legislation using the ECOLEX (www.ecolex.org) database (Kanter, Chodos, et al., 2020) and one which focused on South Asia which collected a broader range of policies beyond legislation (A. L. Yang et al., 2022). Both studies found a lack of integration across sectors and environmental concerns. While this is an important step in assessing nutrient policies, neither of these studies aimed to examine connections between existing policies, nor did they include phosphorus. In this thesis, I therefore turn my attention to this gap and the context of Canada.

Assessing connections between policies is time consuming and labour intensive, requiring researchers to read through large quantities of texts. With advances in natural language and text processing we can now speed up the process of identifying connections between documents. One such method that I explore in this thesis for its potential to provide insights into policy connections is semantic network analysis (sometimes referred to as text network analysis). Semantic network analysis is a combination of qualitative semantic analysis based on human

interpretation of meaning, and quantitative network analysis which uses algorithms to calculate metrics of a given network (hubs, clusters, etc.). This approach has the benefit of fast automated processing of large amounts of text data (which a person cannot easily do) and meaning exploration (which a computer cannot easily do). In other words, the network analysis provides structural insights which may then be used as a starting point for more detailed exploration (Drieger, 2013; Paranyushkin, 2011).

In semantic network analysis, a network is created where texts are 'nodes' linked by 'edges' which are common words shared between texts. This approach is particularly useful in exploring integration in complex policy environments as it can identify 'communities', or common topics of similar texts, when there are more relations between texts within the communities than between communities (Newman, 2006). Perhaps more interestingly, semantic network analysis enables the identification of texts that are acting as 'bridges' creating unique connections in the network, and 'hubs' that are particularly strongly connected within the policy network (Burt, 2004; Drieger, 2013).

Semantic networks have been used extensively in research across multiple disciplines, especially in analysis of political discourse and social media (e.g., Bail, 2016; Kang et al., 2017; Radicioni et al., 2021; Shim et al., 2015). Some work has been done on environmental policy links (Bayarsaikhan et al., 2022) and measuring interactions between the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG's) (Fariña García et al., 2021; Weitz et al., 2018), however, to my knowledge, semantic network analysis has not yet been applied to examine networks of nutrient policies.

# 2.4 The Canadian context

In this literature review I have identified three gaps in our understanding of drivers of N emissions: subnational variation in N footprints, socio-economic drivers of whole-economy  $N_r$ emissions, and assessing integration potential in existing N policies. Canada provides an illustrative case study to examine these three facets of  $N_r$  accounting because it is a large, geographically, and economically diverse country allowing for a comparison of varied drivers at the subnational level. Figure 2.2 shows an example of this geographic diversity from a biophysical perspective using Ecozones, areas characterized by distinctions in climate, physiography, soil, vegetation, and fauna (Wiken et al., 1996). The following section provides a summary of N accounting research in Canada especially as it pertains to the three identified research gaps.



Figure 2.2 An example of Canadian geographic heterogeneity shown by the terrestrial ecozones across the 10 Canadian provinces (British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island and Newfoundland and Labrador) and the 3 territories (Yukon, Northwest Territories and Nunavut). Figure from Natural Resources Canada (2013).

I am aware of two major national N budgets studies conducted in Canada to date. The first estimated major N flows and stores across Canadian urban areas, forests, water bodies and agricultural zones in 2007 (Clair et al., 2014). The second estimated changes in agroecosystem N between 1996 and 2016 (Karimi et al., 2020). Clair et al. showed that major anthropogenic sources of N<sub>r</sub> emissions to the environment included NO<sub>x</sub> from transport, and NH<sub>3</sub> and runoff from agriculture. Canada was also a major exporter of N<sub>r</sub> in through food, hydrocarbons and fertilizer (Clair et al., 2014). Karimi et al. (2020) estimated crop NUE in Canada to be ~51% and agroecosystem NUE (crop and livestock N<sub>r</sub> harvested / N<sub>r</sub> inputs) to be ~60%, both in 2016. While NUE improved between 1990 and 2016, due to higher total N<sub>r</sub> inputs the total N<sub>r</sub> potentially lost to the environment through Canadian agriculture also increased during this time (Karimi et al., 2020).

The Government of Canada also has several pollution inventories and models that track estimates of various N<sub>r</sub> emissions across Canada at a provincial (or finer) spatial scale. The Residual Soil Nitrogen (RSN) and Indictor Risk of Water contaminant – Nitrogen (IROWCN) models estimate N inputs, outputs, and leaching losses from agricultural land in Canada at the Soil Landscape of Canada scale (De Jong et al., 2009; Drury et al., 2007), the Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory (APEI) tracks NO<sub>x</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub> emissions (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021b), and the Greenhouse Gas Inventory reports on N<sub>2</sub>O (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a). These inventories often reflect trends in individual species of N<sub>r</sub> across provinces, following geographic patterns in agriculture and industry, as well as biophysical conditions including climate (Figure 2.2). For example, the majority of beef cattle, wheat, barley and canola production in Canada occurs in the Prairie provinces (Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba), while most dairy, swine, poultry, corn and soybean are produced in eastern Canada (primarily in Ontario and Quebec). So, while the RSN show pockets of high (and increasing) soil N on a lot of agricultural land across Canada, this translates to higher NH<sub>3</sub> emissions in Alberta and Saskatchewan because of their dry prairie climate (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2020a) whereas the risk of N leaching is much higher in Quebec due to wetter soil conditions (De Jong et al., 2009; Drury et al., 2007; J. Y. Yang et al., 2014). N<sub>2</sub>O from manure management and agricultural soils is also highest in provinces with strong livestock and agriculture sectors (Alberta, Saskatchewan, Ontario and Quebec) (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a, 2021b).

However, while there are individual inventories for Nr emissions across Canada, there has been no holistic assessment into the drivers behind increases or decreases in those emissions. For example, no N footprint has been estimated for Canada, but there has been some work done to link N emissions to consumption demand. Sheppard & Bittman (2015) estimated national agricultural NH<sub>3</sub> emissions linked to per person domestic consumption of food and to agricultural exports from Canada between 1981 and 2006. They found that shifts in the Canadian diet, with more protein being consumed but with less protein coming from beef, resulted in per person diet related NH<sub>3</sub> emission decreasing 20%. However, because the Canadian population increased and meat and egg exports increased, total national NH<sub>3</sub> emissions increased over the study period. They hypothesized that the effect of increased consumption and exports would exceed any decrease in emissions from improved best management practices at the producer level (Sheppard & Bittman, 2015). There has also been one Canadian study to date that used decomposition analysis to examine changes in energy use and greenhouse gases in the industrial sector (including N<sub>2</sub>O), which showed that increased output was the biggest contributor to increases in industrial GHG emissions (Talaei et al., 2020).
In terms of the state of nitrogen policy in Canada, or nutrient policy in general, there have been attempts to create nutrient-focused legislation that directly addresses nutrient management (e.g. the Nutrient Management Act passed in Ontario in 2002). However, I located no published overviews of Canadian nutrient policies, although 74 nitrogen-related policies from Canada were identified in the global overview by Kanter et al. (2019).

# 2.5 Literature Review Conclusions

In this literature review I have highlighted the complexity of the nitrogen biogeochemical cycle and the intricacy of the anthropogenic drivers that are causing negative environmental outcomes. I identify two major gaps in our understanding of socioeconomic drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions: the role of geographic variation in N footprints, and assessments of whole-economy N<sub>r</sub> emissions. My review also highlights the fact that the N<sub>r</sub> policy landscape is generally poorly understood. Better understanding these three areas will improve our ability to suggest N<sub>r</sub> pollution reduction strategies. Furthermore, my review shows the importance of addressing these knowledge gaps in a holistic manner: accounting for multiple types of N<sub>r</sub> emissions from different sources and impacting different concerns. Finally, I reviewed some key examples of large-scale (provincial and national) N research in Canada and demonstrated why it is a strong case study to use to examine these three gaps in the nitrogen research more broadly.

Therefore, my thesis aims to address these gaps by: 1) developing a new national N footprint model for Canada that takes into account subnational variation in consumption-oriented drivers, 2) synthesizing multiple sources and types of  $N_r$  emissions across Canada and decomposing the effect of socioeconomic drivers, and 3) assessing the nutrient policy landscape in Canada using semantic network analysis. All three approaches aim to show how drivers vary geographically and temporally and identify options for innovative interventions to reduce  $N_r$  pollution.

## **Preface to Chapter 3**

Chapter 3 addresses my first research question regarding how consumption-oriented Nr drivers vary with sub-national geographic setting, with a focus on the Canadian context. As outlined in my literature review, better understanding the consumption-oriented drivers of Nr emissions is important for management of Nr emissions, and there has been increasing interest in estimating N footprints to highlight consumers' role in driving Nr emissions. However, current footprints are often calculated as a national average, which can obscure important local/regional variations. Estimating sub-national footprints is especially crucial to reflect the socioeconomic and geographic variation in a country as large as Canada, where variability between provinces could provide insight into potential strategies and interventions to reduce Nr emissions. Estimating additional national and sub-national virtual nitrogen factors (VNFs) for food production can also enable improved accounting of international N footprints, especially for countries that import goods from Canada.

Chapter 3 presents the development of a new nitrogen footprint model for Canada that incorporates provincial differences in consumption, food production, and wastewater treatment. I show that provincial total per capita N footprints vary widely, with most variation across provinces occurring because of differences in energy sources and industry related to fossil fuel combustion. This analysis also demonstrates the challenges of attributing N<sub>r</sub> emissions in exportoriented economies. It provides novel insights on sub-national drivers of Nr emissions, emphasizing the need to consider how heterogeneous geographic contexts contribute to national N footprints.

This chapter was published in *Environmental Research Letters* in September 2021. The format has been modified to be consistent with the rest of the thesis. All references cited in Chapter 3 appear at the end of the chapter. Due to a journal production issue, some figures appear aesthetically differently than the published versions; I have retained the intended display here.

# Chapter 3 Provincial nitrogen footprints highlight variability in drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions in Canada

#### Abstract

Nitrogen (N) footprints are one method to quantify consumer driven reactive nitrogen  $(N_r)$ emissions. Canada is a highly urbanized yet economically natural resource-dependent country, providing an illustrative case study to examine attribution of Nr emissions to per capita consumption, either domestically or abroad. Yet, considered only at the national scale, N footprints may obscure absolute and relative contributions of local drivers to  $N_r$  emissions. We apply a top-down N footprint approach drawing from national N budgets, emissions inventories, and agricultural statistics to estimate sub-national (provincial) drivers of  $N_r$  emissions across Canada. We calculate per capita provincial N<sub>r</sub> footprints from four primary sectors in 2018: 1) crop production, 2) animal production, 3) wastewater treatment, and 4) fossil fuel burning. We estimate that Canada's total N footprint is 995.7 Gg N<sub>r</sub> year<sup>-1</sup>, which equates to an average per capita footprint nationally of 27.1 kg Nr capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>. The largest national contributions come from a few key (sub)sectors, including transport, beef consumption, and wastewater treatment. Provincial per capita N footprints vary widely, with the largest (Saskatchewan 50.3 kg cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> <sup>1</sup>) more than double the smallest (Ontario 22.0 kg cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>). Most variation across provinces is due to the fossil fuels sector, including emissions from energy generation and the oil and gas industry. We therefore compare our top-down approach for the fossil fuels sector with bottom-up N footprints and territorial emissions methodologies. Per capita N emissions vary considerably across these approaches. For example, Alberta's per-capita fossil fuel Nr emissions are 45.9, 23.0, and 6.3 kg cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> using territorial, top-down, and bottom-up footprint approaches, respectively. This analysis demonstrates the challenges of attributing Nr emission for exportoriented economies. Our study provides novel insights on sub-national drivers of  $N_r$  emissions, emphasizing the need to consider how heterogeneous geographic contexts contribute to national N footprints.

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Increasing the availability of reactive nitrogen (N<sub>r</sub>, any form of nitrogen other than inert N<sub>2</sub>) has been essential in growing enough food for the global population (Smil 1991). However, excess Nr results in negative environmental impacts such as eutrophication, smog, and greenhouse gas emissions. Anthropogenic sources of Nr now outweigh natural flows, with major inputs coming from synthetic fertilizers, increased biological nitrogen fixation, and fossil fuel combustion (Fowler et al 2013, Erisman et al 2008). In Canada there has been a steady increase in NH<sub>3</sub> emissions driven by fertilizer use and animal production (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2021a), agriculture accounts for 78% of national N2O emissions (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2021b), and elevated  $N_r$  concentrations remain a key water quality issue (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2012). While NO<sub>x</sub> emissions are trending downward in Canada, further reductions are needed to reach goals set in the Gothenburg Protocol for transboundary air pollution (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2021a). Accounting tools that enable better quantification of  $N_r$  flows and inventories can inform policy and track the progress of mitigation efforts in order to balance future increases in Nr demands while mitigating negative  $N_r$  effects on society (Galloway and Cowling 2021, Houlton et al 2019).

Nitrogen (N) footprints are one method to quantify and communicate about excess  $N_r$  emissions. N footprints are a consumption-oriented approach that determines an entity's contribution to  $N_r$  release due to activities within a defined boundary such as a country (Leach et al 2012), city (Dukes et al 2020), or institution (MacDonald et al 2020). Leach et al. (Leach et al 2012) developed the first national-scale N footprint model for the United States, the N-calculator, in 2012, and recently updated their N footprint of food production (Leach submitted). A number of national N footprints have been calculated for other countries using adapted versions of this model, including the UK, Australia, Austria, Egypt, Tanzania and Japan (Liang et al 2016, Shibata et al 2014, Stevens et al 2014, Pierer et al 2014, Hutton et al 2017, Elrys et al 2019). Other top-down models have been used to calculate national N footprints for China, the European Union, and Japan (Gu et al 2013, Shindo and Yanagawa 2017, Leip et al 2014), and the N footprint of global trade has also been estimated by using multi-region input-output models (Oita et al 2016). Key drivers identified in these N footprint studies include the disproportionate impacts of the production and consumption of animal products (particularly beef), wastewater treatment, and the use of coal as an energy source (Leach et al 2012, Liang et al 2016, Shibata et al 2014).

Based on the key drivers identified in past studies, N footprints are typically broken down into two main components:  $N_r$  emissions related to food production and consumption (including wastewater) and  $N_r$  emissions related to fossil fuels (including transportation and energy generation) (Liang et al 2016, Shibata et al 2014). To account for  $N_r$  emissions associated with food production, N footprints include 'virtual' (or 'embodied') nitrogen: the total losses of  $N_r$  to the environment resulting from the production of food, but not contained in the consumed product (Galloway et al 2007). Estimating virtual N emissions as part of a food N footprint therefore commonly uses virtual nitrogen factors (VNFs): the ratio of  $N_r$  loss to the environment during the production and processing of a food item, compared to the weight of the final consumed product (kg N kg food<sup>-1</sup>) (Leach et al 2012, Leip et al 2014). Since detailed VNFs are

currently unavailable for many countries, some studies have used VNFs from the U.S. as proxies (Shibata et al 2014, Stevens et al 2014, MacDonald et al 2020). Estimating additional national and sub-national VNFs can therefore enable improved accounting of international food N footprints, for example, due to trade.

Previous country N footprints have typically been reported as national average per capita values. However, N<sub>r</sub> flows and the relative importance of N footprint drivers (energy sources, food production and consumption patterns) can vary substantially across a nation (Liang et al 2018a). A single national average may obscure more local drivers of N footprints and therefore potential strategies to reduce N<sub>r</sub> flows. Focusing on sub-national geographic contexts can highlight the differences in N<sub>r</sub> production and consumption patterns within the same country, and is especially important to consider in large, geographically diverse nations, such as Canada.

Canada is therefore an illuminating case study to examine sub-national variation in both VNFs and the drivers of overall N footprints (Figure 3.1). Canada has a highly urbanized population (>80% urban (2019b) and is the 2<sup>nd</sup> largest country in the world by area, yet one of the least densely populated. Agriculture and fossil fuel production are important economic drivers in Canada but differ in relative contribution to gross domestic product (GDP) by province. For example, the oil and gas industry is 25% of the province of Alberta's GDP, but only 5% of Canada's overall GDP (Statistics Canada 2021h). Similarly, agricultural production is not evenly spread across the country. For example, Saskatchewan produces over 50% (by weight) of several of Canada's major field crops (lentils, Canola, oats and wheat) (Statistics Canada 2021e), while 30% of the Canadian hog population is in Quebec (Statistics Canada 2021c). Canada is a major exporter of many of these agricultural products, but given its northern climate, also relies on imports for several types of foods, including tropical fruit and rice (Statistics Canada 2021a). In

particular, Canada-U.S. food trade is one of the largest trade relationships in the world (MacDonald et al 2015).



Figure 3.1 Overview of the 10 Canadian provinces in terms of population, agricultural and energy characteristics that affect N footprints. Data from the 2016 Canadian Census (Government of Canada 2017), various Statistics Canada surveys and the National Energy Board of Canada (Canada Energy Regulator 2021). \*Farmland is reported in hectares, including pasture and fallow. \*\*Primary crops are listed by relative production (tonnes), excluding tame hay and corn for silage.

Currently, no large-scale N footprint studies have focused on the Canadian context. However, several previous national studies have conducted N accounting: for example, the Residual Soil Nitrogen Indicator (RSN) and Indicator of Risk of Water Contamination by Nitrogen (IROWC-N) models developed by Agriculture and Agri-food Canada (AAFC) include mass-balance agricultural nitrogen budgets to estimate soil N losses from Canadian agriculture in 2001 (Yang et al 2007, De Jong et al 2009). Similarly, Karimi et al (2020) calculated an updated national agricultural N budget for Canada in 2020. A comprehensive Canadian N budget study was also conducted by Clair et al in 2014, which included N flows for both natural and human-dominated ecosystems. In this study we develop an N footprint model to account for N<sub>r</sub> emissions released in Canada due to Canadian consumption and economic activities. We estimate the total (in Gg N<sub>r</sub> year <sup>-1</sup>) and per capita (kg N<sub>r</sub> capita<sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup>) N footprints at the national scale for Canada and separately for each of Canada's 10 provinces for a three-year average around 2018. Our N footprint follows a top-down approach that captures N<sub>r</sub> emissions from a variety of economic activities and sectors, encompassing both individual consumption patterns and broader societal activities. We expected that the nitrogen footprint of each province would vary given different underlying geographies and contexts. The specific objectives of this study are to:

1) estimate domestic virtual nitrogen factors (VNFs) nationally and sub-nationally (provincially) for food produced in Canada as part of the food N footprint;

2) estimate a domestic N footprint comprising four major driver sectors for Canada and its 10 provinces; and

3) compare variation in the drivers across N footprint sectors sub-nationally (by province).

#### **3.2 Methodology**

Our N footprint model accounts for  $N_r$  emissions (N2O, Nox, NH3, NO-3, NO-2, standardized as kg N) related to Canadian consumption, as well as fossil fuel burning associated with domestic economic activities (Table 3-1). Consumption activities include eating food, household utilities, and transportation. Emissions from economic activities that benefit Canadians include the oil and gas industry and manufacturing, although these subsectors may be export-oriented with final

products consumed outside Canada (see section 3.2.5). We divided the N footprints into four driver sectors:  $N_r$  emissions from 1) crop production, 2) animal production, 3) wastewater treatment and 4) burning fossil fuels (Figure 3.2). To account for temporal variation, each N footprint is the average of three years (2017, 2018 and 2019), which are also the most recent years with available data for all relevant sectors. Our model was written in R v.4.0.4 (R Core Team 2021) and all datasets used in this study, as well as related equations and code for the data preparation and analyses, are available online (see Data availability statement).



Figure 3.2 Diagram illustrating the key components of our top-down N footprint model. N footprints were estimated for each province, broken down into  $N_r$  losses due to food production (sector 1 crop production and sector 2 animal production),  $N_r$  losses after food consumption (sector 3 wastewater treatment) and  $N_r$  release from burning fossil fuels (sector 4). For food production, we estimated potential  $N_r$  losses at each step of the food supply chain (field, processing, etc.). To assess uncertainty around the impact of food trade, we performed a sensitivity analysis using different assumptions on origin of food consumed in a province (see Figure 3.6).

Sector	N flows	Methods	Data and assumptions	Source
1 & 2 VNFS	Fertilizer	Fertilizer sales, adjusted by crop recommended fertilizer rates and crop areas	Fertilizer shipments to Canadian agricultural markets Crop areas	Statistics Canada (2020b)
			Provincially recommended fertilizer rates (RSN model)	Statistics Canada (2021e, 2021f, 2021g, 2021d) Yang et al (2007)
	BNF	Crop area x crop BNF rate	Crop area and production Canadian BNF rates	Statistics Canada (2021e) Karimi et al (2020)
	N content harvested crops	Crop production x N content of crop	Crop production N content of crops	Statistics Canada (2021e, 2021f, 2021g, 2021d) Karimi et al (2020)
	N content livestock feed	Animal population x feed composition and rates x N content of feed	Livestock populations Provincial feed composition and rates (from farm livestock surveys)	Statistics Canada (2021c, 2020e, 2020c) Sheppard et al (2015)
	N content of slaughtered animals	Animal population x % slaughtered x N content of whole animal	Livestock populations Slaughter rate estimates Animal N content	(Statistics Canada 2021c, 2020e, 2020c) Sheppard et al (2015) Karimi et al (2020)
	N content of animal products	Milk & egg production x N content	Milk and egg production	(Statistics Canada 2021b, 2020d) Karimi et al (2020)
	N loss during manure storage	Manure N production x % animal populations on pasture x % N remaining after storage co-efficient Manure N production = N content of feed* – N content of animals	Provincial animals on pasture and manure storage coefficients (from manure management surveys)	Huffman et al (2008)
	Denitrification & leaching	slaughtered* and animal products* N applied to soil – denitrification x provincial leaching coefficients	10 % of N to soil is denitrified, 1:1 ratio N <sub>2</sub> 0 to N <sub>2</sub>	Yang et al (2007)
		N applied to soil = (Fertilizer* + BNF* - N content harvested crops*) + (N manure production* - N loss storage*)	Provincial leaching coefficients (IROWC-N model)	De Jong et al (2009)
			Aquaculture production	Statistics Canada (2020b)
	Aquaculture	Feed weight = aquaculture production x feed conversion ratio	Feed conversion ratio: 1.1 Feed is 70% soy	Canadian Aquaculture Industry Alliance reports
			N excretion rate: 32 g N/ kg growth	Reid (2007)
	Food processing and waste	(Unprocessed food production kg x N content) – (Processed consumed food weight x N content)	Food loss coefficients	USDA (2020)
			N content unprocessed	Karimi et al (2020)
		Processed consumed food weight = unprocessed food production weight x food loss coefficients	N content processed	Canadian Nutrient File(Health Canada 2012), Lassaletta et al (2014)
1, 2 & 3	Household food	National food availability statistics adjusted by household food consumption	Food available in Canada Household food consumption	Statistics Canada (2021a) CCHS-N
2	consumption		from 24-hour dietary recall	
3	Wastewater treatment	(N excreted x wastewater treatment N removal coefficients) + $N_r$ emissions from incineration	Wastewater aqueous N removal coefficients Wastewater treatment coverage	Wastewater Treatment Reports (S3) Statistics Canada (2021i)
4	N from fossil fuels	N <sub>2</sub> O and NO <sub>x</sub> emissions	Nr emissions incineration	GHG and APEI GHG and APEI

Table 3-1: Overview of N flow methodologies and data sources for the N footprint model in this study

\*Estimated in a previous step. GHG: Canada's National Greenhouse Gas Inventory (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2020b), APEI: Canada's National Air Pollution Emissions Inventory (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2020a). CCHS-N: Canadian Community Health Survey – Nutrition (Statistics Canada 2007)

#### <u>3.2.1 Food production and VNFs</u>

We estimated VNFs at the national scale for Canada and separately for each of Canada's 10 provinces (the three northern territories were excluded due to limited data). Our study encompasses 45 crops, which we aggregated into 5 crop groups: 1) grains, 2) fruits, 3) vegetables, 4) roots, and 5) legumes (see Supplementary Information S1 for food groups). Animal product VNFs were calculated for beef, pork, chicken, fish, milk, and eggs. We estimated VNFs as the sum of apparent N<sub>r</sub> losses along the food supply chain from agriculture, processing, and food waste per kg of food consumed. N<sub>r</sub> losses for crops include potential losses on agricultural fields and due to food processing and waste. N<sub>r</sub> losses for animal products include the virtual N due to animal feed, manure N<sub>r</sub> loss, and food processing and waste (Figure 3.2). At each step of the food supply chain, we estimated N<sub>r</sub> release as the potential combined N<sub>r</sub> losses to air and water (kg N). We estimated N<sub>r</sub> losses as the difference between new N<sub>r</sub> inputs

and N<sub>r</sub> outputs at a given step, and considered N recycling, leaching and denitrification (Table 3-1). We subtracted inert N2 from our emissions since our focus is on N<sub>r</sub>.

## 3.2.2.1 Agricultural field losses

To estimate  $N_r$  release that occurs in the field we estimated the difference between key inputs of new  $N_r$  and outputs at the field level. Inputs of new  $N_r$  were synthetic fertilizer and biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) while the output was N uptake from harvested crops. From this net- $N_r$ applied to soils, we then estimated  $N_r$  leaching and denitrification (Table 3-1). We did not include manure as an input in this step as it is a 'recycled' form of N, not new  $N_r$ , nor did we include atmospheric  $N_r$  deposition to avoid double-counting and  $N_r$  from other sources (e.g. fossil fuel emissions). Our handling of manure N and related losses is expanded on in section 3.2.2.2 on the animal VNFs below.

To estimate fertilizer N inputs by crop we followed the approach used by Yang et al (Yang et al 2007). We disaggregated total provincial N fertilizer sales for agricultural use based on crop areas in each province and the provincially recommended N application rate for each crop. While our study includes 45 individual crops, this may not capture every possible crop receiving a portion of the total fertilizer used in each province. As a result, the fertilizer N applied to our study crops is likely a slight overestimation. BNF was calculated by multiplying the N content of leguminous crops by the percentage that is fixed from the atmosphere. Values for N contents and BNF rates were taken from Karimi et al (2020). Crop N removal was estimated by multiplying crop dry-matter production from annual surveys from Statistics Canada (see Table 3-1), by total crop N concentrations, including the harvested portion, residues, and root growth. Total crop N concentrations were taken from data published by Karimi et al (2020).

Estimates of denitrification and leaching at the national scale are uncertain due to high spatiotemporal variability. We therefore used the overall denitrification losses approach of Karimi et al (2020), and assumed that 10% of N contained in fertilizer and 10% of organic N remaining in soil from crop residues and roots are denitrified. Following the approach of Agriculture and Agri-food Canada's (AAFC) Residual Soil Nitrogen (RSN) model we assume that there is a 1:1 denitrification ratio of N20 to N2 (Yang et al 2007). We then estimated leaching values by applying an average provincial leaching co-efficient derived from AAFC's Indicator of Risk of Water Contamination by Nitrogen (IROWC-N) (De Jong et al 2009).

#### 3.2.2.2 Animal feed and manure

For animal products, we accounted for N losses associated with feed production and the Nr released from manure during storage and once applied to soil. Virtual nitrogen for animal feed was estimated by multiplying the approximate weight and type of feed consumed per head of animal by the relevant crop VNF, including feed from forage and pasture (Table 3-1). Data on Canadian livestock feed mix and amounts were taken from Canadian feed surveys and models by Sheppard and Bittman (2015). VNFs for feed crops and fertilized pasture were calculated assuming all Nr losses happen on the field. Forage VNFs were weighted by the ratio of managed to unmanaged pasture, given the disparities in N fertilizer use for these systems. There is potential overlap in how we attribute emissions from animals that produce both meat and other products (i.e. layer poultry and dairy cows). However, in their study of ammonia emissions from Canadian livestock, Sheppard and Bittman found that 97% of dairy cow emissions could be attributed to milk production, and 93% of layer emissions could be attributed to egg production (Sheppard and Bittman 2015). Therefore, we estimated beef VNFs using only beef cattle, milk from dairy cattle, chicken meat from broiler chickens, and eggs from layer chickens.

We assumed total manure N<sub>r</sub> production for a given population of animals is equal to the difference between N consumed yearly through feed and the N contained in animals removed for slaughter (Puckett et al 1999). Only partial data is available at the provincial scale on number of animals slaughtered, so we applied estimates on the fraction of animal populations that are slaughtered annually (Sheppard and Bittman 2015) to provincial animal populations. We cross-checked our estimates with national slaughter statistics, and they were within 10% for cattle, and 5% for hogs and chickens. Animals slaughtered were multiplied by average animal weight at

slaughter (Sheppard and Bittman 2015), and animal N concentrations (Karimi et al 2020) to estimate N removal.

To estimate potential  $N_r$  losses from manure that is applied to soil, we assumed manure produced by pasture-grazed animals was deposited directly on pasture, and manure from housed livestock animals is stored before being applied to crops. Provincial distributions of manure management practices came from Huffman et al (Huffman et al 2008). We multiplied our estimated manure production by coefficients for Canadian animal populations raised on pasture, and percentages of manure  $N_r$  remaining after storage (volatilization) losses for each management type (Huffman et al 2008). As with our crop VNFs, we assumed that 10% of N in manure applied to soil is denitrified (Karimi et al 2020) at a 1:1 N<sub>2</sub>0 to N<sub>2</sub> ratio (Yang et al 2007), and then applied average provincial leaching values (De Jong et al 2009). The remaining manure N<sub>r</sub> is what we consider "potentially recycled N<sub>r</sub>", which is therefore omitted from losses.

Feed and manure N from farmed fish production were estimated using a slightly different method than other animal products. As 70% of aquaculture in Canada (by weight) is salmon (Statistics Canada 2020b), we used salmon as a proxy for all aquaculture production in Canada. To estimate virtual N associated with aquaculture feed, we used data from Canadian salmon farming reports, which suggested that approximately 70% of salmon feed is soy; we inferred that the remainder was from fish meal and oil from forage fish, which we assumed have negligible new anthropogenic N<sub>r</sub> inputs and are therefore omitted from our VNFs. We used a feed conversion ratio of 1:1 to estimate amount of feed consumed by fish annually (Canadian Aquaculture Industry Alliance n.d.) and an N excretion rate from farmed salmon of 32 g N kg<sup>-1</sup> of growth (Reid 2007).

## 3.2.2 Food origin scenarios

We examined different scenarios to assess how assumptions and uncertainties about geographic food sourcing affect our provincial food N footprints. In our main analysis, we apply national weighted average VNFs based on the share of food production coming from each province. This assumes food is sourced nationally in proportion to provincial production. For example, the Canadian average VNF for beef is heavily weighted towards Alberta's beef VNF since this province produces the most beef in Canada. For context, Canada produces far more beef, pork and chicken domestically than it imports (imports account for 18%, 11%, and 13% respectively of the total supply of these foods) (Statistics Canada 2020a).

We applied two scenarios to examine uncertainty using alternative VNFs for each province. First, we used province specific VNFs, assuming food is produced and consumed in the same province. If provincial VNFs were unavailable (e.g., provincial fruit VNFs could not be calculated for Newfoundland and Labrador due to data availability), we used the Canadian weighted average VNF. Second, because the United States is Canada's largest agricultural trading partner (FAOSTAT 2021b), we also estimated each provinces' food N footprint when using national weighted average VNFs for the U.S. from Leach et al (submitted), representing a scenario where food consumed in each province is sourced from the U.S.

#### 3.2.3 Food consumption

Previous N footprint studies have typically used national average diets to estimate food intake, mainly from FAOSTAT (Leach et al 2012, Shibata et al 2014). For Canada, national food availability data from Statistics Canada (kg person<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> adjusted for retail and household losses) (Statistics Canada 2021a) are available. Given the objectives of our study, we use a simple approach to incorporate variations in provincial diets into our model. First, to assess

whether there are significant differences in food consumption patterns between provinces, we performed a Kruskal-Wallis statistical analysis using data from the 2015 Canadian Community Health Survey-Nutrition (CCHS-N). The CCH-S is a national nutrition and health 24-hour average food intake recall survey by Statistics Canada and Health Canada that included >35,000 respondents. (Statistics Canada 2007) Several food groups, including beef, were consumed in significantly different quantities (p < 0.05) between provinces. However, when compared to national food availability data from Statistics Canada, the CCHS-N survey appeared to underrepresent absolute per capita meat consumption (in kg). Therefore, we scaled the national food availability values to the provincial level by using the relative provincial consumption values from the CCHS-N survey (see S2 for more detail). Consumed food weight was multiplied by the respective food N contents from the Canadian Nutrient File from Health Canada (2012) to estimate per capita N consumed.

## 3.2.4 Wastewater treatment

We estimated potential  $N_r$  loss during wastewater treatment as the sum of  $N_r$  released to water and air during and after treatment as well as  $N_r$  emissions from waste incineration. To estimate influent  $N_r$  to wastewater, we assumed all food N consumed by the population of each province is excreted (Liang et al 2018b). To estimate aqueous  $N_r$  removal we used  $N_r$  influent and effluent measurements from wastewater treatment plants representing the three treatment levels in Canada (primary, secondary, and tertiary) as proxies (see S3). Aqueous  $N_r$  removal was estimated as the difference between total  $N_r$  (total Kjeldahl nitrogen, nitrates, and nitrites) in influent and effluent. We therefore assume that 75% of influent  $N_r$  is released to surface waters or groundwater under primary treatment, 66% after secondary treatment and 30% after tertiary. In the case of no treatment, which includes septic tanks, we assume that 95% of consumed  $N_r$  is

released to water (Brandes 1978). Aqueous N<sub>r</sub> removal was then weighted by the percentage of the population in a province that is served by each of three wastewater treatment levels using data from Statistics Canada (Statistics Canada 2021i).

We estimated gaseous  $N_r$  released as  $N_2O$ ,  $NO_x$  and  $NH_3$  emissions from wastewater treatment and waste incineration based on data from Canada's National Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Inventory, and from Canada's Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory (APEI). As with our agricultural estimates we assume a 1:1 N<sub>2</sub>O to N<sub>2</sub> denitrification ratio. These atmospheric loss values include wastewater N<sub>r</sub> from non-food sources (e.g. industry and other discharge), so they are likely proportionally larger than our estimates of N<sub>r</sub> release to water, which are based on food N consumption.

The fate of remaining  $N_r$  after wastewater treatment (removed as biosolids or sludge and not incinerated) is uncertain. In our main analysis we assume 25% of this  $N_r$  is beneficially recycled. However, by some estimates, as much as 50% of wastewater biosolids may be recycled in Canada (Karimi et al 2020), with the rest being landfilled. Therefore, we performed a sensitivity analysis using a lower and upper bound of  $N_r$  recycling ranging from a low of 25% to a high of 50% 'beneficial' recycling to land (which lowers the N footprint).

#### 3.2.5 Fossil Fuels

To estimate fossil fuel-related  $N_r$  emissions we use a top-down approach, summing data on provincial N<sub>2</sub>O and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions (the forms of N<sub>r</sub> released by burning fossil fuels). Data were obtained from greenhouse gas and air pollutant inventories, which account for N<sub>2</sub>O and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions, respectively. We then categorized these emissions into 4 subsectors based on their sources: 1) energy generation (emissions from public electricity and heat production, as well as commercial, institutional, and residential stationary combustion) 2) transportation (emissions

from aviation, rail, trucks, and other vehicles), 3) the oil and gas industry, and 4) other industry sources (stationary energy generation and other emission sources from construction, mining, and other manufacturing industries). The oil and gas industry form a separate category because we expected them to be large sources of  $N_r$  emissions in Canada. However, for an N footprint, not all oil and gas industry emissions should be attributed to consumption in Canada since most of the oil is ultimately consumed abroad. Therefore, we only include 15% of the total sector emissions as approximately 85% of oil is exported (Statistics Canada 2016).

# 3.3 Results and Discussion

We estimate that Canada's total N footprint is 995.7 Gg N<sub>r</sub> year<sup>-1</sup>, which equates to an average per capita footprint nationally of 27.1 kg N<sub>r</sub> capita <sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> for the period around the year 2018. There are clear differences in total N footprints, per capita N footprints, and the main sources of N<sub>r</sub> between provinces. Provincial N footprints vary from 3.5 Gg N<sub>r</sub> year<sup>-1</sup> (Prince Edward Island) to 311.8 Gg N<sub>r</sub> year<sup>-1</sup> (Ontario) (Figure 3.3A), the smallest and largest provinces by population, respectively. Saskatchewan has the largest per capita footprint at 50.3 kg N<sub>r</sub> capita <sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, and Ontario the smallest at 22.0 kg N<sub>r</sub> capita <sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 3.3 A, B). Major drivers across all provinces include transport, beef consumption and wastewater treatment (Figure 3.4 A, B). The contributions of fossil fuels to the per-capita footprints are strongly influenced by the presence of the oil and gas industry.



*Figure 3.3 Total provincial N footprints by sector (A), per capita provincial N footprints by sector (B), and the relative contribution of each sector to a provinces' per capita footprint (C).* 



*Figure 3.4 Per capita provincial N footprints by subsector (A), and the contribution of each subsector to each provinces' per capita footprint (B).* 

## 3.3.1 Food production and consumption

Diet is a major driver of N footprints in Canada. The average Canadian N footprint from food production is 12.9 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, 50% of the total Canadian N footprint. However, in most provinces, other than Ontario and Quebec, less than 50% of the N footprint comes from food production. Ontario and Quebec are the two most populous provinces in Canada, and together account for nearly two-thirds of Canada's population (40% and 24% respectively). Therefore, the national weighted N footprint is disproportionately impacted by these provinces. Virtual nitrogen

from meat production is a substantial contributor to  $N_r$  emissions across all provinces. Within the meat subsector, beef consumption is the largest driver. Beef consumption is the single largest overall driver of Ontario's, New Brunswick's, and Quebec's N footprints (5.4, 5.2, and 4.7 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) and second largest in all other provinces except Alberta and Saskatchewan (Figure 3.4 A, B).

Our findings related to food production are broadly comparable to other N footprint studies. For example, Leach et al (submitted) estimated the food production N footprint for the U.S. to be ~26 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>. Beyond differences in models, there are notable disparities in diets between the U.S. and Canada. For example, FAO estimates suggest Americans consume more meat than Canadians (e.g. the United States has a beef supply of 37.16 kg capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> whereas Canada's is 26.78 kg capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (FAOSTAT 2021c)). The difference in beef consumption alone could explain ~3kg capita<sup>-1</sup> additional N in the U.S. N footprint as compared to Canada. We discuss other differences related to VNFs in the next section.

# Virtual nitrogen factors

Beef, pork, chicken, have the highest average VNFs of all food groups, which is common among other studies and mainly due to relatively lower efficiency of converting feed crops into edible protein (Metson et al 2020). Crops tend to have lower VNFs than animal products, although there is a large range between provincial values (Figure 3.5 and S4). While differences in types of crops grown and farm N management affect the variability in provincial crop VNFs, environmental factors, such as leaching potential, also play a role. Wetter, colder provinces have higher leaching potential (De Jong et al 2009), which partially accounts for the higher VNFs for most crop groups in Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick.



Figure 3.5 Provincial virtual nitrogen factors (VNFs, g N kg food<sup>-1</sup>) for different food groups. The Canadian average is a weighted average of provincial VNFs weighted by production. Provinces with no VNF for a food group have a small number of producers and are censored in Canadian agricultural surveys. Vertical lines indicate U.S. VNFs (Leach submitted) for comparison. Plots are organized from smallest to largest VNF, and horizontal axis vary accordingly. Our VNF for fish is 60 g N kg food<sup>-1</sup>, not shown here as it assumed to be the same across all provinces. NFLD: Newfoundland and Labrador, PEI: Prince Edward Island.

We compare our Canadian VNFs to findings for the U.S. from Leach et al (submitted) (see

vertical lines in Figure 3.5) and find that they are of comparable magnitudes for most food items,

especially beef (our average weighted Canadian beef VNF is 401 g N kg food<sup>-1</sup>, the U.S. beef

VNF is 456 g N kg food<sup>-1</sup> (Leach submitted)). Our VNFs for pork and chicken are about 45% lower than those for the U.S., while our Canadian fruit and vegetable VNFs tend be higher (Figure 3.5). These differences in the U.S. and Canadian VNFs are partly attributable to differences in crops considered in each food group (e.g. cereals in Canada include corn, rye, oats, triticale and wheat, whereas cereals in the U.S. include corn, wheat, and rice), and agricultural practices between the two countries, such as differences in crop fertilizer recommendation rates (e.g. Ontario, Canada recommends 135 lbs N/acre of corn (Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs 2018) whereas Minnesota, U.S. recommends 145-195 lbs N/acre (University of Minnesota Extension 2021)). Differences are also a reflection of methodologies, including data sources, N<sub>r</sub> loss accounting, and livestock feed conversion efficiencies. For example, in our approach we use fertilizer sales data whereas Leach et al (submitted), used recommend fertilizer rates by crop and state mainly from university agricultural extension agencies.

Our VNF food origin scenarios resulted in a Canadian average food N footprint ranging from 12.4 kg N cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (using provincial VNFs) to 16.7 kg N cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (using U.S. VNFs) (Figure 3.6). The Canadian average is heavily weighted towards Ontario, which has roughly half of Canada's total population. This province has relatively low provincial VNFs for most food groups (Figure 3.5), resulting in a 37% increase in virtual nitrogen for the scenario assuming sourcing food from the United States (U.S. VNFs) over the scenario with local food sourcing (provincial VNFs) (Figure 3.6). However, seven out of the ten provinces have their lowest relative food N footprints when assuming food is consumed proportionally to overall Canadian production (Canadian VNFs), which is the approach we use in our main results (Figure 3.5). Since beef has a substantially higher VNF than other foods (four times that of pork, the next



largest VNF), this was also strongly reflected in our food origin sensitivity analysis. In all scenarios and provinces 35-40% of virtual nitrogen was from beef consumption.

Figure 3.6 Sensitivity analysis using different VNFs to estimate national and provincial virtual nitrogen footprints (N kg cap<sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup>) from consumption of crops and animal products. We used VNFs assuming 1) all food consumed in a province is sourced in a province (VNF provincial), 2) all food is sourced proportionally to overall Canadian production (VNF CAN weighted), and 3) food is sourced from the U.S. (VNF U.S.). Where a province did not have a VNF for a specific food group (Figure 3.5), we used the Canadian weighted average for that food group instead.

#### Wastewater treatment

 $N_r$  release from wastewater treatment accounts for 3.1 kg N cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> of the Canadian average N footprint, which makes it the third largest driver of the national and most provincial N footprints. Nitrates and nitrites are not regulated at a federal level across Canada, and ammonia regulation varies by province (Oleszkiewicz 2015). Geographical proximity to the ocean may be reflected in wastewater regulation for relatively low-population density coastal provinces (Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island and Newfoundland) as well as British Columbia, which discharge primarily to coastal waters and have generally lower N effluent standards than interior provinces (Ontario, Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta) (Oleszkiewicz 2015). Only ~30% of Canada's population is connected to municipal wastewater systems that receive tertiary

treatment (the treatment level that may include biological nitrogen removal) (Statistics Canada 2021i).



*Figure 3.7 Wastewater sensitivity analysis examining different assumptions about recycling versus landfilling biosolids and sludge from wastewater treatment (N kg cap<sup>-1</sup> year 1). High recycling assumes 50% of N removed during wastewater treatment is recycled, and low assumes 25% recycling.* 

Our wastewater treatment scenarios reflect the relatively low level of N<sub>r</sub> removal in wastewater treatment across Canada: when using high (50%) and low (25%) N recycling scenarios, the average Canadian wastewater footprint decreases from 3.1 kg N cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> to 2.7 kg N cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (+/- 13%). The largest variation was for Alberta (2.5-3.0 kg N cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, +/- 17%), which is the province with the highest tertiary treatment coverage (84%). Conversely, in British Columbia only 10% of the population is covered by tertiary treatment, and it is also the province with the largest wastewater N footprint, varying between 3.1-3.2 kg N cap<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (+/- 3%) for the high/low scenarios.

## 3.3.2 Fossil fuels

Burning fossil fuels accounts for 11.1 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1¬</sup>, or 40% of the average Canadian N footprint. Larger provincial fossil fuel footprints mainly coincide with the makeup of energy grids and the presence or absence of fossil fuel or other natural resource extraction. The average energy N footprint in Canada is 1.8 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> but varies considerably by province. In Nova Scotia, Saskatchewan and Alberta, 63%, 40% and 43% (Canada Energy Regulator 2021), respectively, of the energy grids are powered by burning coal (Figure 3.1). These three provinces have a combined average energy N footprint of 6.9 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1¬</sup>, whereas other provinces are powered primarily by renewables and nuclear energy and have an average energy N footprint of 1.4 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>.

Nr emissions related to transport are the largest portion of the fossil fuel N footprint sector in Canada (7.4 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> on average) and in six provinces (Figure 3.4). Canada is one of the least densely populated countries on the planet, has large distances between cities, cold winters, and a strong natural resource sector. This means Canadians drive more than in many other nations (on average Canadians drive ~15,200 km year<sup>-1</sup> (Natural Resources Canada 2008), Americans, by comparison, drive ~13,500 km year<sup>-1</sup> (United States Department of Transportation 2018)). In addition, heavy-duty (>3.9 tonne) diesel vehicles are a major contributor to transport emissions in several provinces, typically associated with trucking, mining and other resource extraction activities (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2020a). While resource extraction contributes to a province's economy and thus indirectly benefits Canadians, these activities may be associated with foreign exports and thus consumption activities abroad.

## 3.3.3 Attributing top-down N footprint emissions from fossil fuels

Our top-down approach to N footprints (national and provincial territorial emissions divided by population) differs from bottom-up N footprint studies, which estimate N emissions using personal consumption data (e.g. household electricity use, and personal distances driven or flown), multiplied by emissions factors (Leach et al 2012, Liang et al 2016, Shibata et al 2014, Pierer et al 2014). Our top-down methodology, drawing from territorial N emission datasets, therefore captures additional N emissions when compared to a bottom-up approach, particularly in the case of fossil fuels. Since some territorial emissions may ultimately be attributed to consumption activities in other countries, they should be discounted from our N footprint. However, the specific amount to discount is uncertain. For example, the APEI and GHG territorial inventories report N<sub>r</sub> emissions for "aviation", which includes emissions associated with direct personal consumption (e.g., vacation flights), indirect consumption (cargo flights bringing in imports), and with exports (which should be excluded from an N footprint). A bottom-up approach only captures the emissions from direct personal consumption, whereas a top-down approach potentially captures emissions from all three areas.

To examine this uncertainty, we compared our fossil fuel N footprint results across these different approaches in our national N footprint, and for two resource-dependent provinces (Table 3-2). These two provinces produce most (~90%) of Canada's oil and gas (Statistics Canada 2016). Alberta alone produced 80% of Canada's total oil in 2019 (~200 thousand m<sup>3</sup>). We approximated a bottom-up fossil fuel N footprint by including only categories from the APEI and GHG inventories that were similar to those in the N-Calculator (a bottom-up N footprint model) (Leach et al 2012), and a strictly territorial per capita N emissions estimate (including all categories with no adjustment for exports). The largest differences occur when discounting

exports from the oil and gas industry in Alberta (the main approach we used in this study), and whether emissions from all forms of transport (like heavy machinery) are included in Saskatchewan.

*Table 3-2 Per capita fossil fuel emissions from three methodologies, nationally and for two major oil and gas dependent provinces, Alberta, and Saskatchewan.* 

		Fossil fuel N-related emissions (kg capita <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> )			
Region	Sub- sector	Including all territorial emissions (from all stationary combustion, industries, heavy transport etc.)	Removing territorial emissions associated with oil exports (top-down footprint approach of <i>this study</i> )	Including only emissions from public energy generation, 'light' vehicles and aviation (similar to N-Calculator footprint approach)	
Alberta	Total	45.9	23.0	6.3	
	Energy	5.4	5.4	4.9	
	Transport	11.4	11.4	1.4	
Saskatchewan	Total	39.2	34.0	11.8	
	Energy	9.3	9.3	9.0	
	Transport	22.5	22.5	2.9	
Canada	Total	14.5	11.1	2.7	
	Energy	1.8	1.8	1.5	
	Transport	7.4	7.4	1.1	

In their top-down global input-output study of 188 countries, Oita et al estimated Canada's per capita N footprint to be ~63 kg capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, over twice our estimate of 27.1 kg capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (Oita et al 2016). The difference in scopes and methodologies of various N footprint studies means that comparisons need to be done carefully, however, valuable insights can still be gained. Oita accounted for a larger range of consumables than in our study, including non-food agricultural products like cotton. We plan to incorporate additional non-food agricultural goods in future assessments of Canada's N footprint, such as textile crops (e.g. hemp and flax), timber products and pet food (e.g. canary seed, of which Canada is the largest exporter in the world (FAOSTAT 2021a)).

# 3.3.4 Nr reduction policies and future research

Given the relative contribution of meat consumption and transport emissions to all provincial N footprints, moving towards more plant-based diets, and promoting the use of electric vehicles are among policy options that would be relevant across most of the country. Canada has already made strides in this direction by updating Canada's Food Guide in 2019 to encourage Canadians to eat a more plant-based diet (Health Canada 2021c). Furthermore, British Columbia and Quebec have passed legislation to ban the sale of new gas vehicles by 2040 (Canadian Press 2019) and 2035 (Lampert 2020), respectively, and both provinces already provide financial incentives for purchasing electric vehicles. Improving VNFs through better nitrogen use efficiency is also important, particularly for beef, as ammonia emissions from livestock are increasing in Canada (Environment and Climate Change Canada 2021a). Future research studying the change in N footprints over time, in relation to improved N use efficiency in agriculture, changing dietary patterns, and a general movement away from fossil fuels as an energy source, would also be insightful for policy recommendations to lower N emissions. Given the difference in our results between bottom-up and top-down N footprint approaches, additional case studies would be useful to examine how to equitably attribute emissions from transportation, manufacturing, and industrial sectors to a nations' N footprint.

# **3.4 Conclusions**

Here we present the first estimate of Canadian and provincial average N footprints, using a topdown approach. Our results echo the findings of other studies in terms of the large contribution of meat production to N footprints, especially from beef. However, our work also shows variation in the relative importance of drivers of N footprints sub-nationally, particularly in relation to resource extraction. This study gives us a better understanding of the cumulative

effect of individual consumption patterns, but also the challenges surrounding the attribution of other economic activities to Canada's N footprint. While uncertainty remains around the fate of N<sub>r</sub> released to the Canadian environment as part of these footprints (e.g. N<sub>r</sub> recycling from manure and wastewater), estimates of the relative magnitude of N footprint drivers provides a direction for us to begin to reduce them, whether through individual action or through policy intervention. Our study provides novel insights on drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions at the sub-national scale, emphasizing the need to consider local geographic contexts when examining national N<sub>r</sub> emissions.

# **Data Availability Statement**

All data that support the findings of this study, as well as related codes for data preparation and analyses are publicly available on GitHub at: <u>https://github.com/smccou/CAN\_N\_footprint</u>

# **3.5 References**

Brandes M 1978 Characteristics of effluents from gray and black water septic tanks *Water Pollut. Control Fed.* **50** 14

Canada Energy Regulator 2021 NEB—provincial and territorial energy profiles (available at: <u>www.cer-rec.gc.ca/en/dataanalysis/energy-markets/provincial-territorial-</u> energyprofiles/index.html)

Canadian Aquaculture Industry Alliance 2018 Canadian Farmed Salmon (available at: www.aquaculture.ca/canadianfarmed-salmon)

Canadian Press 2019 B.C. introduces law to require cars, trucks sold by 2040 be zero emission CBC News (CBC) (available at: <a href="http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/b-cintroduces-law-to-require-cars-trucks-sold-by-2040-bezero-emission-1.5093110">www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/b-cintroduces-law-to-require-cars-trucks-sold-by-2040-bezero-emission-1.5093110</a>)

Clair T A, Pelletier N, Bittman S, Leip A, Arp P, Moran M D, Dennis I, Niemi D, Sterling S, Drury C F and Yang J 2014 Interactions between reactive nitrogen and the Canadian landscape: A budget approach *Global Biogeochem*. *Cycles* **28** 1343–57

De Jong R, Drury C F, Yang J Y and Campbell C A 2009 Risk of water contamination by nitrogen in Canada as estimated by the IROWC-N model *J. Environ. Manage.* **90** 3169–81

Dukes E S M, Galloway J, Band L E, Cattaneo L, Groffman P M, Leach A M and Castner E A 2020 A community nitrogen footprint analysis of Baltimore City, Maryland *Environ. Res. Lett.* **15** 075007

Elrys A S, Raza S, Abdo A I, Liu Z, Chen Z and Zhou J 2019 Budgeting nitrogen flows and the food nitrogen footprint of Egypt during the past half century: challenges and opportunities *Environ. Int.* **130** 104895

Environment and Climate Change Canada 2012 Nutrients in the St. Lawrence River (available at: <u>www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/environmentalindicators/nutrients-st-lawrence-river.html</u>)

Environment and Climate Change Canada 2020a Canada's air pollutant emissions inventory (available at: https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/fa1c88a8-bf78-4fcb-9c1e-2a5534b92131)

Environment and Climate Change Canada 2020b Canada's official greenhouse gas inventory (available at: https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/779c7bcf-4982-47eb-af1ba33618a05e5b)

Environment and Climate Change Canada 2021a Canada's Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory Report 2021: executive summary (available at: <u>www.canada.ca/en/environmentclimate-</u> <u>change/services/air-pollution/publications/emissions-inventory-report-2021-executive-</u> <u>summary.html</u>)

Environment and Climate Change Canada 2021b Greenhouse gas sources and sinks: executive summary 2021 (available at: <a href="http://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-emissions/sources-sinksexecutive-summary-2021.html">www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/services/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-emissions/sources-sinksexecutive-summary-2021.html</a>)

Erisman J W, Sutton M A, Galloway J, Klimont Z and Winiwarter W 2008 How a century of ammonia synthesis changed the world *Nat. Geosci.* **1** 636–9 FAOSTAT 2021a Countries by commodity (available at: <a href="https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#rankings/countries">www.fao.org/faostat/en/#rankings/countries</a> by commodity exports)

FAOSTAT 2021b Major import partners (available at: www.fao.org/faostat/en/#rankings/major partners imports)

FAOSTAT 2021c New food balances (available at: www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FBS)

Fowler D *et al* 2013 The global nitrogen cycle in the twenty-first century *Phil. Trans. R. Soc.* B **368** 20130164

Galloway J N et al 2007 International trade in meat: the tip of the pork chop Ambio 36 622-9

Galloway J N and Cowling E B 2021 Reflections on 200 years of nitrogen, 20 years later *Ambio* **50** 745–9

Government of Canada S C 2017 Population and dwelling count highlight tables, 2016 Census (available at: www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hltfst/pd-pl/Table.cfm?Lang=Eng&T=101&S=50&O=A)

Gu B, Leach A M, Ma L, Galloway J N, Chang S X, Ge Y and Chang J 2013 Nitrogen footprint in china: food, energy, and nonfood goods *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **47** 9217–24

Health Canada 2012 Canadian Nutrient File (available at: https:// food-nutrition.canada.ca/cnffce/index-eng.jsp) Health Canada 2021c Welcome to Canada's food guide (available at: <u>https://food-guide.canada.ca/en/</u>)

Houlton B Z *et al* 2019 A world of cobenefits: solving the global nitrogen challenge *Earth's Future* **7** 865–72

Huffman T, Yang J Y, Drury C F, De Jong R, Yang X M and Liu Y C 2008 Estimation of Canadian manure and fertilizer nitrogen application rates at the crop and soil-landscape polygon level *Can. J. Soil Sci.* **88** 619–27

Hutton M O, Leach A M, Leip A, Galloway J N, Bekunda M, footprint calculator for Tanzania *Environ. Res. Lett.* **12** 034016

Karimi R, Pogue S J, Kröbel R, Beauchemin K A, Schwinghamer T and Henry Janzen H 2020 An updated nitrogen budget for Canadian agroecosystems *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **304** 107046

Lampert A 2020 Quebec to ban sale of new gasoline-powered cars from 2035 *Reuters* (available at: <u>www.reuters.com/article/usautos-</u> canada-emissions-idUKKBN27W289)

Lassaletta L, Billen G, Grizzetti B, Garnier J, Leach A M and Galloway J N 2014 Food and feed trade as a driver in the global nitrogen cycle: 50-year trends *Biogeochemistry* **118** 225–41

Leach A M, Galloway J N, Bleeker A, Erisman J W, Kohn R and Kitzes J 2012 A nitrogen footprint model to help consumers understand their role in nitrogen losses to the environment *Environ. Dev.* **1** 40–66

Leach AM, Cattell Noll L, Atwell B, Cattaneo L R and Galloway J N submitted The nitrogen footprint of food production in the United States

Leip A, Weiss F, Lesschen J P and Westhoek H 2014 The nitrogen footprint of food products in the European Union *J. Agric. Sci.* **152** 20–33

Liang X, Lam S K, Gu B, Galloway J N, Leach A M and Chen D 2018a Reactive nitrogen spatial intensity (NrSI): a new indicator for environmental sustainability *Glob. Environ. Change* **52** 101–7

Liang X, Leach A M, Galloway J N, Gu B, Lam S K and Chen D 2016 Beef and coal are key drivers of Australia's high nitrogen footprint *Sci. Rep.* **6** 39644

Liang X, Ng E L, Lam S K, Castner E A, Leach A M, Gu B, Healey G, Galloway J N and Chen D 2018b The nitrogen footprint for an Australian university: institutional change for corporate sustainability *J. Clean. Prod.* **197** 534–41

MacDonald G K, Brauman K A, Sun S, Carlson K M, Cassidy E S, Gerber J S and West P C 2015 Rethinking agricultural trade relationships in an era of globalization *BioScience* **65** 275–89

MacDonald G K, Talbot J, Moore T R, Arsenault J, McCourt S, Goertzen A, Kessler-Nadeau M 'E, Manaugh K, Maranger R and Robinson B E 2020 Geographic versus institutional drivers of nitrogen footprints: a comparison of two urban universities *Environ. Res. Lett.* **15** 045008

McCourt Sibeal 2021 Canadian Provincial N footprints Supplementary Code *GitHub* (https://github.com/smccou/CAN N footprint)

Metson G S, MacDonald G K, Leach A M, Compton J E, Harrison J A and Galloway J N 2020 The U.S. consumer phosphorus footprint: where do nitrogen and phosphorus diverge? *Environ*. *Res. Lett.* **15** 105022

Natural Resources Canada Canadian Vehicle Survey 2008 Update report (available at: <u>https://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/publications/</u>statistics/cvs08/chapter2.cfm?attr=0)

Oita A, Malik A, Kanemoto K, Geschke A, Nishijima S and Lenzen M 2016 Substantial nitrogen pollution embedded in international trade *Nat. Geosci.* **9** 111–5

Oleszkiewicz J Technical Working Group (TWG) on Nutrients and Carrying Capacity of the Salmon Aquaculture Dialogue 2015 *Options for Improved Nutrient Removal and Recovery from Municipal Wastewater in the Canadian Context* (<u>https://cwn-rce.ca/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2015/12/Oleszkiewicz-KIReport-March-2015.pdf</u>)</u>

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs 2018 Fertilizer recommendations (available at: <a href="http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/crops/pub611/pub611ch7.pdf">www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/crops/pub611/pub611ch7.pdf</a>)

Pierer M, Winiwarter W, Leach A M and Galloway J N 2014 The nitrogen footprint of food products and general consumption patterns in Austria *Food Policy* **49** 128–36

Puckett L J, Cowdery T K, Lorenz D L and Stoner J D 1999 Estimation of nitrate contamination of an agro-ecosystem outwash aquifer using a nitrogen mass-balance budget *J. Environ. Qual.* **28** 2015–25

R Core Team 2021 *R: A language and environment for statistical computing* (Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing) (available at: <u>www.R-project.org/</u>)

Reid G 2007 *Chapter One: Nutrient Releases from Salmon Aquaculture* WWF Salmon Aquaculture Dialogue "State of Information" Reports pp 7–22

Sheppard S C and Bittman S 2015 Linkage of food consumption and export to ammonia emissions in Canada and the overriding implications for mitigation *Atmos. Environ.* **103** 43–52

Shibata H, Cattaneo L R, Leach A M and Galloway J N 2014 First approach to the Japanese nitrogen footprint model to predict the loss of nitrogen to the environment *Environ. Res. Lett.* **9** 115013

Shindo J and Yanagawa A 2017 Top-down approach to estimating the nitrogen footprint of food in Japan *Ecol. Indic.* **78** 502–11

Smil V 1991 Population growth and nitrogen: an exploration of a critical existential link *Popul*. *Dev. Rev.* **17** 569–601

Statistics Canada 2007 Canadian community health survey—nutrition (CCHS) (available at: www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&Id=7498)

Statistics Canada 2016 Table 25-10-0063-01 Supply and disposition of crude oil and equivalent (https://doi.org/10.25318/2510006301-eng)

Statistics Canada 2020a Table 32-10-0053-01 Supply and disposition of food in Canada (x 1,000) (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210005301-eng)

Statistics Canada 2020b Table 32-10-0107-01 Aquaculture, production and value (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210010701-eng)

Statistics Canada 2020c Table 32-10-0117-01 Production, disposition and farm value of poultry meat (x 1,000) (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210011701-eng)
Statistics Canada 2020d Table 32-10-0119-01 Production and disposition of eggs, annual (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210011901-eng)

Statistics Canada 2020e Table 32-10-0130-01 Number of cattle, by class and farm type (x 1,000) (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210013001-eng)

Statistics Canada 2021a Table 32-10-0054-01Food available in Canada (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210005401-eng)

Statistics Canada 2021b Table 32-10-0110-01 Cash receipts from milk and cream sold off farms (x 1,000) (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210011001-eng)

Statistics Canada 2021c Table 32-10-0160-01 Hogs statistics, number of hogs on farms at end of semi-annual period (x1,000) (available at:

www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=3210016001)

Statistics Canada 2021d Table 32-10-0358-01 Area, production and farm value of potatoes (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210035801-eng)

Statistics Canada 2021e Table 32- 10-0359-01 Estimated areas, yield, production, average farm price and total farm value of principal field crops, in metric and imperial units (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210035901-eng)

Statistics Canada 2021f Table 32-10-0364-01 Area, production and farm gate value of marketed fruits (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210036401-eng)

Statistics Canada 2021g Table 32- 10-0365-01 Area, production and farm gate value of marketed vegetables (https://doi.org/10.25318/3210036501-eng)

Statistics Canada 2021h Table 36-10-0402-01 Gross domestic product (GDP) at basic prices, by industry, provinces and territories (x 1,000,000) (<u>https://doi.org/10.25318/3610040201-eng</u>)

Statistics Canada 2021i Table 38-10-0125-01 Population served by municipal wastewater systems by treatment category (available at:

www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=3810012501)

Stevens C J, Leach A M, Dale S and Galloway J N 2014 Personal nitrogen footprint tool for the United Kingdom *Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts* **16** 1563–9

United States Department of Agriculture USDA 2020 ERS—food availability (Per Capita) data system (available at: www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-availability-percapita-data-system/)

United States Department of Transportation 2018 Average annual miles per driver by age group (available at: <a href="https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/ohim/onh00/bar8.htm">www.fhwa.dot.gov/ohim/onh00/bar8.htm</a>)

University of Minnesota Extension Fertilizing corn in Minnesota 2021 (available at: <a href="https://extension.umn.edu/crop-specificneeds/fertilizing-corn-minnesota">https://extension.umn.edu/crop-specificneeds/fertilizing-corn-minnesota</a>)

World Bank 2019b Urban population (% of total population)—Canada data (World Bank (available at: <a href="https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS?locations=CA">https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS?locations=CA</a>)

Yang J Y, De Jong R, Drury C F, Huffman E C, Kirkwood V and Yang X M 2007 Development of a Canadian agricultural nitrogen budget (CANB v2.0) model and the evaluation of various policy scenarios *Can. J. Soil Sci.* **87** 153–65

#### **Preface to Chapter 4**

Chapter 4 addresses my second research question: How have whole-economy Nr emissions changed over time and what role has economic structure played? As described in Chapter 3, my provincial N footprint model for Canada showed population, meat production and consumption, and fossil fuel combustion were key drivers of total and per capita provincial  $N_r$  emissions. Chapter 3 also showed the relative importance of region-specific resource extraction (i.e., the oil and gas industry). However, there are many other potential important drivers of Nr emissions, and my footprint analysis was only for one point in time. Therefore, Chapter 4 expands on these findings and presents a detailed synthesis of multiple forms N<sub>r</sub> emissions in Canada over 30 years, including application of decomposition analysis to quantitatively examine drivers. This study provides novel insights into the trends and drivers of whole-economy  $N_r$  emissions and underlines the need to consider multiple species of Nr as well as the underlying geographic and policy contexts when studying Nr emissions. My findings show that affluence and population are positive drivers of Nr emissions in Canada, whereas emission intensity (N emissions GDP<sup>-1</sup>, an aggregate indicator of technology and policy changes) has generally improved. Changes in economic structure have both negative and positive effects on Nr emissions. These results underscore the importance of continued efforts to improve emission intensity, especially in Nrintensive sectors like oil and gas extraction and agriculture, as well as shifting economies toward less N<sub>r</sub> intensive sectors to decouple growth in affluence from N<sub>r</sub> pollution.

Chapter 4 was published in *Earth's Future* in September 2022. The format has been modified to be consistent within the thesis. All references cited in Chapter 4 appear at the end of the chapter.

# Chapter 4 Decomposing three decades of nitrogen emissions in Canada

#### Abstract

Reactive nitrogen ( $N_r$ ) emissions arise from multiple economic sectors, each creating distinct  $N_r$ species and impacts on environmental quality. In Canada, the relative contribution of different  $N_r$ species to total Nr emissions varies considerably across provinces, yet these Nr species are often studied separately, making comparison difficult. Here, we synthesize data from national emission inventories, as well as agricultural and wastewater statistics, to estimate total and per capita Nr emissions trends across Canada's 10 provinces over three decades between 1990 and 2017. We classified emissions by four main species of Nr, three source sectors, and 13 subsectors. Nr emissions peaked around 2000 followed by reductions both nationally and across almost all provinces. Agriculture replaced fossil fuel combustion as the largest source of Nr emissions after 2008, coinciding with regulatory interventions that aimed to reduce NO<sub>x</sub> emissions from transportation, while NH<sub>3</sub> from crop production increased in several provinces. Using an index decomposition analysis, we further assessed the socioeconomic drivers of Nr emissions changes, including the roles of emission intensity (Nr emissions per unit of economic output), affluence, population, and structural changes in the economy. Reduced emission intensity (an aggregate indicator of technology and policy changes) counteracted some of the effects of affluence and population as positive drivers of Nr emissions. Economic structural changes had both large negative and positive effects on Nr emissions. Our results underscore the importance of continued reductions in emissions intensity as well as shifting economies toward less Nr intensive sectors to further decouple affluence from N<sub>r</sub> pollution.

#### Plain Language Summary (requirement of *Earth's Future*)

Human activity releases different forms of reactive nitrogen (any form other than inert nitrogen gas) to the environment in several ways, including fertilizer use and burning fossil fuels. Excess reactive nitrogen contributes to air and water pollution as well as climate change. We therefore examined long-term emission trends of multiple types and sources of reactive nitrogen across Canadian provinces between 1990 and 2017. We investigated what factors were driving changes in emissions, such as population and economic growth, by using an 'index decomposition analysis'. Our results show that, while most reactive nitrogen emissions in the 1990s came from burning fossil fuels, agriculture had become the dominant source of reactive nitrogen by 2017. This change reflects effective policies targeting air pollution from transportation, and an increase in agricultural emissions in some provinces. We found that reactive nitrogen emissions typically increase when wealth and population increase. However, emissions can also be lowered through reduced 'emission intensity': when the economy becomes more efficient in terms of generating output with less nitrogen pollution. The results of our Canadian reactive nitrogen study are important because they demonstrate that careful management and policy attention could further reduce nitrogen pollution alongside continued economic growth.

#### 4.1 Introduction

Multiple species of reactive nitrogen (e.g., NH<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>x</sub>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and N<sub>2</sub>O) are released by a variety of anthropogenic activities including energy generation, food production, transportation, and wastewater treatment. Excess reactive nitrogen (N<sub>r</sub>) results in a range of potential social and environmental costs across spatial and temporal scales (Compton et al 2011; Keeler et al 2016). Due to the 'nitrogen cascade', one molecule of N<sub>r</sub> can potentially cause sequential negative impacts including air pollution, eutrophication, and climate change (Galloway et al 2003). Furthermore, actions to reduce one type of N<sub>r</sub> may result in an increase in another, simply shifting the environmental burden instead of reducing it. For example, a meta-analysis of field study results by Qiao et al. (2015) found that reducing nitrogen leaching with nitrification inhibitors also decreased nitrous and nitric oxide emissions from agricultural soils but led to elevated ammonia emissions. It is therefore important to assess long-term trends in multiple species of N<sub>r</sub> to have a comprehensive understanding of the changes in overall N<sub>r</sub> emissions and their potential social and environmental implications.

In many national-scale studies,  $N_r$  species are often examined separately (i.e., in relation to air quality, greenhouse gases, or water quality), or are aggregated to total  $N_r$ , such as total  $N_r$ footprints (e.g., for the United States (Leach et al 2012), Japan (Shibata et al 2014), and Canada (McCourt & MacDonald, 2021)). In Canada, several emission inventories and nitrogen models allow for reporting on separate trends for major  $N_r$  species. The Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory (APEI) shows that  $NO_x$  emissions are trending downward, while  $NH_3$  emissions are increasing (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a). According to the National Inventory of Greenhouse Gas Emissions,  $N_2O$  emissions from agriculture and waste treatment

are also increasing (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021b). Furthermore, the Residual Soil Nitrogen (RSN) and Indicator Risk of Water Contamination-Nitrogen (IROWC-N) models suggest that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching from agriculture is increasing (De Jong et al 2009; Drury et al 2007). While national (Clair, 2014) and agricultural (Karimi et al 2020) nitrogen budgets have been published for Canada, to our knowledge, there has been no synthesis of trends in overall N<sub>r</sub> emissions nor changes in the relative contributions of different species of N<sub>r</sub>.

Beyond quantifying trends in  $N_r$  emissions, examining changes in socioeconomic factors associated with the emissions can identify drivers of change (Malik et al 2022). For example, is population growth or changes in consumption a bigger contributor to changes in Nr emissions? Does economic growth itself have a larger impact than relative changes in economic structure, such as shifts in the dominance of different industries? One method to assess drivers behind emissions is decomposition analysis. Decomposition analyses examine the relationship between changes in chosen indicators and aggregate environmental outcomes, such as emissions. Decomposition analyses have been used extensively to evaluate links between economic growth, energy use, greenhouse gas emissions and air pollution (Ang, 2004; de Boer & Rodrigues, 2020). There are two types of decomposition analysis: *structural decomposition* analysis which uses economic input-output tables, and *index decomposition* analysis which uses aggregate economic sector production data. Both approaches allow for assessment of the production effect (the effect of changes in total output) and emission intensity effect (the effect of changes in emission per unit of economic output). However, only index decomposition analysis allows for the assessment of economic structure effect (the effect of a shift in the production shares of sectors in the economy) (Hoekstra & van den Bergh, 2003).

We are aware of only two published studies that use a decomposition analysis to examine overall national  $N_r$  emissions. Wier & Hasler (1999) performed a structural decomposition of national-scale  $N_r$  emissions in Denmark, where they identified rising exports and technological change as key factors driving  $N_r$  emissions. Malik et al. (2022) also used a structural decomposition to assess the drivers of global  $N_r$  emissions, and found that the combined effects of increasing affluence, population growth, and changes in final demand have outpaced any reduction driven by improvements in  $N_r$  use efficiency.

Here, we synthesize existing data to examine trends and drivers in Nr emissions nationally across Canada, and sub-nationally for the ten Canadian provinces, over the period 1990 to 2017. This builds on our recent study of Canada's Nr footprint for the circa 2018 period, which showed that total Nr emissions varied substantially across provinces based on the diverse geographic context of this large nation (McCourt and MacDonald, 2021). We examine both aggregate and speciesspecific  $N_r$  emissions from agriculture, industry, transportation, and energy generation. We then perform an index decomposition analysis to determine the primary socioeconomic and technical drivers of Nr emissions, including population growth, affluence, emission intensity, and economic sectoral change. We use emission intensity (Nr emissions per unit of gross domestic product, GDP) as an aggregate indicator for broader changes in technology and policy. Our index decomposition approach allows us to assess the impact of changes in economic structure on  $N_r$ emissions, expanding on previous studies that used structural decomposition to examine drivers of  $N_r$  emissions for other regions. To our knowledge, this is also the first subnational-level decomposition analysis of Nr emissions. Finally, we briefly discuss the Canadian regulatory policy context that coincides with the temporal trends for specific  $N_r$  species and sectors.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 An inventory of Nr emissions between 1990 and 2017

We included four major types of Nr in our analysis: 1) NH<sub>3</sub>, 2) NO<sub>x</sub>, 3) N<sub>2</sub>O, and 4) total nitrogen (N) in water (the sum of total Kjeldahl nitrogen [TKN], NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>). When aggregating to total Nr emissions, we normalized these as total N per year (Gg N year<sup>-1</sup>) and per capita N per year (kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>). NH<sub>3</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions were obtained from Canada's Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a). N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were obtained from Canada's Greenhouse Gas Inventory (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021b). To estimate total Nr released to water, we included both N leaching and runoff from agriculture, and N released in effluent after wastewater treatment. For agricultural leaching we multiplied provincial average per hectare leaching rates (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) from the IROWC-N model (De Jong et al 2009) by provincial agricultural areas (ha) from the Census of Agriculture (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 2021). To estimate runoff losses we followed the approach of Karimi et al. (2020), applying 3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for cropland and 0.94 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for pasture in each year. Agricultural areas from the Census are only available at 5-year intervals, so we held these values constant between reporting years. Average leaching values per hectare from the IROWC-N are provided at 5-year intervals between 1984 and 2006; we therefore held leaching rates per hectare constant after 2006, meaning that inter-annual variability in leaching magnitudes in our study after this date is driven by changes in agricultural areas. Leaching rates per hectare remained relatively constant between 1984 and 2006 except for New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Quebec, and Newfoundland and Labrador, where they were increasing (see Supporting Information Figure S1). By holding leaching rates constant after 2006

we may therefore underestimate leaching in these provinces, which comprise about  $\sim 6\%$  of the agricultural land in Canada.

Available data on total N in wastewater effluent in Canada is sparse (Clair, 2014; Oleszkiewicz & Barnard, 2006). However, data on provincial populations using each wastewater treatment category are available from Environment and Climate Change Canada (2021b). We therefore estimated Nr in effluent from six wastewater treatment categories in each year of our study, which represents wastewater treatment coverage for at least 90% of the Canadian population. We used proxy N effluent values based on annual reports from seven wastewater facilities that include  $N_r$  in their effluent reporting (see Table S1). The plants represent four major wastewater treatment technology categories used in Canada: 1) primary settling and filtration treatment (Metro Vancouver, 2017), 2) secondary treatment through activated sludge (Toronto Water, 2018a, 2018b), 3) secondary treatment with biological nutrient removal (City of Kelowna, 2018; EPCOR Water Services Inc., 2019), and 4) trickling filters (Metro Vancouver, 2017). Collectively, these seven facilities directly report on wastewater treatment for 4.5 million Canadians (~12% of the national population in 2017). We additionally used a proxy N<sub>r</sub> effluent value for wastewater treatment by lagoons based on several municipal reports (Corporation of the Township of North Glengarry, 2018; Greater Grand Sudbury, 2017, see Table S1). Finally, for septic tank effluent, we used a value of 7 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> from the single Canadian study we were able to locate (Brandes 1978), which is of a comparable order of magnitude to the 10 to 25 kg N per household found by the U.S Geological Survey (Seiler, 1996).

4.2.2 Classification of Nr emissions into source sectors

To assess the change in aggregate Nr emissions between different economic sectors, we

organized the NH<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, and total N in water emissions into 3 main source sectors and 13

subsectors. When combined, this results in 33 potential combinations of Nr species by sector and

subsector (e.g., *Fossil Fuel Combustion*  $\rightarrow$  *Energy generation*  $\rightarrow$  *NO<sub>x</sub>*) (see Table 4-1).

Table 4-1 Categories of  $N_r$  species included in the emission synthesis by source sector and subsector. Some minor sector-species combinations were not comprehensively reported across the study period and have been omitted (e.g., biogenic nitric oxide, NO, emission from cropland soils). Note that  $NO_x$  and  $N_2O$ emissions from agricultural machinery, representing <1% of national  $N_r$  emissions in 2017 (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a, Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021b), are included in the Fossil Fuel  $\rightarrow$  Off-road Transportation subsector following standard Government of Canada reporting.

		Nr Species						
Sector	Subsector	NH3	N <sub>2</sub> O	NOx	Total N in water			
	Animal Production	✓	✓					
Agriculture	Crop Production	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$					
	Runoff and Leaching				$\checkmark$			
Waste and	Vaste and Waste Treatment and Incineration		✓	$\checkmark$				
wastewater	Wastewater Effluent				$\checkmark$			
	Energy Generation	✓	✓	✓				
	Oil and Gas Industry	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
	Other Industry	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
Fossil Fuel	Road Transportation	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
Combustion	Off-road Transportation	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
	Aviation	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
	Marine Transportation	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
	Rail Transportation	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				

#### 4.2.3 Decomposition analysis

To quantify the relative contribution of socioeconomic drivers to changes in  $N_r$  emissions, we performed two index decomposition analyses using the additive formulation of logarithmic mean Divisia index (LMDI) method. The LMDI method is widely used to decompose emission changes in environmental studies (e.g., Ang & Zhang, 2000).

#### 4.2.3.1 Technology, affluence, and population decomposition

Building from major emission drivers identified in previous decomposition studies and the Kaya Identity (Štreimikienė & Balezentis, 2016), we aimed to assess three distinct effects: 1) changes in N<sub>r</sub> emission intensity (kg N<sub>r</sub> emitted per dollar GDP) as an aggregate indicator for improvements in economic efficiency and technology (Su & Ang, 2015), 2) change in affluence through economic growth (GDP per capita) and 3) population growth. We examined the effect of these drivers on total provincial and national N<sub>r</sub> emissions, expressed by the following equation:

$$\Delta Nr_t = \Delta(\frac{Nr}{GDP})_t + \Delta(\frac{GDP}{P})_t + \Delta P_t \quad (1)$$

where subscript 't' denotes the time period,  $\Delta Nr$  the change in total N<sub>r</sub> emissions for Canada or a province,  $\Delta(\frac{Nr}{GDP})$  the change in emission intensity effect,  $\Delta(\frac{GDP}{P})$  the change in affluence effect, and  $\Delta P$  the change in population effect. In addition to the national scale analysis, we selected Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Ontario as representative provinces for decomposition analysis, given that they have the largest total N<sub>r</sub> emissions, the highest per capita emissions, and the largest population, respectively.

#### 4.2.3.2 Economic structure and industry-specific decomposition

We further examined drivers by assessing how changes in economic structure have impacted emissions from different industries. We chose two North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) industries as examples for a second set of decomposition analyses: 1) crop and animal production, and 2) the oil and gas industry. These correspond to our three agriculture N<sub>r</sub> subsectors and the single oil and gas N<sub>r</sub> subsector in Table 4-1. By assessing the drivers for each of these economic sectors individually, we were also able to test if the previous drivers had different impacts—for example, whether technological improvement played distinct roles in crop and animal production as compared to the oil and gas industries.

We selected agriculture and oil and gas  $N_r$  emissions for further analysis because these are industries where  $N_r$  emissions are still increasing in certain provinces. Not only are these two industries responsible for large amounts of  $N_r$  emissions in Canada (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a, 2021b), they are also relatively large drivers of national and provincial GDPs (for example the oil and gas industry created ~20% of Alberta's GDP in 2010; Government of Canada 2021). These sectors also comprise different shares of provincial GDPs and have changed over time. For example, crop and animal production in Saskatchewan contributed 6% of the province's GDP in 2010, which was a decrease from 11% in 2000 (Statistics Canada, 2021b).

By undertaking a provincial-level industry-specific decomposition analysis we therefore aim to examine the geographic and temporal variability in drivers of  $N_r$  emissions. The industry-specific decomposition is expressed below (see eq 2). For the two industries, in addition to affluence and

population, we assessed the effect of 1) industry  $N_r$  emission intensity (industry  $N_r$  emissions per industry GDP) and 2) economic structural changes (industry GDP per total GDP).

$$\Delta Nind_t = \Delta \left(\frac{Nr_{ind}}{GDP_{ind}}\right)_t + \Delta \left(\frac{GDP_{ind}}{GDP}\right)_t + \Delta \left(\frac{GDP}{P}\right)_t + \Delta P_t (2)$$

where subscript 't' denotes the time period,  $\Delta Nind$  the change in N<sub>r</sub> emissions for a given industry,  $\Delta(\frac{Nr_{ind}}{GDP_{ind}})$  the change in industry emission intensity effect,  $\Delta(\frac{GDP_{ind}}{GDP})$  the change in economic structure effect,  $\Delta(\frac{GDP}{P})$  the change in affluence effect, and  $\Delta P$  the change in population effect. Population and economic data were obtained from Statistics Canada (Statistics Canada, 2021b).

All data processing and analyses were performed with the R statistical programming language v. 4.0.4 (R Core Team, 2021). All datasets and code for this work can be found at Figshare: <a href="https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.19209900">https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.19209900</a>.

#### 4.3 Results and discussion

#### 4.3.1 Trends in total and per capita N<sub>r</sub> emissions

National total N<sub>r</sub> emissions increased by 13% between 1990 and 2000, from 1480 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> to 1704 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup>. They subsequently decreased to 1380 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 2017 (Figure 4.1a). Per capita emissions ranged from a high of 56 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> in 1997 to a low of 38 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> in 2017 (Figure 4.1b). Improvements in national per capita emissions (~1% decrease each year between 2012-2017) were mostly offset by increases in population growth (between 2012-2017 Canada had a yearly population growth rate of ~1%; Statistics Canada 2021).



Figure 4.1 Breakdown of total (Gg N year<sup>-1</sup>) and per capita (kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>)  $N_r$  emissions, nationally (a and b, respectively) and by province (c and d, respectively), between 1990 and 2017. Given their comparatively low individual populations and  $N_r$  emissions, the provinces of Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Newfoundland and Labrador have been aggregated into the 'Atlantic Provinces' panel (see Table S2 for individual values). Provinces are sorted geographically from West to East.

The highest absolute provincial emissions were in Alberta in 1999 and 2000 (440 and 433 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> respectively), followed by Ontario (432 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 2000) (Figure 4.1c). While both provinces had declines in total emissions after the year 2000, sharp reductions in Ontario's N<sub>r</sub> emissions contributed disproportionately to the decline in national N<sub>r</sub> emissions. Furthermore, when accounting for its large population (nearly 40% of Canada's population resides in Ontario), Ontario had the lowest per capita emissions of any province in 2017 (19 kg N capita <sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>). Saskatchewan had the highest per capita emissions, both in 2017 (178 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>) and in an absolute sense over the study period (194 kg N capita <sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> in 2008) (Figure 4.1d).

Not only did the quantity of N<sub>r</sub> emissions change but the source sector contributions to total N<sub>r</sub> emissions also shifted considerably between 1990 and 2017 (Figure 4.1a, b). Fossil fuels contributed more than half of total N<sub>r</sub> emissions in Canada for the first half of the study period (1990 to 2003). However, the absolute amount of N<sub>r</sub> emissions from fossil fuels, as well as the relative percentage, decreased from a high of 911 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 1999 (54% of national emissions) to 549 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> (40%) in 2017. N<sub>r</sub> emissions from agriculture trended in the other direction from 589 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 1991 (41% of national emissions) to 686 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 2017 (50%). Therefore, by 2017, agriculture contributed slightly more to national N<sub>r</sub> emissions, both in total and relative amounts as compared to fossil fuel combustion. This partly reflects a move towards cleaner sources of fuel in Canada: nearly two thirds of Canada's electrical energy was from hydroelectricity during the study period, and wind and solar power capacity increased 1500% and 700% respectively (Statistics Canada, 2022). It also highlights the need for further efforts and action toward mitigating agricultural Nr emissions in Canada.

The share of N<sub>r</sub> from wastewater treatment and waste incineration also increased slightly between 1990 to 2017, from 133 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> (9% of national N<sub>r</sub> emissions) to 146 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> (11%), respectively (Figure 4.1a). Trends in waste-related N<sub>r</sub> largely follow population across provinces and over time. Ontario had the highest total N<sub>r</sub> from waste and wastewater treatment (50 Gg N in 2012, 17% of its total provincial emissions). Coastal provinces also tend to have lower wastewater treatment levels and higher per capita wastewater N<sub>r</sub> than landlocked inland provinces. For example, in 2017, the Atlantic provinces, Quebec and British Columbia had the highest per capita N<sub>r</sub> emissions from wastewater (all at ~5 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>). In contrast, Alberta had higher wastewater treatment levels and the lowest per capita N<sub>r</sub> emissions from wastewater (2 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>) (Figure 4.1d), likely reflecting that its two major population

centers are located on rivers and its largest city (Calgary) is in a semi-arid, prairie climate with less capacity to dilute aqueous N<sub>r</sub> pollution.

#### 4.3.2 The role of regulatory policy in decreasing fossil fuel Nr emissions

Reductions in fossil fuel related  $N_r$  emissions, primarily as  $NO_x$ , have contributed the most to overall  $N_r$  emissions trends nationally. While  $NO_x$  emissions have decreased across all provinces, the rate of decrease varies. Ontario had the largest absolute and percentage decrease in total and per capita  $NO_x$  emissions, from 222 to 79 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup>, and 19 to 6 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (a 64% and 68% decrease respectively between 2000 and 2017). By comparison, Alberta's total  $NO_x$ emissions have decreased from 261 to 194 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup>, and per capita  $NO_x$  emissions have decreased from 90 to 45 kg N capita<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (a 26% and 50% decrease, respectively) (Figure 4.1, Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Summary and comparison of Nr species from agricultural sources (left side) with those from fossil fuel combustion (right side) nationally (a, b) and for each province (c, d) from 1990 to 2017. The dominant source of emissions nationally shifted from fossil fuels to agriculture around the year 2008. Provinces are sorted geographically from West to East.

Road transportation and the oil and gas industry were the two subsectors that contributed most to fossil fuel  $N_r$  (24% and 27% of national fuel combustion emissions in 2017, respectively), and therefore  $NO_x$  emissions (Figure 4.3). Improvements in road transport emissions led to the greatest reductions in  $NO_x$  emissions.  $NO_x$  from road transport peaked in 2000 (287 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> or 17% of total national  $N_r$  emissions) and decreased to 122 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> (~10%) by 2017.  $NO_x$  emissions from oil and gas follow a similar trend, peaking around 2000 (at 156 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> nationally) and then decreasing. Oil-related  $NO_x$  emissions are geographically concentrated in one province, Alberta, where most of Canada's oil and gas industry is located. In 2017, the oil industry in Alberta emitted 114 Gg N, representing more than three-quarters of Canada's oil-related  $N_r$  emissions that year.



Figure 4.3 Classification of relative subsector and  $N_r$  species contributions as a percentage of total  $N_r$  emissions in each province and nationally between 1990 and 2017. Only those categories that were in the top five emission sources in any year across all provinces are included to allow for easier visual interpretation, which omits  $N_2O$ . The 10 included categories (out of the possible 33 categories shown in Table 1) cover at least 87% of all  $N_r$  emissions in each province throughout the study period. The legend is sorted from top-bottom for three species: ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), total N in water, and nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>).

Reductions in NO<sub>x</sub> emissions coincide with changes in government policy that aimed to reduce them. In the late 1980s and early 1990s, Canada signed and ratified several international agreements to reduce NO<sub>x</sub> emissions, including the Sofia Protocol of the UNECE Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution in 1988 and the Canada-US Air Quality Agreement in 1991. These agreements focused on implementing increasingly stringent national vehicle standards and reducing NO<sub>x</sub> emissions from industry with a national NO<sub>x</sub> emissions cap of 2250 Gg year<sup>-1</sup> by 2010, and Canada met its proposed targets (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2020b). In 2017, Canada ratified the Gothenburg Protocol, which replaced the Sofia Protocol and addresses pollutants that cause acidification and ground-level ozone (including NO<sub>x</sub>). Under this protocol Canada committed to reduce NO<sub>x</sub> emissions by 35% from 2005 levels by 2020 (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2020).

#### 4.3.3 Shifting agricultural Nr emissions and policy gaps

By 2017, agriculture was the largest source of  $N_r$  emissions in Canada, although this was partly attributable to success in reducing fossil fuel  $N_r$ . Agricultural emissions at the national scale have been comparatively stable, ranging from 597 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 1990 to a high of 705 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 2007, with a slight decline to 686 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 2017 (Figure 4.2). However, provincial-level trends in agricultural  $N_r$  emissions have been redistributed across and between provinces. For example, in Ontario, the province with the largest annual agricultural emissions, these decreased by 16%, from 1655 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 1990 to 137 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> in 2017. Nationally, such reductions were offset by growth in agricultural  $N_r$  emissions in other provinces, especially Saskatchewan, where these increased by 60% from 95 to 153 Gg N year<sup>-1</sup> between 1990 and 2017 (Figure 4.2).

Nationally, agricultural N<sub>r</sub> emissions are primarily (~50% across all years of our study) in the form of NH<sub>3</sub> from crop production (e.g., synthetic fertilizer use) and animal production (e.g., from manure management). This is also true across most provinces, although in Quebec and the Atlantic provinces, runoff and leaching are a relatively larger source of N<sub>r</sub> in some years (Figure 4.3). Across most provinces and most years, the main source of NH<sub>3</sub> emissions was animal production (except in Saskatchewan between 2012-2017 where NH<sub>3</sub> from crop production accounted for ~30% of agricultural N<sub>r</sub> emissions). In fact, as a percentage of overall N<sub>r</sub> emissions nationally, NH<sub>3</sub> emissions from animal production surpassed those of NO<sub>x</sub> emissions from road transportation during the study period except for 1999 and 2000 (Figure 4.3).

Most provinces have passed regulations related to agricultural nutrient management aimed at reducing N<sub>r</sub> losses to the environment. Examples include Ontario's Nutrient Management Act (2002) and Alberta's Agricultural Operation Practices Act (2000). Current legislation generally focuses on reducing greenhouse gas emissions and limiting N<sub>r</sub> loading to water bodies through farm nutrient management plans, including through the timing of fertilizer and manure applications as well as maintaining vegetative buffer strips to protect water bodies. However, unlike NO<sub>x</sub> emissions, NH<sub>3</sub> is not as stringently regulated in Canada. While the Gothenburg Protocol in theory also covers some NH<sub>3</sub> emissions by regulating ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) and several provinces have air quality targets that include NH<sub>3</sub> (for example, Alberta Environment, 2005; Manitoba Environment, Climate and Parks, 2005), Canada currently has no national reduction goals in place for NH<sub>3</sub> (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2020b). NH<sub>3</sub> emissions can lead to acidification and potential human health hazards through PM<sub>2.5</sub> formation (Gu et al 2021). Efforts to reduce NH<sub>3</sub> emissions therefore warrant additional policy attention in Canada given that these emissions have been increasing.

<u>4.3.4 Technology and efficiency improvements can offset positive drivers of growth in total N<sub>r</sub></u> <u>emissions</u>

Reductions in total  $N_r$  emissions were driven predominantly by reductions in  $N_r$  emission intensity (Gg N GDP<sup>-1</sup>), which we use as an indicator for broader technological and policy changes. The reduction in emission intensity effect was particularly strong between 2000 and 2010, during which the greatest reduction in  $N_r$  emissions occurred nationally (-217 Gg N) and across Alberta and Ontario (Table 2). Figure 4.4 shows the detailed changes in each of the three drivers subnationally across Canada over the study period. Emission intensity peaks around 2000 for most provinces and then decreases in all provinces, except in Saskatchewan (Figure 4.4a). This improvement in  $N_r$  efficiency occurred most strongly in the decade after the Gothenburg Protocol was ratified, suggesting that the greatest gains in efficiency happened fairly quickly and have since tapered off.

However, reductions in emission intensity were not always strong enough to outweigh the positive drivers of affluence and population. Increased affluence (GDP capita<sup>-1</sup>) was the dominant positive driver in overall N<sub>r</sub> emissions changes over time (except Alberta between 2010-2017), especially between 1990 and 2000 nationally, and in Alberta and Ontario (accounting for +608 Gg N, +192 Gg N and +152 Gg N, respectively) (Table 4-2). Combined with the additional positive effect of population growth, these positive pressures resulted in net N<sub>r</sub> emission growth during the 1990s across Canada and the three example provinces. In Alberta, population growth was the dominant positive pressure between 2010-2017 (+50 Gg N). Between 2010 and 2017 Alberta's population grew by 12% (Figure 4.4), which was the largest percentage increase of any province during this time (Statistics Canada, 2021a).

Table 4-2 Decomposition of changes in overall  $N_r$  emissions between 1990 and 2017 across Canada and the provinces of Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Ontario. Drivers assessed are: 1)  $N_r$  emission intensity (Gg  $N_r$  GDP<sup>-1</sup>), 2) affluence (GDP capita<sup>-1</sup>), and 3) population. Our analysis is divided into three decades to examine differences in drivers between 1990 and 2000, where  $N_r$  emissions generally increased, and the following decades, where there was a decrease in  $N_r$  emissions across all provinces except Saskatchewan. The change in total  $N_r$  emissions is equal to the sum of the positive or negative pressures across the three drivers for that decade. The effect with the largest absolute value (positive or negative) for each area and decade is **bolded** and listed as the main driver of  $N_r$  emissions. In years where there is less than a 10% difference in absolute magnitude, we indicate (with '+/-') that the largest positive and negative drivers effectively cancel each other out, and both drivers are bolded.

Area	Years	N <sub>r</sub> emission change (Δ Gg N)	Emission intensity (EI) effect (Δ Gg N)	Affluence effect (Δ Gg N)	Population effect (Δ Gg N)	Main driver
Canada	1990-2000	+225	-552	+608	+168	+Affluence
	2000-2010	-217	-880	+500	+163	-EI
	2010-2017	-107	-459	+249	+102	-EI
Alberta	1990-2000	+97	-158	+192	+63	+Affluence
	2000-2010	-36	-293	+166	+91	-EI
	2010-2017	-35	-111	+26	+50	-EI
Ontario	1990-2000	+21	-185	+152	+54	-EI
	2000-2010	-119	-245	+81	+44	-EI
	2010-2017	-47	-123	+56	+20	-EI
Saskatchewan	1990-2000	+31	-35	+66	0	+Affluence
	2000-2010	+11	-104	+110	+6	+/-
	2010-2017	+13	-32	+27	+18	-EI



Figure 4.4 Changes in provincial  $N_r$  emissions compared to changes in (a) GDP (in billion \$CAD, current dollars), (b) population, and (c) GDP per capita (thousand \$CAD) between 1990-2017. Note the logarithmic scale for the x axis in (a). The data in panel (a) represents how the emission intensity indicator was derived in our study ( $N_r$  emitted per unit GDP).

# 4.3.5 Sectoral Nr emissions and the influence of economic structural changes

When examining N<sub>r</sub> emissions by economic sector, the emission intensity effect is also no longer always a negative driver (as it was when looking at the whole economy in Table 4-2). For example, during 2010-2017 change in emission intensity was a positive driver of oil and gas N<sub>r</sub> emissions in Alberta (Table 4-3), meaning that emission intensity of oil production increased over these years. One potential explanation for the increased emission intensity is the fact that as the price of oil rises, "dirtier" and less easily accessible oil becomes more economically viable and producing oil from unconventional reservoirs results in more emissions intensive production (Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, 2012). On the other hand, the emission-reducing effect of decreased agricultural emissions intensity generally expanded over the study period (Table 4-3), coinciding with improvements in N<sub>r</sub>-use efficiency in some provinces (Karimi et al 2020). Table 4-3 Decomposition of sectoral changes in  $N_r$  emissions from two NAICS economic sectors, agriculture and oil & gas, between 1990 and 2017 across Canada and the provinces of Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Ontario. Drivers assessed are: 1) Sectoral  $N_r$  emissions intensity (Gg  $N_r$  sectoral GDP<sup>-1</sup>), 2) economic structural change (sectoral GDP GDP<sup>-1</sup>), 3) affluence (GDP capita<sup>-1</sup>), and 4) population. The change in sectoral N emissions is equal to the sum of the effects of the chosen drivers for that decade (the totals may differ slightly due to rounding). The single largest positive or negative effect for each sector in each period is **bolded** and interpreted as having the largest impact on the overall N emission change magnitude and direction for each sector. In some years, there are multiple roughly equivalent (within 10% difference in absolute magnitude) drivers; when there are two of these, both drivers are bolded, otherwise if there are several, none are bolded. The ES effect was largest absolute value in multiple cases.

		Agricultural industry (three agriculture N <sub>r</sub> subsectors)				Oil & Gas industry (single N <sub>r</sub> subsector)					
Area	Years	Emission change ( $\Delta$ Gg N)	ES effect	EI effect	AF effect	Pop. Effect	Emission change $(\Delta \text{ Gg N})$	ES effect	EI effect	AF effect	Pop. Effect
	1990-2000	+63	-165	-79	+240	+66	+36	+66	-84	+41	+13
CA	2000-2010	+22	-170	-86	+210	+69	-2	+36	-96	+44	+14
	2010-2017	+4	+190	-354	+119	+49	+10	-60	+35	+25	+10
4.0	1990-2000	+35	-116	+57	+71	+23	+26	+26	-59	+44	+16
AB	2000-2010	-7	-50	-52	+62	+34	-5	-1	-72	+43	+24
	2010-2017	-5	+99	-134	+10	+20	+10	-36	+24	+8	+15
011	1990-2000	-16	-120	+27	+57	+20	-1	-2	-2	+2	+1
ON	2000-2010	-7	+45	-102	+32	+18	-3	+3	-7	+1	0
	2010-2017	-6	+17	-60	+27	+9	0	+1	0	0	0
CIV	1990-2000	+22	-91	+69	+44	0	+3	+3	-2	+2	0
SK	2000-2010	+13	-19	-47	+75	+4	+1	+2	-6	+5	0
	2010-2017	+21	+86	-98	+19	+13	-1	-4	+1	+1	+1

Abbreviations: CA: Canada, AB: Alberta, ON, Ontario, SK: Saskatchewan, EI: emission intensity, ES: economic structure, AF: affluence.

Affluence remained a relatively stronger positive pressure on  $N_r$  emissions than population for both agriculture (e.g., in Ontario between 1990 and 2000) and oil and gas (e.g., Alberta between 1990 and 2000) (Table 4-3). However, our sectoral analysis shows the important but variable roles of economic structure and emission intensity as drivers of changes in sectoral  $N_r$  emissions. For example, the increase in the agricultural sector's contribution to provincial GDP was the largest positive pressure on increased  $N_r$  emissions in Saskatchewan from 2010 to 2017 (although this was effectively cancelled out by a negative emission intensity effect), whereas change in economic structure was the largest negative pressure behind the reduction in agricultural emissions in Ontario between 1990 and 2000. Ontario is the sole province where the  $N_r$  emission-reducing effect of changes in agricultural emissions intensity and economic structure was enough to outweigh positive pressure from affluence and population growth consistently across all time periods. Ontario shows by far the sharpest reduction in overall  $N_r$  emission intensity (Figure 4.4a).

Our results are similar to those of Malik et al. (2022), who performed a structural decomposition analysis of changes in global  $N_r$  emissions. They showed that the combined effect of affluence, population growth, and changes in final demand (particularly resulting from economic effects of trade) outweighed any negative pressure from improved  $N_r$  efficiency resulting in growth in global  $N_r$  emissions, especially from agriculture. Considering that several Canadian provinces are actively encouraging growth in the agricultural sector, with an emphasis on growing export markets for agricultural goods (e.g. Saskatchewan Ministry of Agriculture (2022)), additional policy focus needs to be put on further reducing emission intensity to ensure sustainable growth in the agricultural sector.

#### 4.3.6 Uncertainties and limitations

Index decomposition analysis is a useful method to quantify the impact of different drivers on emissions, but it has limitations. Our choice of drivers and interpretation was informed by previous studies: for example, Kastner et al. (2012) and Malik et al. (2022) use relatively simple indicators of 'technology' change in their global decomposition analysis studies (i.e., crop yields and nitrogen efficiency, respectively), and we selected N<sub>r</sub> emission intensity for this purpose given that emission intensity has been widely used as an aggregate indicator of policy control (Thomakos & Alexopoulos, 2016). However, while emission intensity provides context to

changes in  $N_r$  emissions over time, it does not precisely capture the effects of either technology or policy. We therefore cannot separate the success of specific policies from other effects, such as behavioural changes or improvements in technological efficiency (Goh, 2019). Furthermore, while the  $N_r$  emissions categories from government inventories and the economic sectors from the NAICS used in our study broadly match each other, there is not a perfect pairing, which could affect our results (see Table S3 for a comparison). Our analysis also only addresses sectorwide changes and does not address changes occurring below the level of aggregation available in our data (e.g., shifts between more or less nitrogen-intensive crops).

Our analysis contains multiple forms of uncertainty. Uncertainties around the NH<sub>3</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and NO<sub>x</sub> values used in our study are described in the corresponding government inventories. For example, Canada's Greenhouse Gas Inventory notes considerable uncertainty (at least ±30%) around mean values for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from manure management and agricultural soils (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021b). Canada's Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory similarly mentions that some emission categories related to NH<sub>3</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> are calculated with "in-house" estimates using relatively basic (Tier 1) methodologies that rely on activity data and emission factors (Environment and Climate Change 2021a). We use further basic assumptions around total N in water from runoff, leaching, and wastewater effluent given limited data availability. At the national scale, our results for those variables broadly compare to a national N<sub>r</sub> budget study by Clair et al. (2014): our results for the year 2007 are slightly higher for runoff and leaching (306 Gg N in our study vs. 274 Gg N by Clair et al., 2014) and for wastewater (141 Gg N vs. 137 Gg N, respectively). Our agricultural runoff and leaching estimates are therefore particularly uncertain, in part because we do not capture differences in runoff across Canada's

diverse hydroclimatic regions and cropping systems. However, our results for runoff and leaching are within 2-3% of those reported by Karimi et al. (2020) nationally for 1996 and 2016.

#### 4.4 Conclusions

In this paper, we present the first synthesis and decomposition analysis of Canadian N<sub>r</sub> emission trends. By classifying emissions into a set of 33 subsectors by N<sub>r</sub> species combinations subnationally across Canadian provinces, our results show a detailed view of the contributors to N<sub>r</sub> pollution from different economic activity sources, and how these have varied both geographically and temporally. Substantial reductions have been achieved in fossil fuel related N<sub>r</sub> emissions, especially NO<sub>x</sub> from road transportation. Consequently, agriculture is now a slightly larger overall source of N<sub>r</sub> emissions, primarily in the form of NH<sub>3</sub>. While agricultural N<sub>r</sub> emissions have been relatively stable at the national scale, the share of N<sub>r</sub> species from agriculture has grown in several provinces, including Saskatchewan, Ontario, and the Atlantic Provinces. Further policy attention to the more diffuse agricultural sources of N<sub>r</sub> pollution in the Canadian context is needed, although effectiveness of regulatory policy mechanisms may be more difficult to achieve than in the case of NO<sub>x</sub>, stressing the need for innovative approaches.

Our decomposition analysis results for Canada are in line with findings of other studies showing that growing population and affluence are positive drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions. However, these effects have been increasingly offset by reductions in emission intensity. Our study also highlights the importance of changes in economic structure in driving N<sub>r</sub> emissions, which may play a key role in achieving future N<sub>r</sub> emissions reductions in Canada. Our study provides novel insights into the trends and drivers of N<sub>r</sub> emissions provincially, underlining the need to consider multiple species of N<sub>r</sub> as well as the underlying geographic and policy contexts when studying N<sub>r</sub> emissions. Additional political and scientific attention should be given to examining how we

might diversify our economies away from  $N_r$  intensive sectors, further reduce emission intensity, and decouple affluence from  $N_r$  pollution.

## Acknowledgments

The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose. This work was supported by the Trottier Institute for Science and Public Policy (TISPP) at McGill University and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Discovery Grants program (RGPIN-2016-04920). The authors would like to thank E Laurin for discussions on Canadian wastewater treatment, and T Clair for discussions on Canadian N emissions. E Laurin also kindly shared data from their studies.

## **Open Research and Data Availability Statement**

The R scripts and data used to execute the analyses in this paper are preserved at Figshare (McCourt, 2022), under CC BY 4.0 license.

# 4.5 References

Agricultural Operation Practices Act, no. 106/2017, Government of Alberta. (2000). Retrieved from <a href="https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a07">https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a07</a>

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. (2021). Interpolated Census of agriculture. Retrieved from https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/9c285bb1-7919-426a-b6c0-29a4d2edde48

Alberta Environment. (2005). Alberta ambient air quality objectives : Ammonia. Retrieved from <u>https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/6562878a-1099-4e6b-bd4a-a890028b8eeb/resource/05f4e488-</u>52c0-4247-9d41-f7b78f7dde28/download/2005-aaqo-ammonia-2005.pdf

Ang, B. W. (2004). Decomposition analysis for policymaking in energy: Which is the preferred method? *Energy Policy*, *32*(9), 1131–1139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(03)00076-4</u>

Ang, B. W., & Goh, T. (2019). Index decomposition analysis for comparing emission scenarios:
Applications and challenges. *Energy Economics*, *83*, 74–87.
<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2019.06.013</u>

Ang, B. W., & Zhang, F. Q. (2000). A survey of index decomposition analysis in energy and environmental studies. *Energy*, *25*(12), 1149–1176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-5442(00)00039-6</u>

Brandes, M. (1978). Characteristics of effluents from gray and black water septic tanks. *Water Pollution Control Federation*, *50*(11), 2547–2559.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/25040185?seq=1#metadata\_info\_tab\_contents

Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers. (2012). Responsible Canadian energy 2012 progress report summary.

City of Kelowna. (2018). 2018 city of Kelowna wastewater treatment annual report. Retrieved from

https://www.kelowna.ca/sites/files/1/docs/related/report\_annual\_kelowna\_wwtf\_report\_2018\_co mpressed.pdf Clair, T., Pelletier, N., Bittman, S., Leip, A., Arp, P., Moran, M. D., et al. (2014). Interactions between reactive nitrogen and the Canadian landscape: A budget approach. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *28*, 1343–1357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2014gb004880</u>

Compton, J. E., Harrison, J. A., Dennis, R. L., Greaver, T. L., Hill, B. H., Jordan, S. J., et al. (2011). Ecosystem services altered by human changes in the nitrogen cycle: A new perspective for US decision making. *Ecology Letters*, *14*(8), 804–815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-</u>0248.2011.01631.x

Corporation of the Township of North Glengarry. (2018). Township of North Glengarry Alexandria wastewater system 2018 annual report. Retrieved from <u>https://www.northglengarry.ca/en/town-hall/resources/Public-Works/Water-Department-Annual-Reports/2018-Alexandria-Wastewater-Annual-Report.pdf</u>

de Boer, P., & Rodrigues, J. F. D. (2020). Decomposition analysis: When to use which method? *Economic Systems Research*, *32*(1), 1–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09535314.2019.1652571</u>

De Jong, R., Drury, C. F., Yang, J. Y., & Campbell, C. A. (2009). Risk of water contamination by nitrogen in Canada as estimated by the IROWC-N model. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *90*(10), 3169–3181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.05.034

Drury, C. F., Yang, J. Y., De Jong, R., Yang, X. M., Huffman, E. C., Kirkwood, V., & Reid, K. (2007). Residual soil nitrogen indicator for agricultural land in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 87(Special Issue), 167–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.4141/S06-064</u>

Environment, & Climate Change Canada. (2020). Gothenburg Protocol to reduce transboundary air pollution. Retrieved from <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-</u> <u>change/corporate/international-affairs/partnerships-organizations/gothenburg-protocol-air-</u> pollution.html

Environment, & Climate Change Canada. (2021a). Canada's air pollutant emissions inventory report 1990-2019. Retrieved from

https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2021/eccc/En81-30-2019-eng.pdf

Environment, & Climate Change Canada. (2021b). Greenhouse gas sources and sinks: Executive summary 2021. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-">https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-</a>

change/services/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-emissions/sources-sinks-executive-summary-2021.html

EPCOR Water Services Inc. (2019). Annual wastewater treatment report. Retrieved from <u>https://www.epcor.com/products-services/water/water-quality/wqreportsedmonton/wwq-edmonton-2019.pdf</u>

Galloway, J. N., Aber, J. D., Erisman, J. W., Seitzinger, S. P., Howarth, R. W., Cowling, E. B., & Cosby, B. J. (2003). The nitrogen cascade. *BioScience*, *53*(4), 341–356. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0341:tnc]2.0.co;2

Greater Grand Sudbury. (2017). 2017 annual wastewater report. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.greatersudbury.ca/live/water-and-wastewater-services/projects-plans-reports-and-presentations/wastewater-annual-reports/final-ww-annual-report-2017-pdf/">https://www.greatersudbury.ca/live/water-and-wastewater-services/projects-plans-reports-and-presentations/wastewater-annual-reports/final-ww-annual-report-2017-pdf/</a>

Gu, B., Zhang, L., Van Dingenen, R., Vieno, M., Van Grinsven, H. J., Zhang, X., et al. (2021). Abating ammonia is more cost-effective than nitrogen oxides for mitigating PM2.5 air pollution. *Science*, *374*(6568), 758–762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abf8623</u>

Hoekstra, R., & van den Bergh, J. C. J. M. (2003). Comparing structural decomposition analysis and index. *Energy Economics*, *25*(1), 39–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-9883(02)00059-2</u>

Karimi, R., Pogue, S. J., Krobel, R., Beauchemin, K. A., Schwinghamer, T., & Henry Janzen, H.
(2020). An updated nitrogen budget for Canadian agroecosystems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 304, 107046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2020.107046</u>

Kastner, T., Rivas, M. J. I., Koch, W., & Nonhebel, S. (2012). Global changes in diets and the consequences for land requirements for food. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(18), 6868–6872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1117054109</u>

Keeler, B. L., Gourevitch, J. D., Polasky, S., Isbell, F., Tessum, C. W., Hill, J. D., & Marshall, J. D. (2016). The social costs of nitrogen. *Science Advances*, 2(10).
<a href="https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600219">https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600219</a>

Leach, A. M., Galloway, J. N., Bleeker, A., Erisman, J. W., Kohn, R., & Kitzes, J. (2012). A nitrogen footprint model to help consumers understand their role in nitrogen losses to the

environment. *Environmental Development*, 1(1), 40–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2011.12.005

Malik, A., Oita, A., Shaw, E., Li, M., Ninpanit, P., Nandel, V., et al. (2022). Drivers of global nitrogen emissions. *Environmental Research Letters*, *17*(1), 015006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac413c</u>

Manitoba Environment, Climate and Parks. (2005). Manitoba air quality criteria. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/envprograms/airquality/pdf/criteria">https://www.gov.mb.ca/sd/envprograms/airquality/pdf/criteria</a> table update july 2005.pdf

McCourt, S. (2022). Decomposition analysis and trends in reactive nitrogen emissions at across Canada (Version 1.0) [Software][Dataset]. Figshare. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.19209900

McCourt, S., & MacDonald, G. K. (2021). Provincial nitrogen footprints highlight variability in drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions in Canada. *Environmental Research Letters*, *16*, 095007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac1e3b</u>

Ministry of Agriculture. (2022). Plan for 2021-2022. Retrieved from https://pubsaskdev.blob.core.windows.net/pubsask-prod/126401/AgriculturePlan2021-22.pdf

Nutrient Management Act, no. S.O. 2002, c.4, Ontario. (2002). Retrieved from <u>https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/02n04</u>

Oleszkiewicz, J. A., & Barnard, J. L. (2006). Nutrient removal technology in North America and the European Union: A review. *Water Quality Research Journal*, *41*(4), 449–462. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wqrj.2006.048</u>

Qiao, C., Liu, L., Hu, S., Compton, J. E., Greaver, T. L., & Li, Q. (2015). How inhibiting nitrification affects nitrogen cycle and reduces environmental impacts of anthropogenic nitrogen input. *Global Change Biology*, *21*(3), 1249–1257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12802</u>

R Core Team. (2021). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>

#### **Preface to Chapter 5**

Chapter 5 addresses my research question: What opportunities do nutrient-related legislation provide to support innovative nutrient policy integration? In Chapters 3 and 4 I showed the diversity of economic sources and sectors involved in creating anthropogenic N<sub>r</sub> emissions in Canada. I also show in Chapter 4 that changes in N<sub>r</sub> emissions often coincide with regulatory interventions (e.g., reductions in NO<sub>x</sub> emissions following policies aimed to reduce air pollution from transportation), and that diffuse sources of N<sub>r</sub> in Canada (like NH<sub>3</sub> from agriculture) are still increasing. As I discussed in my literature review, we need innovative N<sub>r</sub> policies, and nutrient policies in general, to better address nutrient pollution. However, scientists and policymakers have a limited understanding about the breadth and scope of existing nutrient policies, which impedes our ability to identify areas for nutrient policy integration.

In Chapter 5 I propose the application of a new technique to identify possible entry points for better nutrient integration across provincial and federal law in Canada. I use semantic network analysis to create a network of legislative texts that are connected by common terms. Through this analysis I identify common topics in Canadian legislation, including "policy hubs" and "policy bridges"—laws that are highly connected or create unique links in the overall network structure. These hub and bridge laws are particularly interesting examples of existing policy integration or those with high potential for new integration. In this chapter I also discuss the importance of 'indirect' legislative topics for nutrient for nutrient policy integration (such as food marketing regulations).

This chapter will be submitted to a journal in late November 2022. It has been formatted according to requirements for the journal Nature Sustainability. All references cited in Chapter 5 appear at the end of the chapter.

### Chapter 5 Identifying leverage points for sustainable nutrient policy integration in Canada

#### Abstract

Mitigating nutrient pollution requires policies spanning across diverse economic sectors and environmental systems. We therefore propose a novel methodology, applying semantic network analysis for linking policy texts through shared terms, to detect common topics and connections as entry points for nutrient policy integration. Using nutrient-related law in Canada, our analysis shows twelve topics with issues spanning from agricultural management to climate change. Topics such as food marketing indirectly relate to nutrient management, revealing potential for new nutrient policy integration. Several environmental protection and land use planning laws are highly connected in the network, serving as examples of possible "policy hubs" by connecting multiple other economic and environmental statutes. Other legislation, representing "policy bridges", creates unique links in the overall network structure, potentially improving integration across the Canadian policy landscape. Assessing existing legislative texts as a network reveals opportunities to improve policy integration and enhance our ability to mitigate nutrient pollution.
#### **5.1 Introduction**

Sustainable management of nutrients, such as nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), plays a crucial role in food production, climate change, human health, biodiversity, and air and water quality(Lade et al., 2020). Yet, reducing nutrient pollution is well understood to be a 'wicked problem', involving competing goals of producing more food while protecting the environment, and a multitude of actors and economic pressures influencing an increasingly globalized food supply chain<sup>2.3</sup>. The policy landscape around N and P management is similarly complex<sup>4.5</sup>. There are potential co-benefits found in joint nutrient strategies, as both N and P pollution mainly derive from the same agricultural sources, and measures to reduces losses of one nutrient can also reduce losses of the other. However, it is equally important to acknowledge that there are key differences in N and P cycles (e.g. fossil fuel combustion contributes to N pollution and impacts air quality and greenhouse gas emissions, while P does not)<sup>6-8</sup>.

New and innovative policies are needed to address nutrient pollution, especially from diffuse agricultural sources<sup>9</sup>. National policies have a key role to play in encouraging better nutrient management, but often do not reflect the multitude of economic sectors, sources, and environmental and health impacts involved in nutrient management<sup>6,10</sup>. Inventorying existing policies and assessing potential nutrient policy integration (incorporating goals into policy sectors not focused on nutrient management<sup>11</sup>) is therefore a crucial step in addressing underlying drivers of nutrient pollution, achieving multiple nutrient management objectives simultaneously, reducing policy transaction costs, and increasing the likelihood that governments' nutrient goals are met<sup>5,12</sup>. Such analysis is needed to help governments design better policies by identifying leverage points for enhanced policy integration.

Semantic network analysis is well suited to identify areas for novel policy integration by detecting connections between existing nutrient-related policies and 'communities' of policies that refer to similar topics. This approach creates a network where nodes (nutrient policy texts) are linked by edges (common words shared between texts)<sup>13</sup>. Network analysis could be useful for examining complex interconnected policy environments because it also allows for identification of 'bridges' that are creating unique connections in the network, and 'hubs' that are particularly strongly connected within the policy network<sup>14,15</sup>. Semantic networks have been used extensively in research across multiple disciplines, especially in analysis of political discourse, and social media<sup>16,17</sup>. Previous work has applied semantic network analysis to examine trends in national environmental policy links in Korea<sup>18</sup> and to assess interactions between the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG's) in official United Nations documents globally<sup>19,20</sup>; however, to our knowledge, it has not yet been applied to examine networks of nutrient policies (but see Alshtröm and Cornell's analysis of the structural properties of governance of global N and P cycle<sup>21</sup>).

Our analysis builds on previous nutrient policy studies to develop a more comprehensive understanding of how existing N and P management strategies are interconnected and to identify potential new areas for nutrient policy integration. We do so by applying a semantic network analysis with natural language processing to nutrient-related legislation in Canada which was identified through a database search. Canada offers an informative case study to examine the breadth and depth of nutrient policy integration more generally. For example, there have been attempts in Canada to create nutrient-focused legislation that directly addresses nutrient management (e.g., the Nutrient Management Act passed in Ontario in 2002). Our objective was to define the Canadian nutrient-related legislation landscape as a network that embodies a

holistic approach to examining N and P policies. Our findings reveal different types of policies that are particularly impactful in the network structure, representing opportunities to examine both existing policy integration and the development of more comprehensive policies. This is important because a 'siloed' approach to addressing nutrient pollution can exacerbate or create new problems, such as pollution swapping<sup>6</sup>.

### 5.2 Results and Discussion

We identified 245 nutrient-related Acts (written laws, sometimes referred to as statutes, which are enacted by federal or provincial parliaments and are currently in force across Canada or in one of the 10 Canadian provinces) that form 12 different topic clusters in the semantic network. Figure 5.1 shows the connections between individual Acts (Figure 5.1a) and topic groups (Figure 5.1b), and Table 5-1 displays the shared words that resulted in Acts being clustered together into each topic. Many topics contain Acts that indirectly relate to nutrient management (e.g., land use and planning) highlighting areas for potential new policy integration around nutrient management. Some Acts serve as "policy hubs" due to their high connectivity in the network (e.g., the Environment Act in Ontario), while others represent potential "policy bridges" by creating unique links across topics (e.g., the Nutrient Management Act in Ontario) (Figure 5.1a). Both of these types of cross-cutting legislation may be key opportunities for more innovative and comprehensive policies around nutrients, as 'hub' Acts indicate central texts in the network that have multiple connections representing frequently referenced core issues<sup>15</sup> and 'bridge' Acts may be platforms for creating novel nutrient legislation ideas<sup>14,17</sup>.

### 5.2.1 Nutrient legislation topic classification.

The 12 topics identified through the network clustering analysis cover a wide range of subjects ranging from environmental concerns to a focus on specific economic sectors. We named the topics (shown in *italics* throughout the text) based on the titles of Acts included in the topic, Act preambles, and the top common words derived from the network clustering analysis (see Table 5-1).

Four of the 12 topics contain legislation that focuses on mitigating negative outcomes to society and the environment. These range from *environmental quality* Acts (broad pieces of legislation that cover a variety of concerns including protecting soil, air, and water quality), to laws focused on abating *climate change*, protecting *animal and public health*, or ensuring *occupational health and safety*. Four groups concentrate on economic sectors, namely the *forestry* sector, the *oil, gas and mining* sector, as well as two related to agriculture: *agricultural management* and *food marketing and regulations*. The prominence of natural resource-related topics reflects the importance of these areas to the Canadian economy<sup>22</sup>. Acts in the *fisheries and biodiversity* topic deal both with biodiversity protection, often in relation to fish habitat, and the fishery sector. One topic included Acts that focus on regulatory mechanisms relating to *vehicles*, including fuel taxes and retail sales taxes, generally with the aim to reduce carbon emissions and protect air quality. Finally, two topics are focused on legislation relating to land use and government jurisdictional organizational structure: *land use and planning* and *land conservation*.



Figure 5.1 The network of nutrient-related Acts across Canada. The colors of the nodes represent groups of Acts identified with the Leiden clustering method using a resolution of 1.35. In graph a. each node represents an Act, and the edges represent common words shared between them (edges have been trimmed for visual clarity). Several nodes have been labelled to show representative examples of Acts in each group: those titles that are in bold are the top 5 hub Acts, meaning that they have the shortest distance to reach every other node in the network, while titles that are italicized are the top 5 bridge acts which have the fewest redundant shared neighbors and act as unique links in the network (see Table 5-2 and Methods for more detail). Graph b. is a contracted network that simplifies the connections between the same group of Acts from a. The size of the nodes represents the number of Acts in two groups.

Table 5-1. List of topics identified by a Leiden clustering analysis of Canadian nutrient-related legislation (using a clustering resolution of 1.35). The top 10 terms with the highest TFIDF weight (see Methods) occurring within each group are shown. Topic names were chosen based on the common terms, as well as the titles of Acts in each topic (see Supplementary Material for full list of Acts and topic groups).

Topic name	Top 10 terms appearing in each topic			
Fisheries and Biodiversity	aquaculture, fish, species, fishery, wildlife, bear, licence, fishing, gear, carton			
Land Use and Planning	municipality, irrigation, district, marshland, company, taxpayer, taxation, foundation, land, election			
Occupational Health and Safety	worker, employer, workplace, apprenticeship, trade, committee, health, accident, earning, apprentice			
Vehicles	fuel, motor, vehicle, deplete, passenger, collector, vendor, driver, supplier, engine			
Environmental Quality	water, basin, project, contaminant, proponent, waste, environment, wetland, vessel, cross			
Food Marketing and Regulations	dairy, milk, producer, marketing, product, processor, inspector, commodity, farm, quota			
Climate Change	emission, greenhouse, climate, energy, target, electricity, generator, efficiency, goal, carbon			
Oil, Gas and Mining	regulator, mineral, rice, licence, perpetuity, royalty, mining, coal, recorder, licensee			
Agricultural Management	farm, crop, practice, farmer, disturbance, board, nuisance, insurance, dust, smoke			
Animal and Public Health	animal, inspector, disease, health, fertilizer, livestock, food, chief, veterinarian, licence			
Land Conservation	easement, conservation, covenant, pleading, land, profit, titles, claim, escarpment, watercourse			
Forestry	forest, timber, tree, forestry, land, quota, forests, commissioner, licence, range			

# 5.2.2 Cross-cutting 'hub' and 'bridge' legislation

In addition to detecting topic clusters, our semantic network analysis identifies "hub" policies that are strongly connected to all other policies in the network, and "bridge" policies that create unique links in the network. These statutes may offer important opportunities for nutrient policy integration within the existing landscape of Canadian nutrient policy. Table 5-2 shows the top five hub Acts, as measured by their 'closeness' centrality score, and bridge Acts, as measured by their Burt's Constraint score (see Methods section for additional detail).

Table 5-2 Top five hub and bridge acts in the Canadian nutrient network as measured by their closeness and Burt's constraint scores respectively (see Methods section for additional detail).

Centrality Measure	Rank	Act Title	Corresponding Topic	Top 3 Topic Connections
Closeness (Hub Acts)	1	Environmental Protection Act (Ontario)	Environmental Quality	Environmental quality, land use and planning, climate change
	2	Local Government Act (British Columbia)	Land Use and Planning	Land use and planning, environmental quality, climate change
	3	The Environment Act (Manitoba)	Environmental Quality	Environmental quality, land use and planning, climate change
	4	Electricity Act, 1998 (Ontario)	Climate Change	Climate change, land use and planning, vehicles
	5	Community Charter (British Columbia)	Land Use and Planning	Land use and planning, environmental quality, animal and public health
Burt's Constraint (Bridge Acts)	1	Nutrient Management Act (Ontario)	Agricultural Management	Environment quality, animal and public health, land use and planning
	2	Building Act (Quebec)	Oil, Gas and Mining	Land use and planning, oil gas and mining, environmental quality
	3	Safety Codes Act (Alberta)	Land Use and Planning	Land use and planning, environmental quality, animal and public health
	4	Clean Water Act (Ontario)	Environmental Quality	Environmental quality, land use planning, animal and public health
	5	Executive Council Act (Newfoundland and Labrador)	Fisheries and Biodiversity	Environmental quality, land use and planning, climate change

Hub Acts have the shortest paths to all other Acts in the network via shared terms (see Figure 5.1 The network of nutrient-related Acts across Canada. Figure 5.1a and Table 5-2). In part, the hub Acts we identified have many close connections because they tend to be in larger topics with more nodes (e.g. *environmental quality* and *land use and planning*), and therefore have a large number of other similar Acts to connect to. However, these policies also touch on a broad array of issues and are strongly connected to other topics such as *climate change*, or *public and animal health*, resulting in their central position in the network. The broad-reaching nature of these

*environmental quality* and *land use and planning* statutes, and their centrality in the nutrient network, suggests these Acts are already potentially fostering nutrient policy integration among existing legislation and may be key entry points for informing cross-cutting new nutrient policies.

The strongest hub Act in Canada's legislative network is the province of Ontario's Environmental Protection Act (OEPA). The OEPA is the primary pollution control legislation in the province and grants the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks broad powers to deal with the discharge of any contaminants up to and above amounts that are likely to cause adverse effects. This includes setting limits on ammonia, nitrogen dioxides, and nitrous oxide gas<sup>23</sup>. In addition to multiple connections to other legislation in the *environmental quality* topic, the OEPA performs as a hub in the network by including multiple issues that mention both economic pollution sources and environmental outcomes. For example, one of the goals in the OEPA is the cessation of the use of coal as an energy source. This links the OEPA to *climate change* through terms such as "electricity" and "emission", and to *oil, gas and mining* through terms like "coal" and "contaminant".

We also identified potential "bridging" Acts in the network using Burt's Constraint scores (see Figure 5.1a and Table 5-2). Constrained Acts are those whose connected neighbouring Acts share the fewest common neighbours. Because of this feature, constrained Acts connect parts of the network that would otherwise not be connected. We argue that these 'bridging' types of nutrient legislation have the greatest potential to address opportunities for policy integration across the whole network by connecting core issues that are central to nutrient management. The most constrained Act in the nutrient network is Ontario's Nutrient Management Act (ONMA). The purpose of this Act is to "provide for the management of materials containing nutrients in ways that will enhance protection of the natural environment and provide a sustainable future for agricultural operations and rural development<sup>24</sup>. The ONMA addresses how nutrients (particularly from manure, but also in commercial fertilizer and municipal biosolids) should be managed during storage and application to farmland. This Act, which appears in the *agricultural management* topic in Figure 5.1, strongly links to *environmental quality* acts through terms such as "sewage" and "farm" and *animal and public health* acts through "licence", and "disease". This shows how legislation specifically focusing on nutrient management may be an important bridge in Canadian environmental policy, creating connections within and across topics that would otherwise not exist.

## 5.2.3 Similarities and differences in N and P networks

To examine if the networks of legislation that explicitly mention phosphorus (P) or nitrogen (N) reflect the biogeochemical context of these two nutrients in the Canadian environment, we also ran the semantic network analysis on N- and P-specific legislation. 38 Acts explicitly mention both N and P keywords, but more Acts mention only N (n = 36) than mention only P (n = 12) (see Supplementary Materials). The resulting networks identify 5 topics for N and 3 topics for P (see Figure 5.2). Compared to the full network (Figure 5.1) these sub-networks omit prominent topics, especially *animal and public health*, and some Acts are assigned to a single group, such as *agriculture and environment* (which formed two separate topics, *agriculture management* and *environmental quality*, in the full network). Both N and P networks cover *occupational health and safety* and *oil gas and mining*, however since only N is relevant to climate change through nitrous oxide emissions, only the N network included *climate change* and *vehicles* (including NO<sub>x</sub>) as topics (see Figure 5.2).

There are some key similarities between the structure of the full (Figure 5.1) and nutrientspecific (Figure 5.2) networks. For example, environment protection Acts serve as hubs in all three networks. British Columbia's Environmental Management Act and Nova Scotia's Environment Act were the top two ranked Acts for the closeness measure for both N and P (see Figure 5.2). The most constrained Act in both networks is the Ontario's Nutrient Management Act, mirroring trends observed in the full nutrient legislation network from Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.2 Phosphorus (left side, a and c) and nitrogen (right side, b and d) related policies across Canada depicted as network graphs. Edges have been trimmed for visual clarity. Several nodes are labelled to show examples of Acts in each topic group. Act titles that are **bold** are the top 2 "close" hub Acts, italicized are the top 2 "constrained" bridge acts. Graphs c. and d. are contracted networks that simplify the connections between group of Acts. The size of a node represents the number of Acts in the topic group, and the edge thickness represents the weight of the combined edges between Acts in two groups.

### 5.2.4 Role of indirect legislation in novel nutrient policy integration

There is increasing need to integrate nutrient policy beyond direct agricultural operations on farms and farm management<sup>5,25</sup>. Our analysis suggests that policies with indirect relevance to nutrient management may provide the greatest opportunities for new policy integration by expanding the range of topics in the policy network. To this end, many of the 245 Acts we identified in the full network indirectly address nutrient management; only about a third (n = 86) of the Acts included in our analysis mentioned explicit nutrient keywords (e.g., 'nitrous oxide' or 'phosphate'), whereas the rest were included because they mentioned other relevant keywords such as 'manure' or 'fertilizer' (see Supplementary Materials for full list of Acts and keywords). The largest number of the nutrient-focused Acts in Figure 5.1 are in the *environmental quality* topic (n =21), reflecting the emphasis on nutrient management with regards to environmental protection in Canada.

Two examples of considerable potential for nutrient policy integration are the topics *land use and planning* and *food marketing and regulations*, as they contain a relatively large number of Acts in total and a relatively small share of the nutrient-focused Acts shown in Figure 5.2. *Land use and planning* (n = 38) is also the largest topic group in the full network, mainly including Acts that assign municipal responsibilities and powers. Only 4 Acts in this topic explicitly mention nutrient-focused keywords, but they commonly mention terms such as "wastewater" (mentioned in 17 *land use and planning* Acts), "manure" (15), and "fertilizer" (11). Rules, regulations, and bylaws around management of these amendments at the municipal level, which are often focused on disease and nuisance control and prevention, have considerable potential for further nutrient policy integration. For example, British Columbia's Local Government Act, the second most 'close' hub in the full network (Table 3-1), mentions bylaws regarding waste and sewage management for protection of water quality despite not explicitly referencing management of nitrogen or phosphorus. This can be compared to Manitoba's The Planning Act<sub>2</sub> also classified as a *land use and planning* statute, but which explicitly mentions nutrient management. For example, the statute mentions nitrogen management in goals to minimize loss of soil nutrients using strategies such as stormwater retention and treatment, and erosion control.

The *food marketing and regulations* topic also often mentions manure (11) and wastewater (6), but seldom includes nutrient-focused keywords (only mentioned in 2 of 13 texts in this group). This topic addresses issues such as food processing, pricing, packaging, and distribution. Constraints created by economic and regulatory pressures surrounding food production (e.g., licensing requirements, production contracts) have been shown to potentially limit the options farmers have available to them in terms of environmental stewarship<sup>26</sup>. Yet, our results suggest that there is potential to leverage existing regulatory policies in Canada to encourage more sustainable nutrient management options across the food system. For example, linking downstream food waste and manure disposal with upstream aspects of feed and fertilizer management on farms (e.g. most *food marketing and regulations* Acts simply state that manure needs to be removed regularly from slaughterhouses, not what happens to it after)<sup>25,27</sup>. Such opportunities may be especially apparent for the dairy sector, which is one of the main sources of manure nutrients in Canada<sup>28</sup>. Indeed, many *food marketing and regulations* focus on the dairy industry and dairy manure management regulations (5 of 13 Acts).

#### 5.2.5 Alternative network classifications and uncertainties.

Topics can be grouped into larger umbrella groups or smaller subtopics based on the "resolution factor" of the clustering algorithm, so we tested alternative network structures by using different resolution factors to reveal sensitivity of within-topic groupings and potential similarities and

synergies among the Acts. For example, with a lower resolution specified (a network with fewer topic groups), *fisheries and biodiversity* Acts and *animal and public health* Acts from our full network (Figure 5.1) are instead combined because of shared terms (e.g., "animal"). At a higher resolution, the broader *environmental quality* topic is separated evenly into two groups: those dealing with environmental protection and assessment (14 Acts linked through common terms like "project", "waste", "environment", and "assessment") and those related to water quality (22 Acts linked by terms such as "water", "contaminant", "wetland", and "aquifer") (see Supplementary Materials for a full list of Acts assigned to each topic with different resolution factors).

Inventories are the first step in understanding the state of existing nutrient policies and for identifying potential synergies or gaps. Yet, our assessment of connections among policies is somewhat complicated because of how legislation is written. For example, the Federal Canadian Environmental Protection Act sets limits on ammonia emissions at the national level, which are not reiterated in provincial legislation unless stricter regulations are being enacted. Therefore, our findings may not reflect the true 'intensity' of nutrient policy in Canada. Our focus on national and provincial Acts may also miss government documents promoting beneficial management practices or nutrient-related policies at the municipal level (e.g., reducing N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from cities).

### 5.3 Toward greater nutrient policy integration

Our analysis identified Acts that are potential policy 'bridges' and 'hubs', both of which offer opportunities to link themes in the existing Canadian nutrient legislative landscape. By examining Canada's nutrient legislation as a semantic network, our study offers a unique approach to identifying potential entry points for nutrient policy integration both in the Canadian context and beyond. For example, innovative new national policies can be informed by subnational (provincial) legislation that already exists. Existing policies could also be better integrated and coordinated, for which the 'hub' and 'bridge' legislation identified in our analysis represent areas to prioritize (Figure 5.1a).

Our findings reveal existing nutrient-focused policies that already represent integral parts of the nutrient policy landscape in Canada (e.g., Ontario's Nutrient Management Act), which could help inform policy development in other countries. A network perspective further shows links between existing nutrient-focused policies and those with more indirect handling of nutrient themes, where there could be potential for policy integration by focusing on peripheral issues (such as land use planning and food processing) that were not intended to address nutrient management but that are nonetheless important areas for new nutrient policy beyond the farm<sup>25</sup>. Future research could explore this further, for example, by applying semantic network analysis to identify policy synergies (e.g. limiting manure application for nuisance and health purposes works well with limiting manure for nutrient management) through directed network analysis or sentiment analysis<sup>5,20</sup>. A basic principle of effective governance is that policies should be coherent with one another, yet a key challenge for nutrient sustainability is the problem of policy coordination and patterns of conflicting interaction, especially given well established trade-offs between food production and multiple environmental impacts<sup>29</sup>. Improving our knowledge of how different policies interact is a first step to moving towards better nutrient sustainability.

#### **5.4 Methodology:**

### 5.4.1 Identifying Nutrient-Related Legislation

To identify relevant texts for analysis we performed a keyword search of the Canadian Legal Information Institute (CANLII) database (https://www.canlii.org/), which contains the consolidated statutes and regulations of every jurisdiction in Canada<sup>30</sup>. Statutes, also known as Acts, are written laws that have been passed by federal or provincial governments. In Canada, most legislation relies on Regulations for implementation, which are authorized through Acts. We therefore searched for national and provincial Consolidate Statutes and Regulations that were in effect as of January 1, 2022, and then cross-referenced the Acts and Regulations. This ensured that if the main text of an Act did not include a keyword, but an associated Regulation did, the Act was still included in our analysis (Figure 5.3). We used 22 keywords informed by previous nutrient policy studies<sup>5,10</sup> including their stemmed variants (nitrogen, nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxides, nitrate/ite, ammonia/ium, phosphorus/ate, nutrient, wastewater, effluent, manure, fertilizer, compost, greenhouse gas, climate change, water pollution, water quality, eutrophication, hypoxia, air pollution, air quality, soil quality, ozone).

We then screened the Acts for relevance to nutrient management. The following were excluded because they only mention nutrient keywords in relation to very specific circumstances. We excluded Acts dealing regulating nitrous oxide in medical uses, littering in provincial parks, swimming pool chemicals, explosives storage or transportation, and Acts prohibiting the addition of nitrous oxide to fuel. To maintain a consistent jurisdictional and geographic scope across our analysis we also omitted Acts that were aimed at local or regional applications (e.g. Lake Simcoe Act, City of Winnipeg Act). We also further refined the documents and did not include any Acts that only included the name of another Act (e.g. a piece of legislation that was only included

because it referenced the Nutrient Management Act). After this screening process (Figure 5.3), our analysis included 245 Acts (see Supplementary Materials for full list of Acts used in the analysis).



*Figure 5.3 Flow chart depicting process of Act selection and screening for the semantic network analysis in this study.* 

### 5.4.2 Semantic Network Analysis

To perform the semantic network analysis, we first created a corpus from the text of each Act. The texts were then tokenized and lemmatized, a process that replaces each word with its most basic syntactic form, or "lemma" (e.g. running becomes run). We then removed stopwords, numbers, symbols, short words (those under 3 characters) and geographic words (e.g. Canada, Manitoba, Hudson) to ensure location-invariant grouping. This helps reduce unnecessary content and 'noise' from the text analysis (see Supplementary Materials for list of removed words)<sup>31</sup>. We then ran the texts through a text network program Textnet<sup>17</sup>. The edges (common words) between each Act were weighted according to the sum of the term frequency inverse document frequency (TFIDF) for co-occurring words. This weighting dampens the effect of common but less meaningful words. Acts were clustered into topic groups using the Leiden detection algorithm<sup>32</sup>, then manually checked by the authors for cohesion. To examine the effect of the 'resolution' variable, which allows for identification of more or fewer topics groups, we ran the clustering algorithm using a value of 1 (the standard value), 1.7 (the lowest resolution needed to identify groups of only 1 Act), as well as the middle value between these (1.35).

To identify policy hubs and bridges we used two common measures of network centrality:

1) "Closeness centrality", which measures the shortest paths required to reach every other node (Act) in the network<sup>15</sup>, in this case the shortest paths being the edges with the highest TFIDF between documents. A node is considered a "hub" when its closeness value is relatively lower than other nodes in the network.

2) "Burt's constraint", which identifies nodes that fill structural holes in the network. This measure captures the extent to which a node has access to many other non-redundant nodes (i.e., a node's neighbours do not share common neighbours). A node is considered a "bridge" when it's relative constraint value is lower than other nodes, indicating it has fewer redundant connections to other nodes and therefore acts as an important link<sup>14</sup>.

We also tested network centrality in terms of the "Betweenness centrality" measure<sup>33</sup>, which shows nodes that have the greater number of shortest paths traveling through them to other nodes in the network. However, we chose to focus on the above two measures of centrality here

because the "betweenness" measure was especially sensitive to the length of the text in an Act and primarily highlighted Acts with a very short body of text.

Finally, to examine the similarities and differences between Acts oriented towards specific nutrients, we also ran the text network analysis for Acts that only explicitly included nitrogen-related keywords (nitrogen, ammonia/ammonium, nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxides, nitrate/ite) (n = 74) and phosphorus-related keywords (phosphorus, phosphate) (n = 51) again using the Leiden clustering method and a resolution of 1.35. A full list of all Acts identified can be found in the Supplementary Material.

## Acknowledgments

The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose. This work was supported by the Trottier Institute for Science and Public Policy (TISPP) at McGill University. The authors would like to thank A Roulet for discussions on the use of the CanLII database.

### **Open Research and Data Availability Statement**

All analysis was done using R version  $(4.0.4)^{34}$ . The R scripts and data used to execute the analyses in this paper are preserved at Figshare<sup>35</sup>, under CC BY 4.0 license.

### **5.5 References**

1. Lade, S. J. *et al.* Human impacts on planetary boundaries amplified by Earth system interactions. *Nat Sustain* **3**, 119–128 (2020).

2. Galloway, J. N. & Cowling, E. B. Reflections on 200 years of Nitrogen, 20 years later. *Ambio* (2021) doi:10.1007/s13280-020-01464-z.

3. DeFries, R. & Nagendra, H. Ecosystem management as a wicked problem. *Science* **356**, 265–270 (2017).

4. Ross, J. Z. & Omelon, S. Canada: Playing catch-up on phosphorus policy. *FACETS* **3**, 642–664 (2018).

5. Yang, A. L. *et al.* Policies to combat nitrogen pollution in South Asia: gaps and opportunities. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **17**, 025007 (2022).

6. Kanter, D. R. & Brownlie, W. J. Joint nitrogen and phosphorus management for sustainable development and climate goals. *Environmental Science & Policy* **92**, 1–8 (2019).

7. Metson, G. S. *et al.* The U.S. consumer phosphorus footprint: where do nitrogen and phosphorus diverge? *Environ. Res. Lett.* (2020) doi:10.1088/1748-9326/aba781.

8. Oita, A., Wirasenjaya, F., Liu, J., Webeck, E. & Matsubae, K. Trends in the food nitrogen and phosphorus footprints for Asia's giants: China, India, and Japan. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* **157**, (2020).

9. Shortle, J. S., Mihelcic, J. R., Zhang, Q. & Arabi, M. Nutrient control in water bodies: A systems approach. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **49**, 517–533 (2020).

10. Kanter, D. R., Chodos, O., Nordland, O., Rutigliano, M. & Winiwarter, W. Gaps and opportunities in nitrogen pollution policies around the world. *Nat Sustain* **3**, 956–963 (2020).

11. Tosun, J. & Lang, A. Policy integration: mapping the different concepts. *Policy Studies* **38**, 553–570 (2017).

 Persson, Å. & Runhaar, H. Conclusion: Drawing lessons for Environmental Policy Integration and prospects for future research. *Environmental Science & Policy* 85, 141–145 (2018). 13. Newman, M. E. J. Modularity and community structure in networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **103**, 8577–8582 (2006).

14. Burt, R. S. Structural Holes and Good Ideas. *American Journal of Sociology* **110**, 349–399 (2004).

15. Drieger, P. Semantic Network Analysis as a Method for Visual Text Analytics. *Procedia* – *Social and Behavioral Sciences* **79**, 4–17 (2013).

16. Shim, J., Park, C. & Wilding, M. Identifying policy frames through semantic network analysis: an examination of nuclear energy policy across six countries. *Policy Sci* **48**, 51–83 (2015).

17. Bail, C. A. Combining natural language processing and network analysis to examine how advocacy organizations stimulate conversation on social media. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **113**, 11823–11828 (2016).

18. Bayarsaikhan, T., Kim, M.-H., Oh, H. J. & Gim, T.-H. T. Toward sustainable development? Trend analysis of environmental policy in Korea from 1987 to 2040. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 1–15 (2022) doi:10.1080/09640568.2022.2036602.

19. Fariña García, M. C., De Nicolás De Nicolás, V. L., Yagüe Blanco, J. L. & Fernández, J. L. Semantic network analysis of sustainable development goals to quantitatively measure their interactions. *Environmental Development* **37**, 100589 (2021).

20. Weitz, N., Carlsen, H., Nilsson, M. & Skånberg, K. Towards systemic and contextual priority setting for implementing the 2030 Agenda. *Sustain Sci* **13**, 531–548 (2018).

21. Ahlström, H. & Cornell, S. E. Governance, polycentricity and the global nitrogen and phosphorus cycles. *Environmental Science & Policy* **79**, 54–65 (2018).

22. McCourt, S. & MacDonald, G. K. Decomposing Three Decades of Nitrogen Emissions in Canada. *Earth's Future* **10**, e2022EF002774 (2022).

23. Environmental Protection Act. RSO 1990, c E.19 (CanLII, 1990).

24. Nutrient Management Act. SO 2002, c 4 (CanLII, 2002).

25. Kanter, D. R. *et al.* Nitrogen pollution policy beyond the farm. *Nat Food* 1–6 (2019) doi:10.1038/s43016-019-0001-5.

 Hendrickson, M. K. & James, H. S. The Ethics of Constrained Choice: How the Industrialization of Agriculture Impacts Farming and Farmer Behavior. *J Agric Environ Ethics* 18, 269–291 (2005).

27. Harder, R., Giampietro, M. & Smukler, S. Towards a circular nutrient economy. A novel way to analyze the circularity of nutrient flows in food systems. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* **172**, 105693 (2021).

28. McCourt, S. & MacDonald, G. K. Provincial nitrogen footprints highlight variability in drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions in Canada. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **16**, 095007 (2021).

29. Bennett, E. M., Peterson, G. D. & Gordon, L. J. Understanding relationships among multiple ecosystem services: Relationships among multiple ecosystem services. *Ecology Letters* **12**, 1394–1404 (2009).

30. Poulin, D. CanLII: How Law Societies and Academia Can Make Free Access to the Law a Reality. *Journal of information Law and Technology* 13 (2004).

31. Biesbroek, R., Wright, S. J., Eguren, S. K., Bonotto, A. & Athanasiadis, I. N. Policy attention to climate change impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: a global assessment of National Communications (1994–2019). *Climate Policy* **0**, 1–15 (2022).

32. Traag, V. A., Waltman, L. & van Eck, N. J. From Louvain to Leiden: guaranteeing wellconnected communities. *Sci Rep* **9**, 5233 (2019).

33. Newman, M. E. J. & Girvan, M. Finding and evaluating community structure in networks. *Phys. Rev. E* **69**, 026113 (2004).

34. R Core Team. (2021). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>

35. McCourt, S. (2022). Integration points for sustainable nutrient policy in Canada (Version 1.0)
[Software][Dataset]. Figshare. <u>https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.21304980</u>

### **Chapter 6 Discussion**

My findings show clear difference in provincial Nr emissions that are driven by underlying geography, as well as parallels in terms of legislative attention to different sources of Nr across provinces (e.g., oil extraction legislation in Alberta). For example, I found three distinct areas of Canada that show similar characteristics within their region in terms of wastewater treatment, food production and energy sources: *coastal areas* (the Atlantic provinces of New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia and Newfoundland and Labrador, as well as British Columbia), the *prairie provinces* (Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba), and *central Canada* (Ontario and Quebec). In this chapter, I elaborate on the results from the previous three analysis chapters and the distinctions in sources of Nr emissions between regions in Canada. I compare the major sources and drivers of Nr emissions identified by using different methods in Chapters 3 (an N footprint model, a consumption perspective) and 4 (a synthesis of national and provincial emissions inventories, a territorial accounting perspective). I also include additional examples of relevant legislation that I was not able to discuss in Chapter 5 due to length constraints. Finally, I expand on the important role Canada plays as major global exporter of goods and resources.

# 6.1 Comparing Prairie and central provinces: production vs consumption

There are multiple ways to assign responsibility for emissions (as described in Chapter 2). My research in this dissertation has primarily focused on territorial (accounting for direct emissions) and consumption (accounting for upstream emissions) approaches (see A comparison of different accounting perspectives, Figure 6.1). Furthermore, much of my analysis has drawn on the prairie provinces (Alberta and Saskatchewan) and central provinces (Ontario and Quebec) as case study provinces because of their high total N<sub>r</sub> emissions and the differences in per capita N<sub>r</sub> emissions. Alberta and Saskatchewan have the highest per capita emissions, while the more populous

Ontario and Quebec have among the lowest. Comparing these four provinces provides a clear example of how underlying geography influences  $N_r$  emissions. They also present a useful case to compare the different results between accounting methods for provinces with strong natural-resource oriented economies to those with larger populations and overall consumption.



Figure 6.1 A comparison of different accounting perspectives.

The geography of Alberta and Saskatchewan is quite different as compared to Ontario and Quebec. Alberta and Saskatchewan are defined by large flat plains with fertile soils that cover much of southern parts of these provinces. Alberta and Saskatchewan also have underlying sedimentary rock with rich reservoirs of gas and oil. Ontario and Quebec also have fertile soils, especially around the Great Lakes and Saint Lawrence Seaway (see Figure 2.2). However, there are more limited deposits of oil, gas or coal in these provinces.

Because of the availability of fossil fuel deposits and favorable conditions for agriculture, both Alberta and Saskatchewan's economies have very strong fossil fuel extraction and agricultural sectors in terms of share of provincial GDP. Furthermore, these provinces' energy grids are heavily reliant on fossil fuels. Quebec and Ontario have reasonably strong agricultural sectors as well but much larger population centers than Alberta or Saskatchewan (60% of Canada's population lives in these two provinces, and ~40% lives in the just Windsor-Quebec City corridor) and their energy comes predominantly from nuclear energy or hydro.

These differences in geographic and socio-economic characteristics are reflected in differences between the four provinces'  $N_r$  emissions as well as in differences between accounting methods. Table 6-1 shows a comparison of the results from Chapter 3's footprint accounting and Chapter 4's inventory-based  $N_r$  emissions, by sector for the four example provinces in the year 2017.

Table 6-1 Comparison of total and per capita Nr emissions using an N footprint approach compared to a synthesis of national and provincial emissions inventories. Alberta, Saskatchewan, Quebec, and Ontario were chosen as example provinces as they have among the largest total and per capita  $N_r$  emissions. Sectors that have more than a 50% difference in results between the two methods are highlighted in yellow, those with greater than 100% difference are highlighted in orange.

Geography		N footprint (McCourt & MacDonald, 2021)		Territorial (McCourt & MacDonald, 2022)		Difference (%) between N footprint and Territorial	
	Sector	Per capita (kg/cap)	Total (Gg)	Per capita (kg/cap)	Total (Gg)	Per capita	Total
Alberta	Crops	3.8	16.1	7.8	32.8	105%	104%
	Meat	9.4	40.3	15.9	67.1	69%	67%
	Wastewater Treatment	3.0	12.9	2.5	10.3	-17%	-20%
	Energy Generation	5.4	23.1	6.1	25.9	13%	12%
	Oil and Gas Industry	4.0	17.3	27.6	116.3	590%	572%
	Other Industry	2.1	8.9	3.3	13.9	57%	56%
	Transport	11.4	48.8	11.5	48.6	1%	0%
Saskatchewan	Crops	3.7	4.2	49.9	57.0	1249%	1257%
	Meat	9.6	11.2	28.3	32.4	195%	189%
	Wastewater Treatment	3.2	3.6	3.3	3.8	3%	6%
	Energy Generation	9.3	10.8	9.4	10.7	1%	-1%
	Oil and Gas Industry	0.9	1.1	6.4	7.3	611%	564%
	Other Industry	1.3	1.5	1.8	2.1	38%	40%
	Transport	22.5	26.0	22.1	25.4	-2%	-2%
Quebec	Crops	3.8	32.4	1.4	11.6	-63%	-64%
	Meat	8.9	73.9	5.1	58.9	-43%	-20%
	Wastewater Treatment	3.1	26.1	5.3	43.6	71%	67%
	Energy Generation	0.8	6.6	0.9	7.5	13%	14%
	Oil and Gas Industry	0.01	0.1	0.1	0.7	700%	600%
	Other Industry	1.2	10.1	1.3	10.7	8%	6%
	Transport	5.9	49.2	6.0	49.8	2%	1%
Ontario	Crops	3.7	38.9	1.4	19.0	-62%	-51%
	Meat	9.5	134.5	4.0	55.7	-58%	-59%
	Wastewater Treatment	3.1	43.8	3.0	41.5	-3%	-5%
	Energy Generation	0.8	11.7	0.8	11.8	0%	1%
	Oil and Gas Industry	0.02	0.4	0.1	2.5	400%	525%
	Other Industry	1.0	13.5	1.0	13.8	0%	2%
	Transport	4.0	56.2	4.1	56.8	2%	1%

Alberta and Saskatchewan, which have most of the agricultural land in Canada, but relatively small populations, have much larger total and per capita territorial crop and meat related emissions as compared to their footprints associated with crop and meat consumption (more  $N_r$  emissions are associated with the production of agricultural goods than consumption in these two provinces). For example, territorial total and per capita  $N_r$  emissions associated with meat consumption and production are ~70% larger in Alberta as compared to footprint accounting, and ~200% larger in Saskatchewan. Conversely, Ontario and Quebec, which have a reasonably strong agriculture sector as a share of Canada's total output but a much larger population than Alberta or Saskatchewan, have higher footprint  $N_r$  emissions than production emissions for food-related sectors (e.g., total territorial  $N_r$  emissions associated with crop consumption and production are 64% and 51% smaller than Quebec and Ontario's meat consumption footprints, respectively).

Territorial emissions for the oil and gas industry are also much higher as compared to the footprint approach across all four provinces (total territorial emissions for oil and gas industry are 572%, 564%, 600% and 525% higher than consumption emissions for Alberta, Saskatchewan, Quebec, and Ontario respectively). In both Alberta and Saskatchewan, which are the main producers of oil and gas in Canada, this is because of the amount of oil and gas extracted and exported. However, this trend is also true in Ontario and Quebec, even though total and per capita territorial oil and gas emissions are much smaller as compared to the western provinces. There are no significant oil fields in Ontario or Quebec, however there are several large oil and gas refineries which refine crude oil and gas imported from western Canada, which is then exported to the US Midwest and eastern Canada (Canada Energy Regulator, 2021).

Legislation in these provinces also broadly follow the consumption and production trends mentioned above. For example, Ontario, with its large population and N footprint, has begun to enact legislation that is oriented towards forming a circular economy and reducing waste streams. The province enacted both the Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act and the Waste diversion Transition Act in 2016. These laws have the goal to protect the natural environment and human health, minimize greenhouse gas emission, increase opportunities and markets for recovered resources through the reuse and recycling of waste across all sectors of the economy (Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act, 2016, 2016).

While currently most regulations associated with these Acts focuses on electronic waste and hazardous materials, there is potential here to expand the legislation to be applicable to nutrients. With both large population centers and a strong agricultural sector, Ontario has the capacity for nutrient circulatory at the "bioregional" scale, where producers and consumers can engage more easily due to similar ecological and social characteristics (Harder et al., 2021). In fact a recent study showed that Ontario's inorganic N and P fertilizer inputs to agriculture could be reduced by ~13% and 19% respectively if its current organic waste diversion was increased by 30% (Boh & Clark, 2020).

On the other hand, Saskatchewan recently enacted the Chemical Fertilizer Incentive Act. This legislation gives a tax credit on capital expenditures for new or expanded chemical fertilizer production facilities (The Saskatchewan Chemical Fertilizer Incentive Act, 2020). Saskatchewan already produces the majority of potash fertilizer in Canada, but had only one out of Canada's 11 nitrogen production plants (Alberta on the other hand has 8) (*Canadian Fertilizer Industry: Keeping Canada Growing*, 2021). This Act is already having an effect. Northern Nutrients Ltd.

announced plans to build a sulfur-urea plant, the first non-potash fertilizer manufacturing plant in Saskatchewan since 1992 (Pratt, 2021).

There is no one "right way" to account for  $N_r$  emissions and using several accounting methods provides a multi-perspective view that is helpful in obtaining a holistic picture of drivers of  $N_r$ emissions. Using different methods also provides different insights into the responsibility for managing emissions. N footprints focus on changing consumer behaviour, whereas provincial inventories focus on the contribution of different economic sectors within the borders of the province. For example, this comparison of results shows that consumption-oriented education, like food labelling and encouraging people to eat less meat, may be more impactful in reducing  $N_r$  emissions in the case of Ontario or Quebec. Alternatively, because territorial emissions tend to be much higher in Alberta and Saskatchewan, a focus on more efficient food production might be a better option. Of course, multiple interventions are often needed, but multi-perspective analysis such as this can provide additional insight into what options might be the most targeted.

## 6.2 Producer-consumer responsibility: accounting for exports

In addition to consumption and territorial accounting, there is also 'production accounting' which is also known as the 'extraction based principle' (Steininger et al., 2016). This approach is often used in relation to carbon and fossil fuel accounting, in the case of  $N_r$  it means that the country or area which first creates new  $N_r$  would be responsible for all downstream emissions, including after export (see Figure 6.1). While this accounting perspective was outside the scope of my dissertation, I think it is worthwhile to discuss the broad implications taking this accounting perspective has for Canadian  $N_r$  mitigation responsibility.

Canada has aggressive growth goals for several economic sectors that are traditionally  $N_r$ intensive and export-oriented, including agricultural production and fossil fuel extraction suggestion that there should be additional policy focus on production accounting in Canada. This is especially true in the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan which export most of the agricultural goods and fossil fuels produced in Canada, and where the agricultural sector is considered to have some of the highest economic growth potential (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 2021).

Both Alberta and Saskatchewan have laid out provincial growth strategies that rely strongly on increasing output from the agricultural and oil and gas sectors. In Saskatchewan, 11 of the 30 goals set out in the province's growth plan relate to increasing agricultural output and increasing exports. For example, by 2030 the government wants to increase crop production to 45 million metric tonnes (from 35.4 MMT in 2018) and increase oil production by 25 per cent (to 600,000 barrels per day) (Government of Saskatchewan, 2020). In Alberta, the government has plans to expand primary agriculture commodity exports by 7.5% by 2023 (Government of Alberta, 2020a), and to grow oil sands production from 3.1 million barrels per day (bbl/d) to 4.0 bbl/d by 2029 (Government of Alberta, 2020b). All these goals will most likely increase N<sub>r</sub> emissions in these provinces.

Encouraging the export of food and other goods not only has the potential to increase direct  $N_r$ emissions associated with food production and fossil fuel extraction, but also indirect emissions associated with the transport of these goods. For example, Saskatchewan's top export destinations outside of the United States are China, Japan and India, and the goods travel to these countries primarily by shipping (Government of Saskatchewan, 2020). Shipping is a relatively 'dirty' form of transport in terms of  $N_r$  emissions because it is generally powered by low-grade fossil fuels, producing more NO<sub>x</sub> than other fuel types. Marine shipping has been a difficult area to regulate in terms of emissions reductions and has seen fewer improvements than other transport sectors like personal vehicles. This difficulty is partly due to the international nature of the marine shipping industry: regulations can be more difficult to agree on and are certainly harder to enforce (Cullinane & Cullinane, 2013). Furthermore, some solutions to improve carbon emissions from marine transport may increase nitrogen emissions (e.g., using ammonia as a shipping fuel (Wolfram et al., 2022).

Yet N<sub>r</sub> from marine transport and export emissions are not counted towards Saskatchewan's N<sub>r</sub> emissions when looking at N footprints or provincial inventories. Marine transport emissions are concentrated in the Atlantic provinces, British Columbia and Quebec (see Figure 3.4 for provincial N footprints and Figure 4.3 for relative N<sub>r</sub> emissions by province and source sector), given that they have extensive maritime coastlines and seaports and access to shipping routes. Using an export-oriented accounting perspective could therefore in theory increase the N<sub>r</sub> emissions Saskatchewan is potentially responsible for.

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, beyond producing and exporting food and fuel, Canada is a major producer of synthetic fertilizer and is among the top 10 producers of N fertilizer in the world (FAOSTAT, 2016), and there are incentives currently in place to grow this role. The Chemical Fertilizer Incentive Act has the potential to exacerbate N<sub>r</sub> pollution by creating more new N<sub>r</sub>. However this type of legislation also provides the potential to include a 'technologyforcing' approach to reducing N<sub>r</sub> emissions by requiring fertilizers produced in, and exported from, Canada to be enhanced-efficiency (Kanter & Searchinger, 2018). This 'production oriented' approach could result in more efficient NUE throughout multiple downstream supply chains both within Canada, and globally. All this growth potential for producing and using new

 $N_r$  suggests that Canada needs to focus on its role as a global producer and exporter of foods, fertilizer and fossil fuels and ensure that the production occurs in a sustainable manner, especially as each sector grows. The role of international and interprovincial trade should be examined closely with an eye to assessing full supply-chain NUE from multiple supply chain perspectives.

In this chapter I discussed differences and trends in underlying provincial geography and how this impacts  $N_r$  emissions. I expanded on the results from my previous three analysis chapters and compare the major sources and drivers of  $N_r$  emissions when using consumption and territorial accounting methods. I then gave examples of relevant legislation that follow some of these provincial geographic trends. Finally, I discussed a third potential accounting perspective not explored in my research, production accounting, and the important role Canada plays as major global exporter of goods and resources.

#### **Chapter 7** Conclusions and future research

### 7.1 Original contributions to research

Abundant  $N_r$  has been, and will continue to be, essential in growing enough food for the global population. However,  $N_r$  in the environment is resulting in serious negative impacts to the environment and human health. Despite the importance of sustainably managing  $N_r$  there remain gaps in our understanding of underlying drivers of  $N_r$  emissions, and the policy environment in which decisions are made. This thesis responds to several of the gaps in our understanding of drivers of  $N_r$  emissions through the three empirical chapters where I examine the role of different factors as drivers of  $N_r$  emissions in Canada, and the related nutrient policy landscape. Each chapter has contributed to scholarship by providing novel models and methodologies, drawing an interdisciplinary analysis and synthesis that helps us better understand drivers of  $N_r$  emissions in the Canadian context.

In Chapter 3 I build on our understanding of how consumption-oriented N<sub>r</sub> drivers vary with different regional geographic contexts across a large country. Specifically, I developed a novel N footprint model for Canada that reflects sub-national geographic variation in production and consumption patterns between provinces, a detail often obscured in previous national scale N footprint studies. Combining top-down and bottom-up approaches I showed that transport, beef consumption, and wastewater treatment are important sources of N<sub>r</sub> emissions nationally. Provincial total and per capita N footprints varied widely, largely due differences in reliance on the fossil fuels sector, including emissions from energy generation and the oil and gas industry. This chapter provided novel insights into drivers of consumption oriented N<sub>r</sub> emissions, showed the importance of considering subnational variation and local contexts when examining N

footprints, and demonstrated the challenges of attributing  $N_r$  emissions, especially in exportoriented economies.

Chapter 4 expands on our understanding of how the role of changing economic structure affects whole-economy Nr emissions. I examined the role of several socio-economic factors over time by synthesizing multiple national and provincial Nr emission datasets, as well as agricultural and wastewater statistics to estimate total and per capita Nr emissions trends across Canada's 10 provinces between 1990 and 2017. This chapter also presents the first index decomposition analysis of whole-economy Nr emissions. This analysis showed that while overall Nr emissions have generally been decreasing since around 2000, agriculture has replaced fossil fuel combustion as the largest source of Nr emissions, and in some provinces agricultural emissions are increasing. The decomposition analysis showed that population and affluence have acted towards increasing Nr emissions but have generally been offset by improvements in emission intensity. Changes in economic structure acted as both a positive and negative pressure on Nr changes, depending on the province. This chapter improves our understanding of drivers of  $N_r$ emissions by providing a comprehensive assessment of multiple types of N<sub>r</sub> emissions over time, as well as a quantitative analysis of the impact of changes in several socio-economic factors on N<sub>r</sub> emissions.

Finally, in Chapter 5, I propose the application of a novel methodology to identify areas for new nutrient policy integration, which is relevant not only in Canada but to other jurisdictions worldwide. This chapter was the first example of semantic network analysis being used to assess a nutrient policy landscape and highlight new areas for intervention and improve policy cohesion. I used nutrient-related legislation in Canada as a case study, showing how this new approach can highlight innovative entry points for better policy integration. I created a network

of legislative texts linked by shared terms and uncovered important policy groupings. These ranged from agricultural management laws directly involved with nutrient management to more indirectly related food marketing regulations, which may provide relatively easy areas for new nutrient policy integration. I also identified legislation that was acting as "policy hubs" or "policy bridges", and that were strongly connected within the network or creating important links in the network. These types of laws were examples of existing important points of policy integration that could be emulated. This chapter showed the breadth and depth of topics involved in nutrient management, highlighted key differences in nitrogen and phosphorus nutrient legislation networks, and demonstrated a new way to examine policy landscapes in relation to policy integration.

### 7.2 Directions for future research

In this thesis, I examined underlying drivers of  $N_r$  emissions in the context of Canada. My findings raise new questions and present directions for future research.

First, there are several points in which my N footprint model could be expanded to provide new insights into drivers of  $N_r$  emissions. Given their relative importance to Canadian N footprints, obtaining additional data related to meat production and consumption should be a priority area. In particular, more refined publicly available data are needed on typical livestock feed types across livestock systems in Canada, as well as on changes in human diets and food waste, to improve calculations of N footprints, including at more local scales. Data on food consumption and waste in Canada is sparse, especially at the subnational level, while some studies suggest that food waste is increasing (Abdulla et al., 2013; Hanson & Ahmadi, 2022). Future research

could also incorporate additional non-food agricultural goods, such as crops used for textiles (e.g., hemp and flax) and bioenergy (e.g., canola for biodiesel and corn for ethanol), as well as timber products and pet food.

Second, my thesis highlights the complications in assigning responsibility for export-oriented emissions, an issue of particular importance given that Canada is a major producer and exporter of agricultural goods and oil and gas resources. Complementary approaches to estimating N<sub>r</sub> emissions could be used to provide additional insight both at the national level in terms of Canada's role in global N<sub>r</sub> emissions, and at the subnational level in terms of interprovincial trade. For example, using environmentally extended input-output tables (which connect environmental losses to flows of goods and services by tracking transaction values between economic sectors and industries) or physical input-output tables (which track the physical flow of goods) could help provide additional understanding into the economic drivers along supply chains and N flows (Liu et al., 2018; Singh et al., 2017). Environmentally extended input-output tables do not.

Third, I examined policy attention to nutrient issues in Canada. My focus was on legislative documents as these are the result of extended focus on an issue. However, there are multiple types of documents that could be examined to assess policy attention including, such as national and provincial economic development strategies, as well as sustainability action plans. Including additional types of documents would provide new perspectives and provide insights into lateral (between government levels, e.g., provincial and municipal) as well as horizontal (between agencies at the same level of government) policy integration. There are also alternative approaches to assessing policy attention that could provide supplementary knowledge, including

assessing federal and provincial level spending on different issues that would provide new insights.

## 7.4 Closing remarks

To better manage N<sub>r</sub>, we must develop strategies that balance our need for food, energy, fibers and other basic necessities of life, while managing the impacts of changes in natural biogeochemical cycles that impacts everything from eutrophication to climate change. My research was facilitated by improvements in access to and availability of data that have allowed us to better understand the human drivers of nutrient stores and flows in the environment, but hard numbers alone will not address the complicated factors driving Nr emissions. Scientists must increasingly use diverse approaches that assess and reflect the complexity of actors and interests involved with Nr management, from examining multiple socio-economic drivers, to accounting for geographic context, to examining different accounting perspectives when assigning mitigation responsibility. I have endeavoured to show in my research how Canada provides an example of the importance of factoring in socio-economic and geographic diversity when addressing Nr accounting. I also sought to show how explicitly considering these contextual factors has an important role to play in terms of informing the individual choices, management decisions, and governance needed to reduce Nr emissions. As a key exporter globally of fertilizer, food, and fuel Canada could become a leader in sustainable N production and use.
#### **References for non-manuscript chapters**

- Abdulla, M., Martin, R., Gooch, M., & Jovel, E. (2013). The Importance of Quantifying Food
  Waste in Canada. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development*, 3(2), 137–151. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2013.032.018
- Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. (2021, November 5). *Overview of Canada's agriculture and agri-food sector*. https://agriculture.canada.ca/en/canadas-agriculture-sectors/overview-canadas-agriculture-and-agri-food-sector
- Ang, B. W. (2004). Decomposition analysis for policymaking in energy: Which is the preferred method? *Energy Policy*, 32(9), 1131–1139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(03)00076-4
- Ang, B. W., & Zhang, F. Q. (2000). A survey of index decomposition analysis in energy and environmental studies. *Energy*, 25(12), 1149–1176. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-5442(00)00039-6
- Bail, C. A. (2016). Combining natural language processing and network analysis to examine how advocacy organizations stimulate conversation on social media. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(42), 11823–11828.
   https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607151113
- Bayarsaikhan, T., Kim, M.-H., Oh, H. J., & Gim, T.-H. T. (2022). Toward sustainable development? Trend analysis of environmental policy in Korea from 1987 to 2040. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2022.2036602
- Bodirsky, B. L., Popp, A., Lotze-Campen, H., Dietrich, J. P., Rolinski, S., Weindl, I., Schmitz, C., Müller, C., Bonsch, M., Humpenöder, F., Biewald, A., & Stevanovic, M. (2014).Reactive nitrogen requirements to feed the world in 2050 and potential to mitigate

nitrogen pollution. *Nature Communications*, 5(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4858

- Boh, M. Y., & Clark, O. G. (2020). Nitrogen and phosphorus flows in Ontario's food systems.
   *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 154, 104639.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104639
- Burt, R. S. (2004). Structural Holes and Good Ideas. *American Journal of Sociology*, *110*(2), 349–399. https://doi.org/10.1086/421787
- Canada Energy Regulator. (2021, January 29). *NEB Provincial and Territorial Energy Profiles*. https://www.cer-rec.gc.ca/en/data-analysis/energy-markets/provincial-territorialenergy-profiles/index.html
- Canadian Fertilizer Industry: Keeping Canada Growing. (2021). Fertilizer Canada. https://fertilizercanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Fertilizer-Canada-Transport-101.pdf
- *CIRAIG/OpenIO-Canada*. (2022). [Python]. CIRAIG. https://github.com/CIRAIG/OpenIO-Canada
- Clair, T. (2014). Interactions between reactive nitrogen and the Canadian landscape: A budget approach. *Biogeochemical Cycles*, 28, 1343–1357. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014GB004880

Cui, S., Shi, Y., Groffman, P. M., Schlesinger, W. H., & Zhu, Y.-G. (2013). Centennial-scale analysis of the creation and fate of reactive nitrogen in China (1910–2010). *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(6), 2052–2057. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1221638110

- Cullinane, K., & Cullinane, S. (2013). Atmospheric Emissions from Shipping: The Need for Regulation and Approaches to Compliance. *Transport Reviews*, 33(4), 377–401. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2013.806604
- de Boer, P., & Rodrigues, J. F. D. (2020). Decomposition analysis: When to use which method? *Economic Systems Research*, 32(1), 1–28.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09535314.2019.1652571

- De Jong, R., Drury, C. F., Yang, J. Y., & Campbell, C. A. (2009). Risk of water contamination by nitrogen in Canada as estimated by the IROWC-N model. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90(10), 3169–3181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.05.034
- de Vries, W., Kros, J., Kroeze, C., & Seitzinger, S. P. (2013). Assessing planetary and regional nitrogen boundaries related to food security and adverse environmental impacts. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 5(3), 392–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2013.07.004
- DeFries, R., & Nagendra, H. (2017). Ecosystem management as a wicked problem. *Science*, *356*(6335), 265–270. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aal1950
- Dhar, A. R., Oita, A., & Matsubae, K. (2022). Food Nitrogen Footprint of the Indian Subcontinent Toward 2050. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2022.899431
- Drieger, P. (2013). Semantic Network Analysis as a Method for Visual Text Analytics. *Procedia* - *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 79, 4–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.05.053
- Drury, C. F., Yang, J. Y., De Jong, R., Yang, X. M., Huffman, E. C., Kirkwood, V., & Reid, K. (2007). Residual soil nitrogen indicator for agricultural land in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 87(Special Issue), 167–177. https://doi.org/10.4141/S06-064

- Dukes, E. S. M., Galloway, J., Band, L. E., Cattaneo, L., Groffman, P. M., Leach, A. M., & Castner, E. A. (2020). A community nitrogen footprint analysis of Baltimore City, Maryland. *Environmental Research Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab76dc
- Einarsson, R., & Cederberg, C. (2019). Is the nitrogen footprint fit for purpose? An assessment of models and proposed uses. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *240*, 198–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.03.083
- Einarsson, R., Henriksson, M., Hoffmann, M., & Cederberg, C. (2022). The nitrogen footprint of Swedish food consumption. *Environmental Research Letters*, 17(10), 104030. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac9246
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2020a). *Canada's Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory*. https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/fa1c88a8-bf78-4fcb-9c1e-2a5534b92131
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2020b). *Gothenburg Protocol to reduce transboundary air pollution*. https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climatechange/corporate/international-affairs/partnerships-organizations/gothenburg-protocolair-pollution.html
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021a). National inventory report 1990-2019: Greenhouse gas sources and sinks in Canada: Executive Summary. Environment and Climate Change Canada. https://publications.gc.ca/site/eng/9.816345/publication.html
  Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021b). Canada's Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory Report 1990-2019. https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2021/eccc/En81-30-2019-eng.pdf

Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021c). *Greenhouse gas sources and sinks: Executive summary 2021*. https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climatechange/services/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-emissions/sources-sinks-executivesummary-2021.html

Erisman, J. W., Leach, A., Bleeker, A., Atwell, B., Cattaneo, L., & Galloway, J. (2018). An Integrated Approach to a Nitrogen Use Efficiency (NUE) Indicator for the Food Production–Consumption Chain. *Sustainability*, *10*(4), 925. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10040925

Erisman, J. W., Sutton, M. A., Galloway, J., Klimont, Z., & Winiwarter, W. (2008). How a century of ammonia synthesis changed the world. *Nature Geoscience*, 1(10), 636–639. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo325

FAOSTAT. (2016). Fertilizers by Nutrient. http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/RFN

- Fariña García, M. C., De Nicolás De Nicolás, V. L., Yagüe Blanco, J. L., & Fernández, J. L. (2021). Semantic network analysis of sustainable development goals to quantitatively measure their interactions. *Environmental Development*, 37, 100589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2020.100589
- Fowler, D., Coyle, M., Skiba, U., Sutton, M. A., Cape, J. N., Reis, S., Sheppard, L. J., Jenkins,
  A., Grizzetti, B., Galloway, J. N., Vitousek, P., Leach, A., Bouwman, A. F., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Dentener, F., Stevenson, D., Amann, M., & Voss, M. (2013). The global nitrogen cycle in the twenty-first century. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B*, 368(1621), 20130164. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0164

- Galloway, J. N. (2014). 10.12—The Global Nitrogen Cycle. In H. D. Holland & K. K. Turekian (Eds.), *Treatise on Geochemistry (Second Edition)* (pp. 475–498). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-095975-7.00812-3
- Galloway, J. N., Aber, J. D., Erisman, J. W., Seitzinger, S. P., Howarth, R. W., Cowling, E. B., & Cosby, B. J. (2003). The Nitrogen Cascade. *BioScience*, 53(4), 341–356. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0341:TNC]2.0.CO;2
- Galloway, J. N., Bleeker, A., & Erisman, J. W. (2021). The Human Creation and Use of Reactive Nitrogen: A Global and Regional Perspective. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 46(1), 255–288. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012420-045120
- Galloway, J. N., Burke, M., Bradford, G. E., Naylor, R., Falcon, W., Chapagain, A. K., Gaskell, J. C., McCullough, E., Mooney, H. A., Oleson, K. L. L., Steinfeld, H., Wassenaar, T., & Smil, V. (2007). International trade in meat: The tip of the pork chop. *Ambio*, *36*(8), 622–629. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447(2007)36[622:itimtt]2.0.co;2
- Galloway, J. N., & Cowling, E. B. (2002). Reactive Nitrogen and The World: 200 Years of Change. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 31(2), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-31.2.64
- Galloway, J. N., & Cowling, E. B. (2021). Reflections on 200 years of Nitrogen, 20 years later. *Ambio*. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-020-01464-z
- Galloway, J. N., Dentener, F. J., Capone, D. G., Boyer, E. W., Howarth, R. W., Seitzinger, S. P.,
  Asner, G. P., Cleveland, C. C., Green, P. A., Holland, E. A., Karl, D. M., Michaels, A. F.,
  Porter, J. H., Townsend, A. R., & Vöosmarty, C. J. (2004). Nitrogen Cycles: Past,
  Present, and Future. *Biogeochemistry*, 70(2), 153–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-004-0370-0

- Garske, B., & Ekardt, F. (2021). Economic policy instruments for sustainable phosphorus management: Taking into account climate and biodiversity targets. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, 33(1), 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-021-00499-7
- Godar, J., Persson, U. M., Tizado, E. J., & Meyfroidt, P. (2015). Towards more accurate and policy relevant footprint analyses: Tracing fine-scale socio-environmental impacts of production to consumption. *Ecological Economics*, *112*, 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2015.02.003
- Government of Alberta. (2020a). Agri-food Investment and Growth Strategy. https://www.alberta.ca/agri-food-investment-and-growth-strategy.aspx
- Government of Alberta. (2020b). *Getting Alberta back to work: Natural gas vision and strategy*. Government of Alberta.
- Government of Saskatchewan. (2020). Saskatchewan's Growth Plan. https://pubsaskdev.blob.core.windows.net/pubsaskprod/114516/Saskatchewan%2527s%252BGrowth%252BPlan%252BFinal%252BNov% 252B13%252B2019.pdf
- Gu, B., Leach, A. M., Ma, L., Galloway, J. N., Chang, S. X., Ge, Y., & Chang, J. (2013).
  Nitrogen Footprint in China: Food, Energy, and Nonfood Goods. *Environmental Science* & *Technology*, 47(16), 9217–9224. https://doi.org/10.1021/es401344h
- Hanson, V., & Ahmadi, L. (2022). Mobile applications to reduce food waste within Canada: A review. *The Canadian Geographer / Le Géographe Canadien*, 66(2), 402–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/cag.12733

- Harder, R., Giampietro, M., & Smukler, S. (2021). Towards a circular nutrient economy. A novel way to analyze the circularity of nutrient flows in food systems. *Resources, Conservation* and Recycling, 172, 105693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.105693
- Harerimana, B., Zhou, M., Shaaban, M., & Zhu, B. (2021). Estimating Nitrogen Flows and Nitrogen Footprint for Agro-Food System of Rwanda Over the Last Five Decades: Challenges and Measures. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 9. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2021.778699
- Häußermann, U., Bach, M., Fuchs, S., Geupel, M., Heldstab, J., Klement, L., Knoll, L.,
  Reutimann, J., Schäppi, B., Weber, T., & Breuer, L. (2021). National nitrogen budget for
  Germany. *Environmental Research Communications*, 3(9), 095004.
  https://doi.org/10.1088/2515-7620/ac23e5
- Hayashi, K., Shibata, H., Oita, A., Nishina, K., Ito, A., Katagiri, K., Shindo, J., & Winiwarter,
  W. (2021). Nitrogen budgets in Japan from 2000 to 2015: Decreasing trend of nitrogen
  loss to the environment and the challenge to further reduce nitrogen waste. *Environmental Pollution*, 117559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117559
- Hendrickson, M. K., & James, H. S. (2005). The Ethics of Constrained Choice: How the Industrialization of Agriculture Impacts Farming and Farmer Behavior. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 18(3), 269–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10806-005-0631-5
- Hnatyshyn, M. (2018). Decomposition analysis of the impact of economic growth on ammonia and nitrogen oxides emissions in the European Union. *Journal of International Studies*, *11*(1), 201–209.

- Hoekstra, R. (2003). Comparing structural and index decomposition analysis. *Energy Economics*, 26. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-9883(02)00059-2
- Houlton, B. Z., Almaraz, M., Aneja, V., Austin, A. T., Bai, E., Cassman, K. G., Compton, J. E., Davidson, E. A., Erisman, J. W., Galloway, J. N., Gu, B., Yao, G., Martinelli, L. A., Scow, K., Schlesinger, W. H., Tomich, T. P., Wang, C., & Zhang, X. (2019a). A World of Cobenefits: Solving the Global Nitrogen Challenge. *Earth's Future*, 7(8), 865–872. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001222
- Houlton, B. Z., Almaraz, M., Aneja, V., Austin, A. T., Bai, E., Cassman, K. G., Compton, J. E., Davidson, E. A., Erisman, J. W., Galloway, J. N., Gu, B., Yao, G., Martinelli, L. A., Scow, K., Schlesinger, W. H., Tomich, T. P., Wang, C., & Zhang, X. (2019b). A world of co-benefits: Solving the global nitrogen challenge. *Earth's Future*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001222
- Hutchings, N. J., Nielsen, O.-K., Dalgaard, T., Mikkelsen, M. H., Børgesen, C. D., Thomsen, M., Ellermann, T., Højberg, A. L., Mogensen, L., & Winther, M. (2014). A nitrogen budget for Denmark; developments between 1990 and 2010, and prospects for the future. *Environmental Research Letters*, *9*(11), 115012. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/11/115012
- Hutchings, N. J., Sørensen, P., Cordovil, C. M. d. S., Leip, A., & Amon, B. (2020). Measures to increase the nitrogen use efficiency of European agricultural production. *Global Food Security*, 26, 100381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100381
- Hutton, M. O., Leach, A. M., Galloway, J. N., Leip, A., Bekunda, M., Sullivan, C., & Lesschen,
  J. P. (2017). Toward a nitrogen footprint calculator for Tanzania. *Environmental Research Letters*, *12*, 034016.

- Kang, G. J., Ewing-Nelson, S. R., Mackey, L., Schlitt, J. T., Marathe, A., Abbas, K. M., & Swarup, S. (2017). Semantic network analysis of vaccine sentiment in online social media. *Vaccine*, 35(29), 3621–3638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.052
- Kanter, D. R., Bartolini, F., Kugelberg, S., Leip, A., Oenema, O., & Uwizeye, A. (2019). Nitrogen pollution policy beyond the farm. *Nature Food*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-019-0001-5
- Kanter, D. R., & Brownlie, W. J. (2019). Joint nitrogen and phosphorus management for sustainable development and climate goals. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 92, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.10.020
- Kanter, D. R., Chodos, O., Nordland, O., Rutigliano, M., & Winiwarter, W. (2020). Gaps and opportunities in nitrogen pollution policies around the world. *Nature Sustainability*, 3(11), 956–963. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-0577-7
- Kanter, D. R., Del Grosso, S., Scheer, C., Pelster, D. E., & Galloway, J. N. (2020). Why future nitrogen research needs the social sciences. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 47, 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2020.07.002
- Kanter, D. R., & Searchinger, T. D. (2018). A technology-forcing approach to reduce nitrogen pollution. *Nature Sustainability*, 1(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-018-0143-8
- Karimi, R., Pogue, S. J., Kröbel, R., Beauchemin, K. A., Schwinghamer, T., & Henry Janzen, H.
  (2020). An updated nitrogen budget for Canadian agroecosystems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 304, 107046. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2020.107046

- Klement, L., Bach, M., Geupel, M., & Breuer, L. (2021). Calculation of a food consumption nitrogen footprint for Germany. *Environmental Research Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac09ad
- Lade, S. J., Steffen, W., de Vries, W., Carpenter, S. R., Donges, J. F., Gerten, D., Hoff, H., Newbold, T., Richardson, K., & Rockström, J. (2020). Human impacts on planetary boundaries amplified by Earth system interactions. *Nature Sustainability*, 3(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0454-4
- Lassaletta, L., Billen, G., Garnier, J., Bouwman, L., Velazquez, E., Mueller, N. D., & Gerber, J.
  S. (2016). Nitrogen use in the global food system: Past trends and future trajectories of agronomic performance, pollution, trade, and dietary demand. *Environmental Research Letters*, *11*(9), 095007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/9/095007
- Lassaletta, L., Billen, G., Grizzetti, B., Anglade, J., & Garnier, J. (2014). 50 year trends in nitrogen use efficiency of world cropping systems: The relationship between yield and nitrogen input to cropland. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9(10), 105011. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/10/105011
- Lassaletta, L., Billen, G., Grizzetti, B., Garnier, J., Leach, A. M., & Galloway, J. N. (2014). Food and feed trade as a driver in the global nitrogen cycle: 50-year trends. *Biogeochemistry*, *118*(1), 225–241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-013-9923-4
- Le Noë, J., Billen, G., & Garnier, J. (2017). How the structure of agro-food systems shapes nitrogen, phosphorus, and carbon fluxes: The generalized representation of agro-food system applied at the regional scale in France. *Science of The Total Environment*, *586*, 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.040

- Leach, A. M., Galloway, J. N., Bleeker, A., Erisman, J. W., Kohn, R., & Kitzes, J. (2012). A nitrogen footprint model to help consumers understand their role in nitrogen losses to the environment. *Environmental Development*, 1(1), 40–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2011.12.005
- Leip, A., Weiss, F., Lesschen, J. P., & Westhoek, H. (2014). The nitrogen footprint of food products in the European Union. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 152(S1), 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859613000786
- Lenzen, M., & Murray, J. (2010). Conceptualising environmental responsibility. *Ecological Economics*, 70(2), 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2010.04.005
- Liang, X., Leach, A. M., Galloway, J. N., Gu, B., Lam, S. K., & Chen, D. (2016). Beef and coal are key drivers of Australia's high nitrogen footprint. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 39644. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39644
- Lintern, A., McPhillips, L., Winfrey, B., Duncan, J., & Grady, C. (2020). Best Management Practices for Diffuse Nutrient Pollution: Wicked Problems Across Urban and Agricultural Watersheds. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 54(15), 9159–9174. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b07511
- Liu, L., Huang, G., Baetz, B., & Zhang, K. (2018). Environmentally-extended input-output simulation for analyzing production-based and consumption-based industrial greenhouse gas mitigation policies. *Applied Energy*, 232, 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.09.192
- MacDonald, G. K., Talbot, J., Moore, T. R., Arsenault, J., McCourt, S., Goertzen, A., Kessler-Nadeau, M. É., Manaugh, K., Maranger, R., & Robinson, B. E. (2020). Geographic versus institutional drivers of nitrogen footprints: A comparison of two urban

universities. *Environmental Research Letters*, *15*(4), 045008. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab70bf

- Malik, A., Oita, A., Shaw, E., Li, M., Ninpanit, P., Nandel, V., Lan, J., & Lenzen, M. (2022).
  Drivers of global nitrogen emissions. *Environmental Research Letters*, 17(1), 015006.
  https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac413c
- Martinez, S., Delgado, M. D. M., Marin, R. M., & Alvarez, S. (2019). How do dietary choices affect the environment? The nitrogen footprint of the European Union and other dietary options. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 101, 204–210. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2019.08.022
- McCourt, S., & MacDonald, G. K. (2021). Provincial nitrogen footprints highlight variability in drivers of reactive nitrogen emissions in Canada. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(9), 095007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac1e3b
- McCourt, S., & MacDonald, G. K. (2022). Decomposing Three Decades of Nitrogen Emissions in Canada. *Earth's Future*, 10(9), e2022EF002774. https://doi.org/10.1029/2022EF002774
- Meijers, E., & Stead, D. (2004). Policy integration: What does it mean and how can it be achieved? A multi-disciplinary review. 15.

Metson, G. S., MacDonald, G. K., Leach, A. M., Compton, J. E., Harrison, J. A., & Galloway, J. N. (2020). The U.S. consumer phosphorus footprint: Where do nitrogen and phosphorus diverge? *Environmental Research Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aba781

```
Ministry of Agriculture. (2022). Plan for 2021-2022.
https://pubsaskdev.blob.core.windows.net/pubsask-prod/126401/AgriculturePlan2021-
22.pdf
```

Morseletto, P. (2019). Confronting the nitrogen challenge: Options for governance and target setting. *Global Environmental Change*, *54*, 40–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2018.10.010

- Mungcharoen, T., & Suwanmanee, U. (2021). Toward sustainable development goals: Virtual nitrogen factors and nitrogen footprint in Thailand. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 28, 1565–1579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2021.08.009
- Natural Resources Canada. (2013, March 21). *Forest classification*. Natural Resources Canada. https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/our-natural-resources/forests/sustainable-forestmanagement/measuring-and-reporting/forest-classification/13179
- Newman, M. E. J. (2006). Modularity and community structure in networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(23), 8577–8582. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601602103
- Oita, A., Malik, A., Kanemoto, K., Geschke, A., Nishijima, S., & Lenzen, M. (2016). Substantial nitrogen pollution embedded in international trade. *Nature Geoscience*, 9(2), 111–115. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo2635
- Oita, A., Wirasenjaya, F., Liu, J., Webeck, E., & Matsubae, K. (2020). Trends in the food nitrogen and phosphorus footprints for Asia's giants: China, India, and Japan. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 157. Scopus.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.104752

Paranyushkin, D. (2011). Identifying the Pathways for Meaning Circulation using Text Network Analysis. 2(4), 26.

- Persson, Å., & Runhaar, H. (2018). Conclusion: Drawing lessons for Environmental Policy Integration and prospects for future research. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 85, 141– 145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.04.008
- Pratt, S. (2021, June 24). Company plans new fertilizer plant for Sask. *The Western Producer*. https://www.producer.com/news/company-plans-new-fertilizer-plant-for-sask/
- Radicioni, T., Squartini, T., Pavan, E., & Saracco, F. (2021). Networked partisanship and framing: A socio-semantic network analysis of the Italian debate on migration. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(8), e0256705. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0256705
- Rees, W., & Wackernagel, M. (1996). Urban ecological footprints: Why cities cannot be sustainable and why they are a key to sustainability. *Environmental Impact Assessment*, 16(4–6), 223–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-9255(96)00022-4
- Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act, 2016, S.O. 2016, Chapter 12 (2016). https://www.canlii.org/en/on/laws/stat/so-2016-c-12-sch-1/latest/so-2016-c-12-sch-1.html?searchUrlHash=AAAAAQCIT250YXJpbyBBTkQgbml0cm9nZW4gT1IgcGhvc3 Bob3J1cyBPUiBudXRyaWVudCBPUiAid2F0ZXIgcXVhbGl0eSIgT1IgImFpciBxdWFs aXR5IiBPUiAibml0cm91cyBveGlkZSIgT1IgcGhvc3BoYXRlIE9SIG5pdHJpdGVzIE9SI G1hbnVyZQAAAAAB&resultIndex=19
- Sabo, R. D., Clark, C. M., Bash, J., Sobota, D., Cooter, E., Dobrowolski, J. P., Houlton, B. Z.,
  Rea, A., Schwede, D., Morford, S. L., & Compton, J. E. (2019). Decadal Shift in
  Nitrogen Inputs and Fluxes Across the Contiguous United States: 2002–2012. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, 124(10), 3104–3124.
  https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JG005110

- Schulte-Uebbing, L. F., Beusen, A. H. W., Bouwman, A. F., & de Vries, W. (2022). From planetary to regional boundaries for agricultural nitrogen pollution. *Nature*, 610(7932), Article 7932. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05158-2
- Sheppard, S. C., & Bittman, S. (2015). Linkage of food consumption and export to ammonia emissions in Canada and the overriding implications for mitigation. *Atmospheric Environment*, 103, 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.12.023
- Sheriff, G. (2005). Efficient Waste? Why Farmers Over-Apply Nutrients and the Implications for Policy Design. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 27(4), 542–557. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9353.2005.00263.x
- Shibata, H., Cattaneo, L. R., Leach, A. M., & Galloway, J. N. (2014). First approach to the Japanese nitrogen footprint model to predict the loss of nitrogen to the environment. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9(11), 115013. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/11/115013
- Shim, J., Park, C., & Wilding, M. (2015). Identifying policy frames through semantic network analysis: An examination of nuclear energy policy across six countries. *Policy Sciences*, 48(1), 51–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-015-9211-3
- Shindo, J., Oita, A., Hayashi, K., & Shibata, H. (2020). Comparison of food supply system in China and Japan based on food nitrogen footprints estimated by a top-down method. *Environmental Research Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abcd5b
- Shindo, J., & Yanagawa, A. (2017). Top-down approach to estimating the nitrogen footprint of food in Japan. *Ecological Indicators*, 78, 502–511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.03.020

- Singh, S., Compton, J. E., Hawkins, T. R., Sobota, D. J., & Cooter, E. J. (2017). A Nitrogen Physical Input-Output Table (PIOT) model for Illinois. *Ecological Modelling*, 360, 194– 203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2017.06.015
- Some, S., Roy, J., & Ghose, A. (2019). Non-CO2 emission from cropland based agricultural activities in India: A decomposition analysis and policy link. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 225, 637–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.04.017
- Springmann, M., Clark, M., Mason-D'Croz, D., Wiebe, K., Bodirsky, B. L., Lassaletta, L., Vries, W. de, Vermeulen, S. J., Herrero, M., Carlson, K. M., Jonell, M., Troell, M., DeClerck, F., Gordon, L. J., Zurayk, R., Scarborough, P., Rayner, M., Loken, B., Fanzo, J., ...
  Willett, W. (2018). Options for keeping the food system within environmental limits. *Nature*, *562*(7728), 519–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0594-0
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., Vries, W. de, Wit, C. A. de, Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1259855. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855
- Steininger, K. W., Lininger, C., Meyer, L. H., Muñoz, P., & Schinko, T. (2016). Multiple carbon accounting to support just and effective climate policies. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(1), 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2867
- Stevens, C. J., Leach, A. M., Dale, S., & Galloway, J. N. (2014). Personal nitrogen footprint tool for the United Kingdom. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 16(7), 1563– 1569. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3EM00690E

- Sutton, M. A., Bleeker, A., Howard, C. M., Bekunda, M., Grizzetti, B., De Vries, W., Van Grinsven, H. J. M., & Abrol, Y. P. (2013). *Our nutrient world: The challenge to produce more food and energy with less pollution*. Centre for Ecology & Hydrology on behalf of the Global Partnership on Nutrient Management and the International Nitrogen Initiative. https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/10747
- Sutton, M. A., Howard, C. M., Kanter, D. R., Lassaletta, L., Móring, A., Raghuram, N., & Read, N. (2021). The nitrogen decade: Mobilizing global action on nitrogen to 2030 and beyond. *One Earth*, 4(1), 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2020.12.016
- Talaei, A., Gemechu, E., & Kumar, A. (2020). Key factors affecting greenhouse gas emissions in the Canadian industrial sector: A decomposition analysis. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 246, 119026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.119026
- The Saskatchewan Chemical Fertilizer Incentive Act, SS 2020, c 35 (2020). https://www.canlii.org/en/sk/laws/astat/ss-2020-c-35/latest/ss-2020-c-35.html
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J., & Befort, B. L. (2011). Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(50), 20260–20264. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1116437108
- Tosun, J., & Lang, A. (2017). Policy integration: Mapping the different concepts. *Policy Studies*, *38*(6), 553–570. https://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2017.1339239
- Vanham, D., Leip, A., Galli, A., Kastner, T., Bruckner, M., Uwizeye, A., van Dijk, K., Ercin, E., Dalin, C., Brandão, M., Bastianoni, S., Fang, K., Leach, A., Chapagain, A., Van der Velde, M., Sala, S., Pant, R., Mancini, L., Monforti-Ferrario, F., ... Hoekstra, A. Y. (2019). Environmental footprint family to address local to planetary sustainability and

deliver on the SDGs. *Science of The Total Environment*, *693*, 133642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133642

- Vitousek, P. M., Aber, J. D., Howarth, R. W., Likens, G. E., Matson, P. A., Schindler, D. W., Schlesinger, W. H., & Tilman, D. G. (1997). Human Alteration of the Global Nitrogen Cycle: Sources and Consequences. *Ecological Applications*, 7(3), 737–750. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(1997)007[0737:HAOTGN]2.0.CO;2
- Wang, J. M., Liu, Q., Hou, Y., Qin, W., Bai, Z. H., Zhang, F. S., & Oenema, O. (2022). Impacts of international food and feed trade on nitrogen balances and nitrogen use efficiencies of food systems. *Science of The Total Environment*, 838, 156151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156151
- Weitz, N., Carlsen, H., Nilsson, M., & Skånberg, K. (2018). Towards systemic and contextual priority setting for implementing the 2030 Agenda. *Sustainability Science*, 13(2), 531– 548. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-017-0470-0
- Wier, M., & Hasler, B. (1999). Accounting for nitrogen in Denmark—A structural decomposition analysis. *Ecological Economics*, 30(2), 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(99)00004-X
- Wiken, E., Gauthier, D., Marshall, I., Lawton, K., & Hirvonen, H. (1996). A Perspective on Canada's Ecosystems: An Overview of the Terrestrial and Marine Ecozones. Canadian Council on Ecological Areas. https://ccea-ccae.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/P14\_Aprespective-on-Canadas-Ecosystems.pdf
- Wolfram, P., Kyle, P., Zhang, X., Gkantonas, S., & Smith, S. (2022). Using ammonia as a shipping fuel could disturb the nitrogen cycle. *Nature Energy*, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-022-01124-4

Xian, C., Wu, T., Lu, F., Zhang, J., Gong, C., & Ouyang, Z. (2022). The nitrogen footprints of China's major urban agglomerations: Understanding regional challenges to advance sustainable development. *Environmental Research Letters*, 17(4), 045020. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac57e6

Yang, A. L., Raghuram, N., Adhya, T. K., Porter, S. D., Panda, A. N., Kaushik, H., Jayaweera, A., Nissanka, S. P., Anik, A. R., Shifa, S., Sharna, S. C., Joshi, R., Arif Watto, M., Pokharel, A., Shazly, A., Hassan, R., Bansal, S., Kanter, D., Das, S., & Jeffery, R. (2022). Policies to combat nitrogen pollution in South Asia: Gaps and opportunities. *Environmental Research Letters*, *17*(2), 025007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac48b2

- Yang, J. Y., Drury, C. F., De Jong, R., Huffman, E. C., & Yang, X. M. (2014). CANB v4.0: A model for simulating Residual Soil Nitrogen and Nitrogen leaching in Canadian regional scale. 2014 4th International Conference On Simulation And Modeling Methodologies, Technologies And Applications (SIMULTECH), 529–536. https://doi.org/10.5220/0005005005290536
- Zhang, J., Cao, P., & Lu, C. (2021). Half-Century History of Crop Nitrogen Budget in the Conterminous United States: Variations Over Time, Space and Crop Types. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 35(10). https://doi.org/10.1029/2020GB006876
- Zhang, X. (2021). Quantification of global and national nitrogen budgets for crop production. *Nature Food*, *2*, 529–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00318-5
- Zhang, X., Davidson, E. A., Mauzerall, D. L., Searchinger, T. D., Dumas, P., & Shen, Y. (2015). Managing nitrogen for sustainable development. *Nature*, 528(7580), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15743

# **Supplementary Materials**

# **Chapter 3 Supplementary Materials**

Nitrogen		
Footprint		
sector	Crop Group	Crops
Virtual	Grains	barley, corn, oats, rye, triticale, wheat
nitrogen from	Roots	beets, carrots, onions, parsnips, potatoes, rutabagas and
crop		turnips
production	Fruits	apples, blueberries, cranberries, grapes, nectarines, peaches,
		pears, plums, raspberries, strawberries
	Vegetables	asparagus, broccoli, brussels sprouts, celery, cabbage,
		cauliflower, sweet corn, lettuce, green beans, cucumbers,
		green peas, leeks, peppers, pumpkins, spinach, shallots and
		green onions, squash and zucchini, tomatoes
	Legumes	beans, chickpeas, lentils, soybeans, peas

## S1 Crops and crop groups included in this study

## S2 Provincial food consumption adjustment and statistical analysis

We adjusted data on national per capita food availability from Statistics Canada (adjusted for food losses) by the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) 24-hour dietary recall to account for differences in provincial food consumption patterns. To examine if food consumption was statistically different between provinces, we used a Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test followed by a pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test.

The following tables provide examples of the results of the adjustment and statistical analysis for beef and milk. For example, the CCHS-N survey appears to over-represent the amount of beef Canadians eat compared to the national per capita food availability of beef.

Food Group	Province	National food availability from Statistics Canada (kg/cap)	Provincial intake from CCHS-N (kg/cap)	Provincial intake based on national availability adjusted by CCHS-N survey (kg/cap)
	Prince Edward Island		24.3	11.4
	Quebec		24.9	11.6
	Manitoba		27.0	12.6
	Nova Scotia	_	27.2	12.7
	Canada		27.4	12.8
Beef	Newfoundland and Labrador	12.8	27.6	12.9
	New Brunswick	-	27.6	12.9
	Alberta	-	28.4	13.3
	British Columbia		28.6	13.3
	Saskatchewan		28.8	13.4
	Ontario		29.1	13.6
	British Columbia		43.3	36.9
	Nova Scotia		46.3	39.5
	Ontario	_	46.8	39.9
	Canada	_	48.6	41.4
	Alberta		48.7	41.5
Milk	Quebec	42.1	49.3	42.1
	Prince Edward Island		50.6	43.1
	Newfoundland and Labrador		50.6	43.2
	New Brunswick		51.1	43.5
	Manitoba		51.9	44.3
	Saskatchewan		55.3	47.2

Results of Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test for beef and milk. For example, Quebec consumes a statistically significant smaller amount of beef as compared to Alberta, British Columbia, Saskatchewan and Ontario, and a larger amount of milk than British Columbia, Nova Scotia, Ontario, and Alberta.

	Alberta I	British Columbia	Manitoba	New Brunswick	Newfoundland Labrador	Nova Scotia	Ontario	Prince Edward Island	Quebec
British Columbia	0.82100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Manitoba	0.21692 (	0.34408	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
New Brunswick	0.64470 (	0.72466	0.72466	-	-	-	-	-	-
Newfoundland Labrador	0.72466 (	0.82634	0.63869	0.84425	-	-	-	-	-
Nova Scotia	0.71119 (	0.77763	0.65338	0.88039	0.92280	-	-	-	-
Ontario	0.72466 (	0.64470	0.10804	0.34408	0.54088	0.40796	-	-	-
Prince Edward Island	0.02841 (	0.04721	0.54088	0.26412	0.19583	0.19583	0.00476	-	-
Quebec	0.00015 (	0.00048	0.19583	0.06716	0.02841	0.03415	2.4e-06	0.77763	-
Saskatchewan	0.82911 (	0.72466	0.19583	0.54088	0.64867	0.61092	0.90993	0.02841	0.00048

Kruskal-Wallis test beef consumption. P-value < 0.05 indicates significance.

	Alberta	British Columbia	Manitoba	New Brunswick	Newfoundland Labra	ador Nova S	cotia On	tario	Prince Edward	Island	Quebec
British Columbia	0.4450	-	-	-	-	-	-		-		-
Manitoba	0.6458	0.9838	-	-	-	-	-		-		-
New Brunswick	0.0296	0.0016	0.0114	-	-	-	-		-		-
Newfoundland Labrador	0.0421	0.0025	0.0195	0.9989	-	-	-		-		-
Nova Scotia	0.9989	0.5238	0.6392	0.0346	0.0421	-	-		-		-
Ontario	0.5062	0.9838	0.9989	0.0016	0.0024	0.5411	-		-		-
Prince Edward Island	0.0636	0.0042	0.0296	0.8941	0.9525	0.0746	0.	0042	-		-
Quebec	0.0016	2.1e-06	0.0013	0.8706	0.7952	0.0021	3.	9e-07	0.6392		-
Saskatchewan	0.9989	0.5924	0.6821	0.0503	0.0700	0.9838	0.	6392	0.1078		0.0056

Kruskal-Wallis test milk consumption. P-value < 0.05 indicates significance.

#### S3 Wastewater N removal

90% of N in raw municipal wastewater is in Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN) (Brandes 1978), so we approximated aqueous Nr removal by subtracting final TKN and nitrate and nitrite measurements (mg/l) from initial TKN influent measurements (mg/l) at the following treatment plants. We used septic tanks as a proxy for "no treatment". Studies of septic tanks in Canada have indicated Nr removal (through denitrification) at the range of ~5% (Brandes 1978)

The Jean-R. Marcotte treatment plant in Montreal was used as the example for primary wastewater treatment. It is the largest wastewater treatment plant in Canada by volume of water and serves over 2 million residents. Treatment removes ~25% of aqueous N (MacDonald et al. 2020).

The Ashbridges Bay Treatment Plant in Toronto was used as the case study for secondary treatment. It is the second largest wastewater treatment plant in Canada and serves over 1.5 million residents. Treatment removes ~33 % of aqueous N (*Ashbridges Bay Wastewater Treatment Plant Annual Report* 2018).

The Gold Bar Wastewater Treatment plant in Edmonton was used as the case study for tertiary treatment. Treatment removes ~70 % of aqueous N. (*Annual Wastewater Treatment Report* 2019)

Canadian Weighted							
Average VN	Average VNFs						
Food	VNF						
group	(g N / kg food)						
Beef	401						
Chicken	91						
Eggs	52						
Milk	12						
Pork	106						
Fish	61						
Fruits	21						
Grains	16						
Legumes	35						
Oilseeds	86						
Roots	7						
Vegetables	14						

# S4 Virtual Nitrogen Factors (VNFs) by province and food group

## **Chapter 4 Supplementary Materials**



Figure S1. Changes in average provincial agricultural leaching rates (kg N/ha), between 1981 and 2006

(extracted from De Jong et al., 2009).

Treatment Type	Plant name	Province	Year	Annual Effluent Flow (ML)	Average N conc in effluent (N mg/L)	Population Covered	Kg N / cap	Source
Secondary Activated Sludge	Ashbridge	Ontario	2017	240,817	22.1	1,603,700	3.32	(Toronto Water, 2018a)
Secondary Activated Sludge	Ashbridge	Ontario	2018	205,750	23.6	1,603,700	3.03	(Toronto Water, 2018a)
Secondary Activated Sludge	Toronto North	Ontario	2018	6,872	17.2	55,000	2.15	(Toronto Water, 2018b)
Secondary Activated Sludge	Toronto North	Ontario	2017	5,731	17.8	55,000	1.85	(Toronto Water, 2018b)
Secondary with Biological Nutrient Removal	Gold Bar Wastewater	Alberta	2019	87,976	15.4	800,000	1.69	(EPCOR Water Services Inc., 2019)
Secondary with Biological Nutrient Removal	Gold Bar Wastewater	Alberta	2017	93,027	13.24	800,000	1.54	(EPCOR Water Services Inc., 2019)
Secondary with Biological Nutrient Removal	Kelowna	British Columbia	2018	13,243	6	98,000	0.81	(City of Kelowna, 2018)
Secondary with Biological Nutrient Removal	Kelowna	British Columbia	2019	12,915	5.9	100,000	0.76	(City of Kelowna, 2018)
Primary	Iona Island	British Columbia	2017	205,084	30.28	600,000	10.35	(Metro Vancouver, 2017)
Primary	Iona Island	British Columbia	2016	197,002	29.25	600,000	9.60	(Metro Vancouver, 2017)
Primary	Lion's Gate	British Columbia	2017	30,419	31	180,000	5.24	(Metro Vancouver, 2017)
Primary	Lion's Gate	British Columbia	2018	30,916	26	180,000	4.47	(Metro Vancouver, 2017)

**Table S1.** Data sources used to create proxy N effluent values used in our analysis. Six major wastewater treatment technology categories used in Canada are represented: 1) primary settling and filtration treatment 2) secondary treatment through activated sludge 3) secondary treatment with biological nutrient removal, and 4) trickling filters, 5) lagoons and 6) septic tanks. Per capita N effluent was estimated by multiplying the average N concentration in effluent (combined Total Kjedhal nitrogen, nitrates, and nitrites) by the annual flow and dividing by the population covered by each facility. We used the average of at least two years or multiple facilities each wastewater treatment type in our calculations to account for yearly variation.

Year	Province     Total yearly N emissions (Gg N)     Kg N / capita     Province		Total yearly N emissions (Gg N)	Kg N / capita		
1990	New Brunswick	36	49	Nova Scotia	40	44
1991	New Brunswick	35	47	Nova Scotia	39	43
1992	New Brunswick	34	46	Nova Scotia	40	43
1993	New Brunswick	33	44	Nova Scotia	40	43
1994	New Brunswick	33	44	Nova Scotia	41	44
1995	New Brunswick	33	44	Nova Scotia	41	44
1996	New Brunswick	34	46	Nova Scotia	41	44
1997	New Brunswick	36	47	Nova Scotia	42	45
1998	New Brunswick	37	50	Nova Scotia	42	45
1999	New Brunswick	39	52	Nova Scotia	43	47
2000	New Brunswick	42	56	Nova Scotia	47	51
2001	New Brunswick	41	55	Nova Scotia	47	50
2002	New Brunswick	41	55	Nova Scotia	47	51
2003	New Brunswick	40	54	Nova Scotia	48	51
2004	New Brunswick	39	53	Nova Scotia	47	50
2005	New Brunswick	40	53	Nova Scotia	47	50
2006	New Brunswick	37	49	Nova Scotia	43	45
2007	New Brunswick	36	48	Nova Scotia	42	44
2008	New Brunswick	33	45	Nova Scotia	40	42
2009	New Brunswick	32	43	Nova Scotia	38	40
2010	New Brunswick	32	42	Nova Scotia	38	40
2011	New Brunswick	31	41	Nova Scotia	38	40
2012	New Brunswick	28	37	Nova Scotia	36	38
2013	New Brunswick	26	35	Nova Scotia	35	37
2014	New Brunswick	26	34	Nova Scotia	34	36
2015	New Brunswick	25	32	Nova Scotia	32	34
2016	New Brunswick	24	32	Nova Scotia	31	33
2017	New Brunswick	23	31	Nova Scotia	31	33
1990	NFLD	20	34	PEI	9	66
1991	NFLD	19	32	PEI	8	64
1992	NFLD	19	32	PEI	8	63
1993	NFLD	19	33	PEI	8	63
1994	NFLD	19	33	PEI	9	64
1995	NFLD	19	34	PEI	9	64
1996	NFLD	20	35	PEI	9	65
1997	NFLD	21	37	PEI	9	65
1998	NFLD	21	39	PEI	9	67
1999	NFLD	22	40	PEI	9	68
2000	NFLD	22	42	PEI	11	78
2001	NFLD	23	43	PEI	10	76
2002	NFLD	24	45	PEI	10	75
2003	NFLD	25	48	PEI	10	75
2004	NFLD	23	45	PEI	10	76
2005	NFLD	24	46	PEI	12	84
2006	NFLD	22	43	PEI	11	79
2007	NFLD	22	44	PEI	11	77

**Table S2.** Yearly total (Gg N) and per capita (kg N capita <sup>-1</sup>) Nr emissions for the four Atlantic provinces: New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island (PEI) and Newfoundland and Labrador (NFLD), which are reported as an aggregate in the main paper.

	Agriculture	Oil and Gas
NAICS	Crop and animal	Oil and gas extraction (211)
	production (11A)	Support activities for oil and gas
		extraction (21311A)
APEI	Animal Production	Oil and Gas Industry
	Crop Production	
GHG	Enteric Fermentation	Oil and Gas Extraction
	Manure Management	Petroleum Refining Industries
	Agricultural Soils	

#### Sector/Sub-sector names used in our study

**Table S3.** Comparison between North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) economic data, and Air Pollution Emission Inventory (APEI) and Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventory (GHG) Nr emission categories used for the sectoral decomposition analysis in our study. As a result of different subsector definitions/boundaries, there may be slight disparities between our Nr emissions estimates and the corresponding dollar (\$) value of economic output.

			Me	entions	Clus	ster reso	lution	Topic Name
Province	Act Name	Keywords	nitrogen	phosphorus	1	1.35	1.7	(res 1.35)
	Agricultural Operation	nitrate, nutrient, manure,						Agricultural
Alberta	Practices Act	fertilizer, compost	yes	no	3	9	11	Management
Alberta	Animal Health Act	manure, effluent, compost	no	no	1	10	12	Animal and Public Health
								Occupational
Alberta	Apprenticeship and Industry Training Act	nutrient	yes	no	3	3	13	Health and Safety
								Oil, gas and
Alberta	Coal Conservation Act	effluent	no	no	7	8	10	mining Food Marketing
Alberta	Dairy Industry Act	wastewater, manure	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations
Alberta	Electric Utilities Act	greenhouse gas	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
	Emissions Management							
Alberta	and Climate Resilience Act	nitrate, ammonia, nitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, climate change	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
		nitrogen oxides, phosphorus,	5					8
	The second second	potash, wastewater, effluent,						<b>T</b> • • • •
Alberta	Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act	manure, fertilizer, compost, water quality, ozone	Noc	Noc	2	5	6	Environmental Quality
Alberta	and Enhancement Act	quanty, ozone	yes	yes			0	Quality
Alberta	Forests Act	fertilizer	no	no	7	12	15	Forestry
Alberta	Fuel Tax Act	climate change	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
. 11	Gas Resources				-	0	10	Oil, gas and
Alberta	Preservation Act	nitrogen	yes	no	7	8	10	mining Land Use and
Alberta	Irrigation Districts Act	wastewater	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
								Oil, gas and
Alberta	Law of Property Act	phosphorus, potash	no	yes	7	8	10	mining
Alberta	Marketing of Agricultural	fertilizer			5	6	7	Food Marketing
Alberta	Products Act	phosphorus, potash, nitrogen,	no	no	3	0	/	and Regulations
		wastewater, effluent, greenhouse						Oil, gas and
Alberta	Mines and Minerals Act	gas, water quality	yes	yes	7	8	10	mining
	Municipal Government	wastewater, effluent, manure,		-				Land Use and
Alberta	Act	water pollution	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
		nitrous oxide, nitrate, nitrite,						
	Occupational Health and	ammonia, nitrogen oxide, phosphorus, potassium, effluent,						Occupational Health and
Alberta	Safety Act	air quality	yes	yes	3	3	4	Safety
moona	Oil and Gas Conservation	nitrogen, effluent, water	903	903	5	5		Oil, gas and
Alberta	Act	pollution, air quality	yes	no	7	8	10	mining
	Oil Sands Emissions Limit							
Alberta	Act	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
Alberta	Perpetuities Act	phosphorus, potash		Nos	7	8	16	Oil, gas and mining
Alberta	<u>repetuties Act</u>	phosphorus, potasii	no	yes	/	0	10	Animal and
Alberta	Public Health Act AB	effluent, manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
Alberta	Renewable Electricity Act	greenhouse gas, air quality	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
Alberta	Safety Codes Act	wastewater	no	no	2	2	3	Land Use and Planning
								Oil, gas and
Alberta	Surface Rights Act	phosphorus, potash	no	yes	7	8	10	mining Environmental
Alberta	Water Act	effluent, manure	no	no	2	5	9	Quality
	Workers! Comments:	nitrogen erride nhaanhamme						Occupational
Alberta	Workers' Compensation Act	nitrogen oxide, phosphorus, fertilizer	ves	yes	3	3	4	Health and Safety
British	Agricultural Land		yes	yes	5	3	4	Land Use and
Columbia	Commission Act	manure, fertilizer, compost	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
British				1			-	
Columbia	Carbon Tax Act	greenhouse gas	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles

D 11			1		-			1
British Columbia	Clean Energy Act	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
British	Climate Change	nitrous oxide, greenhouse gas,	110	110	0	,	0	Chinate Change
Columbia	Accountability Act	climate change	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
British		ennade enange	<b>J U</b>		Ű	,	0	Land Use and
Columbia	Community Charter	effluent, manure	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
British	Drinking Water Protection							Environmental
Columbia	Act	water quality	no	no	2	5	9	Quality
		fertilizer, ammonia, nitrogen						
British	Environmental	oxides, nitrates, phosphorus,						Environmental
Columbia	Assessment Act	effluent	yes	yes	2	5	6	Quality
		nitrate, nitrogen oxides,						
		ammonia, phosphorus, potassium,						
		nutrient, wastewater, manure,						
		fertilizer, effluent, compost, greenhouse gas, air pollution, air						
British	Environmental	quality, water quality, climate						Environmental
Columbia	Management Act	change, eutrophication, ozone	yes	yes	2	5	6	Ouality
British	Farm Practices Protection	change, eutrophieution, ozone	ye3	yes	2	5	0	Agricultural
Columbia	(Right to Farm) Act	manure, fertilizer	no	no	5	9	11	Management
British	Forest and Range	nitrate, fertilizer, water quality,			-			0
Columbia	Practices Act	soil quality	no	no	7	12	15	Forestry
		nitrous oxide, ammonia,						ž
British	Greenhouse Gas Industrial	wastewater, greenhouse gas,						
Columbia	Reporting and Control Act	climate change	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
British	Liquefied Natural Gas							
Columbia	Project Agreements Act	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
British		greenhouse gas, water pollution,						Land Use and
Columbia	Local Government Act	air pollution, climate change	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
British					-	(	-	Food Marketing
Columbia	Milk Industry Act	wastewater, manure	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations
British	Mater Eral Tar Art	nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxide,			4	4	5	W-h:-l
Columbia British	Motor Fuel Tax Act Private Managed Forest	greenhouse gas	yes	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
Columbia	Land Act	nutrient, water quality	no	no	7	12	15	Forestry
Columbia	Land Act	phosphorus, potassium, nitrogen,	110	110	/	12	15	rotestry
British		nutrient, manure, fertilizer,						
Columbia	Provincial Sales Tax Act	compost	yes	yes	4	4	5	Vehicles
British			5				-	Animal and
Columbia	Public Health Act BC	wastewater, effluent, compost	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
British	Riparian Areas Protection							Fisheries and
Columbia	Act	nutrient	no	no	2	1	1	Biodiversity
British								Land Use and
Columbia	Taxation (Rural Area) Act	effluent, manure	no	no	4	2	16	Planning
British		effluent, fertilizer, compost, water				-		Environmental
Columbia	Water Sustainability Act	quality	no	no	2	5	9	Quality
D 111		nitrate, ammonia, nitrogen						Occupational
British Columbia	Workers Compensation Act	oxides, phosphorus, manure, fertilizer, air quality, ozone			3	3	4	Health and Safety
British	Zero-Emission Vehicles	fertilizer, all quality, ozone	yes	yes	3	3	4	Salety
Columbia	Act	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
			no	no				
Canada	Alternative Fuels Act	greenhouse gas, air pollutant	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
								Land Use and
Canada	Bank Act	effluent, fertilizer	no	no	2	2	2	Planning
	Canada Emission							
Consta	Reduction Incentives				(	7	0	Climete Change
Canada	Agency Act Canada Foundation for	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	6	/	8	Climate Change
	Sustainable Development	climate change, water quality, air						Land Use and
Canada	Technology Act	quality, soil quality	no	no	2	2	2	Planning
Cunada	<u>reennology Aer</u>	quality, son quality	no	no	2	2	2	Occupational
		ammonia, effluent, water quality,						Health and
Canada	Canada Labour Code	air quality	yes	no	3	3	4	Safety
		ammonia, phosphorus, nitrous	1	1	-	-	-	
	Canada Shipping Act,	oxide, fertilizer, water pollution,						Environmental
Canada	2001	air pollution, effluent	yes	yes	1	5	9	Quality
Canada								
Canada	Canada Water Act	water quality, effluent			2	5	9	Environmental Quality

Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act Department of the Environment Act Excise Tax Act	nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxides, potash, phosphorus, nutrient, greenhouse gas, fertilizer, effluent, wastewater, water pollution, air pollution greenhouse gas, climate change water quality, air quality, soil quality	yes no	yes	4	4	5	Vehicles
Protection Act, 1999 Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act Department of the Environment Act	phosphorus, nutrient, greenhouse gas, fertilizer, effluent, wastewater, water pollution, air pollution greenhouse gas, climate change water quality, air quality, soil				4	5	Vehicles
Protection Act, 1999 Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act Department of the Environment Act	gas, fertilizer, effluent, wastewater, water pollution, air pollution greenhouse gas, climate change water quality, air quality, soil				4	5	Vehicles
Protection Act, 1999 Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act Department of the Environment Act	wastewater, water pollution, air pollution greenhouse gas, climate change water quality, air quality, soil				4	5	Vehicles
Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act Department of the Environment Act	pollution greenhouse gas, climate change water quality, air quality, soil				4	5	Vehicles
Emissions Accountability Act Department of the Environment Act	water quality, air quality, soil	no					
Act Department of the Environment Act	water quality, air quality, soil	no	<b>n</b> 0			Ì	1
Department of the Environment Act	water quality, air quality, soil	no	no				1
Environment Act			110	6	7	8	Climate Change
	anolity				-		Environmental
Excise Tax Act	quaitty	no	no	2	5	6	Quality
	greenhouse gas, fertilizer, manure	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
Farm Income Protection							Food Marketing
Act	fertilizer	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations
	ammonia, phosphorus, potassium,				1.0		Animal and
Feeds Act	nutrient, manure	yes	yes	1	10	12	Public Health
Eastilizana A at				1	10	12	Animal and Public Health
Fertilizers Act		yes	yes	1	10	12	Public Health
	effluent water quality manure						
							Fisheries and
Fisheries Act	pollution	yes	yes	1	1	1	Biodiversity
	nitrite, potassium, fertilizer,						Animal and
Food and Drugs Act	compost, manure	yes	no	1	10	12	Public Health
				4	4	E	Val. al.
Pricing Act	gas, chimate change	yes	no	4	4		Vehicles Animal and
Health of Animals Act	effluent manure fertilizer	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
Health of Allinais Act		110		- 1	10	12	Environmental
Impact Assessment Act	climate change, greenhouse gas	no	no	2	5	6	Quality
			_				
	pollution, manure, greenhouse						Land Use and
Income Tax Act	gas, air pollution	no	no	4	2	16	Planning
							Animal and
Plant Protection Act	compost, manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
Animal Diagona Ant				1	10	12	Animal and
Allinal Diseases Act	manure	110		1	10	12	Public Health Occupational
The Apprenticeship and							Health and
Certification Act	wastewater	no	no	3	3	13	Safety
The Buildings and Mobile							Land Use and
Homes Act	manure, compost, water quality	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
Plan Implementation Act	climate change	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
				~	0	10	Oil, gas and
The Crown Lands Act	water quality	no	no	/	8	10	mining Food Marketing
The Dairy Act	wastewater manure	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations
	,	110			0		Environmental
		ves	no	2	5	9	Quality
The Efficiency Manitoba			_				
Act	greenhouse gas	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
	nitrous oxide, nitrate, phosphorus,				T		
	, , , , ,						<b>F</b> 1
The Environment Act	greenhouse gas, water quality, climate change, air quality	NAC	Vac	2	5	6	Environmental Quality
The Farm Practices	chinate change, all quality	yes	yes		3	0	Agricultural
	manure, fertilizer	no	no	5	9	11	Management
Protection Act		+					Food Marketing
Protection Act The Farm Products							
	manure, fertilizer	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations
The Farm Products Marketing Act The Groundwater and		no	no				and Regulations Environmental
The Farm Products Marketing Act	manure, fertilizer manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water quality	no no	no no	5	6 5	7 9	and Regulations Environmental Quality
The Farm Products Marketing Act The Groundwater and Water Well and Related	manure, fertilizer manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water quality nutrient, manure, compost, water	no	no	2	5	9	and Regulations Environmental Quality Land Use and
The Farm Products Marketing Act The Groundwater and	manure, fertilizer manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water quality						and Regulations Environmental Quality
	Fertilizers Act         Fisheries Act         Food and Drugs Act         Greenhouse Gas Pollution         Pricing Act         Health of Animals Act         Impact Assessment Act         Income Tax Act         Plant Protection Act         The Apprenticeship and Certification Act         The Buildings and Mobile Homes Act         The Climate and Green Plan Implementation Act         The Crown Lands Act         The Dairy Act         The Efficiency Manitoba Act	Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureFertilizers Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water pollutionFisheries ActpollutionFood and Drugs Actcompost, manureGreenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Actammonia, potash, nitrous oxide, fertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeHealth of Animals Acteffluent, manure, fertilizerImpact Assessment Actclimate change, greenhouse gas potash, air pollution, water pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollutionPlant Protection Actcompost, manureAnimal Diseases ActmanureThe Apprenticeship and Certification ActwastewaterThe Climate and Green Plan Implementation Actnitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, climate changeThe Crown Lands Actwater qualityThe Dairy Actwastewater, manureThe Drinking Water Safety Actnitrate, nitrite, wastewater, water qualityThe Efficiency Manitoba Actgreenhouse gas nitrous oxide, nitrate, phosphorus, potash, nitrite, removes, wastewater, greenhouse gas	Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesfitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, water quality, manure, fertilizer, water water pollutionyesFisheries ActpollutionyesFood and Drugs Actcompost, manureyesGreenhouse Gas Pollutionfertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesHealth of Animals Acteffluent, manure, fertilizernoImpact Assessment Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnoIncome Tax Actgas, air pollutionnoPlant Protection Actcompost, manurenoThe Apprenticeship and Certification ActwastewaternoThe Buildings and Mobile Homes Actmanure, compost, water qualitynoThe Crown Lands Actwastewater, manurenoThe Dairy Actwastewater, manurenoThe Dinking Water Safety Actnitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, nitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, nonoThe Efficiency Manitoba ActnonoThe Efficiency Manitoba Actgreenhouse gasnoThe Dinking Water Safety Actnitrous oxide, nitrate, phosphorus, potash, nutrient, effluent, manure, fertilizer, compost, water quality, nono	Pertilizers Act         nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manure         yes         yes           Fisheries Act         nitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water         yes         yes           Food and Drugs Act         compost, manure         yes         no           Greenhouse Gas Pollution         fertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate change         yes         no           Health of Animals Act         effluent, manure, fertilizer         no         no           Impact Assessment Act         climate change, greenhouse gas         no         no           Income Tax Act         gas, air pollution         no         no           Plant Protection Act         compost, manure         no         no           The Apprenticeship and Certification Act         wastewater         no         no           The Crown Lands Act         elimate change         yes         no           The Crown Lands Act         wastewater, manure         no         no           The Dirinking Water         nitrate, nitrite, wastewater, water         yes         no           The Crown Lands Act         wastewater, manure         no         no           The Dirinking Water         nitrate, nitrite, wastewater, water         yes <td< td=""><td>Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesyes1Fisheries Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, wateryes1Fisheries Actpollutionyesyes1Food and Drugs Actcompost, manure ammonia, potash, nitrous oxide, fertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno1Greenhouse Gas Pollutionreffluent, manure, fertilizernono1Pricing Actgas, climate changeyesno1Impact Assessment Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnono2potash, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollution, manurenono1Income Tax Actgas, air pollution, water pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollutionno1Animal Diseases Actmanurenono1Animal Diseases Actmanure, compost, water qualitynono2The Apprenticeship and Certification Actwastewaterno02The Climate and Green Plan Implementation Actmitrue, nitrite, wastewater, water qualitynono7The Dairy Act The Drinking Waternitrue, nitrite, wastewater, water greenhouse gasnono5The Efficiency Manitoba Actgreenhouse gasnono5The Efficiency Manitoba Actgreenhouse gas, water quality, upo</td><td>Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesyes110Fisheries Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, wateryesyes110Fisheries Actpollutionyesyes11Food and Drugs Actcompost, manureyesno110Greenhouse Gas Pollutionfertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno110Greenhouse Gas Pollutionfertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno44Health of Animals Acteffluent, manure, fertilizernono110Impact Assessment Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnono25potash, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gasnono110Animal Diseases Actmanurenono110Animal Diseases Actmanurenono110The Apprenticeship and Certification Actwastewaternono22The Chimate and Green Plan Implementation Actmanure, compost, water qualitynono78The Crown Lands Actwater qualitynono787The Crown Lands Actwater qualitynono567The Crown Lands Actwater qualitynono55The Dinking Water Sufety Actgreenhouse gas<t< td=""><td>Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesyes110Fertilizers Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water pollutionyesyes11Fisheries Actnitrite, potassium, fertilizer, compost, manureyesyes111Food and Drugs Actcompost, manure gas, climate changeyesno11012Freing Actgas, climate changeyesno445Health of Animals Acteffluent, manure, fertilizer pollution, water pollution, manure, greenhouse gasnono256Income Tax Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnono4216Plant Protection Actcompost, manurenono11012The Apprenticeship and Certification Actwastewaternono11012The Apprenticeship and Certification Actmanure, compost, water quality nonono223The Cimate and Green Plan Implementation Actnitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno678The Chown Lands Actwater qualitynono7810The Dairy Actwastewater, manurenono567The Drinking Water Spotash, nutrient, effluent, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, water spotash, nutrient, effluent, manure,&lt;</td></t<></td></td<>	Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesyes1Fisheries Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, wateryes1Fisheries Actpollutionyesyes1Food and Drugs Actcompost, manure ammonia, potash, nitrous oxide, fertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno1Greenhouse Gas Pollutionreffluent, manure, fertilizernono1Pricing Actgas, climate changeyesno1Impact Assessment Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnono2potash, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollution, manurenono1Income Tax Actgas, air pollution, water pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gas, air pollutionno1Animal Diseases Actmanurenono1Animal Diseases Actmanure, compost, water qualitynono2The Apprenticeship and Certification Actwastewaterno02The Climate and Green Plan Implementation Actmitrue, nitrite, wastewater, water qualitynono7The Dairy Act The Drinking Waternitrue, nitrite, wastewater, water greenhouse gasnono5The Efficiency Manitoba Actgreenhouse gasnono5The Efficiency Manitoba Actgreenhouse gas, water quality, upo	Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesyes110Fisheries Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, wateryesyes110Fisheries Actpollutionyesyes11Food and Drugs Actcompost, manureyesno110Greenhouse Gas Pollutionfertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno110Greenhouse Gas Pollutionfertilizer, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno44Health of Animals Acteffluent, manure, fertilizernono110Impact Assessment Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnono25potash, air pollution, manure, greenhouse gasnono110Animal Diseases Actmanurenono110Animal Diseases Actmanurenono110The Apprenticeship and Certification Actwastewaternono22The Chimate and Green Plan Implementation Actmanure, compost, water qualitynono78The Crown Lands Actwater qualitynono787The Crown Lands Actwater qualitynono567The Crown Lands Actwater qualitynono55The Dinking Water Sufety Actgreenhouse gas <t< td=""><td>Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesyes110Fertilizers Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water pollutionyesyes11Fisheries Actnitrite, potassium, fertilizer, compost, manureyesyes111Food and Drugs Actcompost, manure gas, climate changeyesno11012Freing Actgas, climate changeyesno445Health of Animals Acteffluent, manure, fertilizer pollution, water pollution, manure, greenhouse gasnono256Income Tax Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnono4216Plant Protection Actcompost, manurenono11012The Apprenticeship and Certification Actwastewaternono11012The Apprenticeship and Certification Actmanure, compost, water quality nonono223The Cimate and Green Plan Implementation Actnitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno678The Chown Lands Actwater qualitynono7810The Dairy Actwastewater, manurenono567The Drinking Water Spotash, nutrient, effluent, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, water spotash, nutrient, effluent, manure,&lt;</td></t<>	Fertilizers Actnitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, fertilizer, manureyesyes110Fertilizers Actnitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, effluent, water quality, manure, fertilizer, wastewater, water pollutionyesyes11Fisheries Actnitrite, potassium, fertilizer, compost, manureyesyes111Food and Drugs Actcompost, manure gas, climate changeyesno11012Freing Actgas, climate changeyesno445Health of Animals Acteffluent, manure, fertilizer pollution, water pollution, manure, greenhouse gasnono256Income Tax Actclimate change, greenhouse gasnono4216Plant Protection Actcompost, manurenono11012The Apprenticeship and Certification Actwastewaternono11012The Apprenticeship and Certification Actmanure, compost, water quality nonono223The Cimate and Green Plan Implementation Actnitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, greenhouse gas, climate changeyesno678The Chown Lands Actwater qualitynono7810The Dairy Actwastewater, manurenono567The Drinking Water Spotash, nutrient, effluent, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, water spotash, nutrient, effluent, manure,<

Manitoba	The Oil and Gas Act	nitrogen netech			7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
	The Ozone Depleting	nitrogen, potash	yes	no				
Manitoba	Substances Act	ozone	no	no	4	4	6	Vehicles
Manitoba	The Pesticides and Fertilizers Control Act	ammonia, nitrate, nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, wastewater, manure, fertilizer, compost	yes	yes	1	10	12	Animal and Public Health
		nitrogen, nutrient, wastewater, manure, fertilizer, compost, greenhouse gas, air pollution, water quality, soil quality, climate						Land Use and
Manitoba	The Planning Act	change	yes	no	2	2	3	Planning
Manitoba	The Polar Bear Protection Act	climate change, water quality, air quality	no	no	2	1	14	Fisheries and Biodiversity
Manitoba	The Property Tax and Insulation Assistance Act	water quality, air quality, soil quality	no	no	4	2	16	Land Use and Planning
Manitoba	The Public Health Act	nutrient, effluent, fertilizer, manure, wastewater, air quality	no	no	1	10	12	Animal and Public Health
Manitoba	The Retail Sales Tax Act	manure, fertilizer, compost, greenhouse gas	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
Manitoba					7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
Manitoba	The Surface Rights Act	nitrogen ammonia, nitrate, phosphorus, nutrient, wastewater, effluent,	yes	no	/	0	10	mming
Manitoba	The Water Protection Act	manure, fertilizer, compost, water pollution, water quality	yes	yes	2	5	9	Environmental Quality
Manitoba	The Water Resources Conservation Act	climate change, manure	no	no	2	5	9	Environmental Quality
Manitoba	The Wild Rice Act	fertilizer	no	no	7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
Manitoba	Workplace Safety and Health Act, The	nitrogen oxide, air quality	yes	no	3	3	4	Occupational Health and Safety
New Brunswick	Agricultural Land Protection and Development Act	manure, fertilizer	no	no	5	9	11	Agricultural Management
New	Agricultural Operation							Agricultural
Brunswick	Practices Act	fertilizer nitrogen oxide, wastewater,	no	no	5	9	11	Management
New Brunswick	Clean Air Act	effluent, climate change, air quality, ozone	yes	no	2	5	9	Environmental Quality
New Brunswick	Clean Environment Act	compost, wastewater, effluent, greenhouse gas, climate change, water pollution, water quality,	no	no	2	5	9	Environmental Quality
		phosphorus, nutrient, compost, wastewater, effluent, manure, fertilizer, compost, climate						
New Brunswick	Clean Water Act	change, water pollution, water quality,	no	yes	2	5	9	Environmental Quality
New Brunswick	Climate Change Act	nitrous oxide, nitrogen, greenhouse gas, climate change	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
New Brunswick	Easements Act	wastewater	no	no	2	11	14	Land Conservation
New Brunswick	Environmental Trust Fund Act	climate change	no	no	6	7	16	Climate Change
New	Gasoline and Motive Fuel							0
Brunswick New	<u>Tax Act</u>	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles Animal and Public Lealth
Brunswick New	Livestock Operations Act	nutrient, manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health Land Use and
Brunswick	Local Governance Act	wastewater, manure nitrate, phosphorus, potash,	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
New Brunswick	Mining Act	climate change, effluent, air quality	yes	yes	7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
New Brunswick	Natural Products Act	manure, wastewater	no	no	5	6	7	Food Marketing and Regulations

Nova Scotia	<u>Climate Change</u> <u>Reduction Act</u>	greenhouse gas, water quality, air quality, climate change	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
	Environmental Goals and				Ŭ	,		
Nova Scotia	Environment Act	potassium, nutrient, effluent, wastewater, fertilizer, compost, greenhouse gas, water quality, air quality, air pollution, climate change, ozone	yes	yes	6	7	8	Climate Change
Nova Scotia	Conservation Act	nitrogen nitrate, ammonia, nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxides, phosphate,	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
Nova Scotia	Dairy Industry Act Energy Resources		no	no				C
Nova Scotia		wastewater, manure, water quality			5	6	7	Food Marketing and Regulations
Nova Scotia	Crown Lands Act	climate change	no	no	7	12	15	Forestry
Nova Scotia	Apprenticeship and Trades Qualifications Act	nutrient	no	no	3	3	13	Occupational Health and Safety
Nova Scotia	Anti-idling Act	air pollution	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
Nova Scotia	Agriculture and Marketing Act	nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, nutrient, fertilizer, manure, compost	yes	no	5	6	7	Food Marketing and Regulations
Nova Scotia	Conservation Act	manure, fertilizer	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
and Labrador	Water Resources Act Agricultural Marshland	quality	yes	yes	2	5	9	Quality Land Use and
Newfoundland		nitrate, ammonia, phosphorus, wastewater, effluent, water						Environmental
Newfoundland and Labrador	Urban and Rural Planning Act	compost	no	no	2	2	3	Land Use and Planning
and Labrador	Gas Act	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
and Labrador Newfoundland	<u>Safety Act</u> Petroleum and Natural	quality, ozone	yes	yes	3	3	4	Safety
Newfoundland	Occupational Health and	nitrogen oxides, phosphorus, air			2	2	5	Occupational Health and
Newfoundland and Labrador	Municipalities Act	wastewater, effluent, climate change	no	no	2	2	3	Land Use and Planning
Newfoundland and Labrador	Mineral Act	water quality	no	no	7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
and Labrador	Management of Greenhouse Gas Act	nitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, climate change	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
and Labrador Newfoundland	Highway Traffic Act Management of	nitrogen oxides	yes	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
and Labrador Newfoundland	Services Act,	fertilizer, effluent, manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
and Labrador Newfoundland	Fish Inspection Act Health and Community	effluent	no	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity Animal and
Newfoundland								Fisheries and
Newfoundland and Labrador	Farm Practices Protection Act	manure, fertilizer, compost	no	no	5	9	11	Agricultural Management
Newfoundland and Labrador	Executive Council Act	greenhouse gas, soil quality, climate change	no	no	2	5	6	Environmental Quality
Newfoundland and Labrador	Environmental Protection Act	manure, fertilizer, effluent, compost, air quality, air pollution, ozone	yes	yes	2	5	6	Environmental Quality
and Labrador	Aquaculture Act	fertilizer ammonia, nitrogen oxides,	no	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity
Brunswick Newfoundland	Act	ammonia, phosphorus	yes	yes	3	3	4	Safety Fisheries and
New	Workers' Compensation				2	2	4	Occupational Health and
New Brunswick	Topsoil Preservation Act	wastewater	no	no	1	10	12	Animal and Public Health
Brunswick New	Public Health Act	wastewater, effluent, manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
Brunswick New	Oil and Natural Gas Act	effluent, climate change	no	no	7	8	10	mining Animal and
Brunswick New	Safety Act	quality, water quality	yes	no	3	3	4	Safety Oil, gas and
New	Occupational Health and	nitrogen oxide, effluent, air						Occupational Health and

		nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxides,						
	Environmental Goals and	wastewater, greenhouse gas, air						
Nova Scotia	Sustainable Prosperity Act	pollution, climate change, ozone	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
								Agricultural
Nova Scotia	Farm Practices Act	fertilizer	no	no	5	9	11	Management
	Farmers Fruit, Produce and Warehouse							Land Use and
Nova Scotia	Associations Act	manure, fertilizer	no	no	2	2	2	Planning
	Fisheries and Coastal							Fisheries and
Nova Scotia	Resources Act	effluent	no	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity
Nova Scotia	Forest Enhancement Act	water quality	no	no	7	12	15	Forestry
	E I I C A C	nitrate, ammonia, phosphorus,			1	10	10	Animal and
Nova Scotia	Fur Industry Act	nutrient, compost	yes	yes	1	10	12	Public Health Animal and
Nova Scotia	Health Protection Act	wastewater, manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
	Municipal Government	wastewater, effluent, compost,						Land Use and
Nova Scotia	Act	water quality, climate change	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
Nova Scotia	Petroleum Resources Removal Permit Act	nitrogen	Mag		7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
Nova Scotia	Water Resources	Introgen	yes	no	/	0	10	Environmental
Nova Scotia	Protection Act	climate change	no	no	2	5	9	Quality
								Occupational
Neve Sectio	Workers' Compensation	nhoonhomo fortilizon			3	2	4	Health and Safety
Nova Scotia	Act	phosphorus, fertilizer	no	yes	3	3	4	Oil, gas and
Ontario	Aggregate Resources Act	phosphorus	no	yes	7	8	10	mining
								Animal and
Ontario	Animal Health Act	compost, phosphorus	no	yes	1	10	12	Public Health
Ontario	Animals for Research Act	nutrient	no	no	1	10	12	Animal and Public Health
Ontario	Adminuts for reesearch ree	nitrate, ammonia, nutrient,	no	no	1	10	12	T done Treatin
		wastewater, effluent, manure,						
		fertilizer, compost, air quality,						Animal and
Ontario	Building Code Act	soil quality	yes	no	2	10	3	Public Health
Ontario	Cap and Trade Cancellation Act, 2018	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
Ontario	Capital Investment Plan	greennouse gas, ennate enange	no	110	Ŭ	,	0	Land Use and
Ontario	Act	wastewater	no	no	2	2	2	Planning
Q ( )					2	F	0	Environmental
Ontario	<u>Clean Water Act</u> Conservation Authorities	nutrient, fertilizer, water quality	no	no	2	5	9	Quality Land Use and
Ontario	Act	climate change	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
								Land
Ontario	Conservation Land Act	water quality	no	no	2	11	14	Conservation
Ontario	Electricity Act, 1998	nutrient, wastewater, greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
Ontario	Electricity Act, 1998	nutrient, wastewater, water	110	110	0	/	0	Fisheries and
Ontario	Endangered Species Act	quality	no	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity
	Environmental	wastewater, effluent, water						Environmental
Ontario	Assessment Act	quality, air quality	no	no	2	5	6	Quality
Ontario	Environmental Bill of Rights	nitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, climate change, air pollution	yes	no	2	5	6	Environmental Quality
Onturio	rights	nitrate, nitrite, nitrous oxide,	905	110		5	v	Quanty
		nitrogen oxides, ammonia,						
		phosphorus, potash, nutrient,						
		wastewater, effluent, manure, compost, fertilizer, greenhouse						
		gas, climate change, water						
	Environmental Protection	pollution, air pollution, air						Environmental
Ontario	Act	quality, soil quality, ozone	yes	yes	2	5	9	Quality
Ontorio	Farm Implements Act	manura			5	9	11	Agricultural
Ontario	Farm Implements Act Farming and Food	manure	no	no	5	9	11	Management Agricultural
Ontario	Production Protection Act	nutrient, fertilizer	no	no	5	9	11	Management
	Fish and Wildlife	wastewater, effluent, water				-	-	Fisheries and
Ontario	Conservation Act	quality	no	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity
Ontoric	Food Safety and Quality	nitrate, nitrite, phosphorus,	Noc	Noc	1	10	12	Animal and Public Health
Ontario	Act	manure, fertilizer, compost	yes	yes	1	10	12	Public Health

Ontario	Forestry Act	water quality, soil quality	no	<b>n</b> 0	7	12	15	Forestry
Ontario	Infrastructure for Jobs and	water quality, son quality wastewater, effluent, greenhouse	110	no	/	12	15	Torestry
Ontario	Prosperity Act	gas, climate change	no	no	2	7	13	Climate Change
0.4					E	(	7	Food Marketing
Ontario	Milk Act	manure ammonia, nutrient, effluent,	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations Oil, gas and
Ontario	Mining Act	fertilizer, water quality	yes	no	7	8	10	mining
								Land Use and
Ontario	Municipal Act, 2001	climate change	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
		nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient,						
		manure, fertilizer, wastewater,						Agricultural
Ontario	Nutrient Management Act	effluent, compost, climate change	yes	yes	2	9	17	Management
	0 1 11 11 1	·, · · · · · · ·						Occupational
Ontario	Occupational Health and Safety Act	nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxides, effluent	yes	no	3	3	4	Health and Safety
Ontario	Ontario College of Trades	enident	ye3		5	5		Occupational
	and Apprenticeship Act,							Health and
Ontario	<u>2009</u>	manure, fertilizer	no	no	3	3	13	Safety
Ontario	Ontario Water Resources Act	nutrient, effluent, wastewater, water quality, climate change	no	no	2	5	9	Environmental Quality
Ontario	Au	greenhouse gas, climate change,	110	110	2	5	,	Land Use and
Ontario	Planning Act	wastewater, effluent	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
		nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium,						
Ontario	Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act	nutrient, compost, fertilizer, greenhouse gas	NOC	Noc	2	5	6	Environmental Quality
			yes	yes				~ *
Ontario	Retail Sales Tax Act	fertilizer	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
		nitrate, nitrite, nitrogen, ammonia, phosphorus, nutrient,						
		wastewater, effluent, water						Environmental
Ontario	Safe Drinking Water Act	quality	yes	yes	2	5	9	Quality
	Waste Diversion					-		Environmental
Ontario	Transition Act, 2016	fertilizer, climate change	no	no	2	5	6	Quality
Ontario	Water Opportunities Act	wastewater, climate change	no	no	2	7	8	Climate Change
	Workplace Safety and	nitrogen oxides, phosphorus,						Occupational Health and
Ontario	Insurance Act	wastewater	yes	yes	3	3	4	Safety
		nitrogen, phosphorus, nutrient,						~
Prince Edward	Agricultural Crop	"water quality", "soil quality",			-			Agricultural
Island Prince Edward	Rotation Act	climate change	yes	yes	5	9	11	Management Agricultural
Island	Agricultural Insurance Act	fertilizer	no	no	5	9	2	Management
Prince Edward								Animal and
Island	Animal Welfare Act	nutrients	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
Prince Edward							~	Vehicles
Icland	Climata Landarshin Aat	graanhausa gas alimata ahanga	20	20	4	4		
Island	Climate Leadership Act	greenhouse gas, climate change nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite,	no	no	4	4	5	v enicles
Island	Climate Leadership Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium,	no	no	4	4	5	v enteres
Island	Climate Leadership Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer,	no	no	4	4	3	veneres
		nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air	no	no	4	4	3	
Island Prince Edward Island	Climate Leadership Act <u>Environmental Protection</u> Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer,	no yes	no	4	4	5	Environmental Quality
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward	Environmental Protection Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone			2	5	6	Environmental Quality Agricultural
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island	Environmental Protection	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water						Environmental Quality Agricultural Management
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward	Environmental Protection Act Farm Practices Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone fertilizer	yes no	no	2	5	6	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management Fisheries and
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island	Environmental Protection Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone	yes	no	2	5	6	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island	Environmental Protection Act Farm Practices Act Fish Inspection Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone fertilizer	yes no	no	2	5	6	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management Fisheries and Biodiversity Land Use and Planning
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward	Environmental Protection Act Farm Practices Act Fish Inspection Act Institute of Man and Resources Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone fertilizer effluent fertilizer	yes no no no	no no no no	2 5 1 2	5 9 1 2	6 11 1 2	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management Fisheries and Biodiversity Land Use and Planning Animal and
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island	Environmental Protection Act Farm Practices Act Fish Inspection Act Institute of Man and	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone fertilizer effluent	yes no no	no no no	2 5 1	5 9 1	6 11 1	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management Fisheries and Biodiversity Land Use and Planning Animal and Public Health
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward	Environmental Protection Act Farm Practices Act Fish Inspection Act Institute of Man and Resources Act Public Health Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone fertilizer effluent fertilizer manure, effluent	yes no no no	no no no no	2 5 1 2 1	5 9 1 2 10	6 11 1 2	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management Fisheries and Biodiversity Land Use and Planning Animal and Public Health Land Use and
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island	Environmental Protection Act Farm Practices Act Fish Inspection Act Institute of Man and Resources Act Public Health Act Real Property Tax Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone fertilizer effluent fertilizer manure, effluent effluent, manure, compost	yes no no no	no no no no no	2 5 1 2	5 9 1 2 10 2	6 11 1 2 12 16	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management Fisheries and Biodiversity Land Use and Planning Animal and Public Health Land Use and Planning
Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island Prince Edward Island	Environmental Protection Act Farm Practices Act Fish Inspection Act Institute of Man and Resources Act Public Health Act	nitrogen oxides, nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, potassium, nutrient, manure, fertilizer, compost, wastewater, effluent, air quality, water quality, water pollution, ozone fertilizer effluent fertilizer manure, effluent	yes no no no	no no no no no	2 5 1 2 1	5 9 1 2 10	6 11 1 2 12	Environmental Quality Agricultural Management Fisheries and Biodiversity Land Use and Planning Animal and Public Health Land Use and

		nitrate, ammonia, phosphorus,						
		potassium, nutrient, wastewater,						
Prince Edward		manure, fertilizer, effluent, water						Environmental
Island	Water Act	quality, climate change	yes	yes	2	5	9	Quality
~ .	Act respecting commercial							Fisheries and
Quebec	aquaculture	fertilizer, compost	no	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity
Quebec	Act respecting Investissement Québec	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	2	2	2	Land Use and Planning
Quebec	Act respecting land use	greenhouse gas, chinate change	110	110	2	2	2	Land Use and
Quebec	planning and development	phosphorus, manure, fertilizer	no	yes	2	2	3	Planning
<b>`</b>		nitrous oxide, nitrate, nitrite,					-	8
		ammonia, nitrogen oxide,						
	Act respecting	phosphorus, potassium,						Occupational
Oralis	occupational health and	wastewater, effluent, manure,			2	3	4	Health and
Quebec	safety Act respecting	fertilizer, air quality	yes	yes	3	3	4	Safety
	remunerated passenger							
	transportation by							
Quebec	automobile	climate change, greenhouse gas	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
	Act respecting the							
	acceleration of certain							Environmental
Quebec	infrastructure projects	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	2	5	6	Quality
	Act respecting the conservation and							Fisheries and
Quebec	development of wildlife	ammonia, nutrient, fertilizer	yes	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity
240000	Act respecting the		,		1	1	1	Liourerbity
	marketing of agricultural,							Food Marketing
Quebec	food and fish products	phosphorus, compost, manure	no	yes	5	6	7	and Regulations
	Act respecting the							
	<u>Ministère du</u> Développement durable,							
	de l'Environnement et des							
Quebec	Parcs	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	ves	6	7	8	Climate Change
<b>(</b>	Act respecting the			J				
	preservation of							
	agricultural land and	manure, compost, fertilizer,						Land Use and
Quebec	agricultural activities	wastewater	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
Orachara	Act respecting the Québec	f			4	4	5	W-11
Quebec	sales tax Act to affirm the	fertilizer, greenhouse gas, manure	no	no	4	4	3	Vehicles
	collective nature of water							
	resources and to promote							
	better governance of water							
0.1	and associated				2	~	0	Environmental
Quebec	<u>environments</u> Act to increase the number	climate change, water quality	no	no	2	5	9	Quality
	of zero-emission motor							
	vehicles in Québec in							
	order to reduce							
	greenhouse gas and other	nitrous oxide, nitrogen oxide,						
Quebec	pollutant emissions	greenhouse gas, climate change	yes	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
0.1		0			2	2	2	Land Use and
Quebec	Agrologists Act Animal Health Protection	manure, fertilizer ammonia, manure, fertilizer,	no	no	2	2	2	Planning Animal and
Quebec	Animal Health Protection Act	water pollution	yes	no	1	10	12	Public Health
200000			,		-	10	12	Land Use and
Quebec	Building Act	effluent, wastewater	no	no	2	2	2	Planning
		nitrate, nitrite, nitrous oxide,						
		nitrogen oxide, ammonia,						
		phosphorus, potassium, wastewater, effluent, manure,						
		fertilizer, compost, greenhouse						
		gas, air pollution, water quality,						
		soil quality, climate change,						Environmental
Quebec	Environment Quality Act	ozone	yes	yes	2	5	9	Quality
					_		_	Food Marketing
Quebec	Food Products Act	manure, compost, wastewater	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations
Quebec	Ministère de l'Agriculture, des Pâcheries et de	nhosnhorus fartilizar	20	Vec	2	2	2	Land Use and
Quebec	des Pêcheries et de	phosphorus, fertilizer	no	yes	2	2	3	Planning

	l'Alimentation, Act							
Ouebec	respecting the Municipal Powers Act	manure	no	no	2	2	3	Land Use and Planning
Quebee	Natural Heritage	climate change, effluent,	110	110	2	2	5	Environmental
Quebec	Conservation Act	fertilizer, compost	no	no	2	5	14	Quality
Quebec	Petroleum Resources Act	greenhouse gas, potassium, wastewater	no	no	7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
Quebec	Retail Sales Tax Act	fertilizer, air pollution	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
Quebec	Sustainable Forest Development Act	water quality, climate change	no	no	7	12	15	Forestry
		potash, effluent, manure,						
0.1		greenhouse gas, water pollution,				2	16	Land Use and
Quebec	Taxation Act	air pollution	no	no	4	2	16	Planning Occupational
	Workers' Compensation							Health and
Quebec	Act	phosphorus	no	yes	3	3	4	Safety
Saskatchewan	An Act respecting the Management and Reduction of Greenhouse Gases and Adaptation to Climate Change	nitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, climate change, fertilizer	yes	no	6	7	8	Climate Change
S1	Fisheries (Saskatchewan)	wetrient fortilizen			1	1	1	Fisheries and
Saskatchewan	Act	nutrient, fertilizer	no	no	1	1	1	Biodiversity Oil, gas and
Saskatchewan	Mineral Resources Act	nitrogen, phosphorus, potash	yes	no	7	8	10	mining
0 1 4 1	Planning and	6 <b>7</b>			2	2	2	Land Use and
Saskatchewan	Development Act, 2007	effluent nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium,	no	no	2	2	3	Planning
		nutrient, effluent, manure,						
Saskatchewan	Provincial Sales Tax Act	fertilizer, greenhouse gas	yes	yes	4	4	5	Vehicles
Saalvataharran	Dublic Health Act SK	air quality, effluent, water quality,			1	10	12	Animal and
Saskatchewan	Public Health Act SK Saskatchewan Chemical	manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health Animal and
Saskatchewan	Fertilizer Incentive Act	potash, nutrient, fertilizer	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health
		nitrate, ammon, nitrous oxide,						Occupational
Saskatchewan	Saskatchewan Employment Act, The,	nitrogen oxides, phosphorus, potassium	yes	ves	3	3	4	Health and Safety
Suskatelie wall	Employment Act, The,	nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium,	yes	yes	5	5	-	Salety
	The Agricultural	manure, fertilizer, effluent,			_			Agricultural
Saskatchewan	Operations Act,	wastewater, water pollution	yes	yes	5	9	11	Management Animal and
Saskatchewan	The Animal Health Acts The Conservation	manure	no	no	1	10	12	Public Health Land
Saskatchewan	Easements Act	water quality	no	no	2	11	14	Conservation
								Oil, gas and
Saskatchewan	The Crown Minerals Act	nitrogen, phosphorus, potash	yes	yes	7	8	10	mining
	<u>The Environmental</u> <u>Management and</u>	nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphorus, wastewater, fertilizer, manure, effluent, greenhouse gas, air pollution, water pollution, water quality						Environmental
Saskatchewan	Protection Act The Farm Financial	water quality, air quality	yes	yes	2	5	6	Quality Food Marketing
Saskatchewan	<u>Stability Act</u> The Forest Resources	manure	no	no	5	6	7	and Regulations
Saskatchewan	<u>Management Act</u>	wastewater, water quality	no	no	7	12	15	Forestry
Saskatchewan	The Fuel Tax Act, 2000	fertilizer	no	no	4	4	5	Vehicles
Saskatchewan	The Irrigation Act	effluent, water quality	no	no	2	2	3	Land Use and Planning
Saskatchewan	The Municipal Grants Act	wastewater	no	no	2	2	3	Land Use and Planning
Saskatchewan	The Municipalities Act	effluent, fertilizer			2	2	3	Land Use and Planning
Saskatellewall	The Oil and Gas		no	no	2	2	3	Oil, gas and
Saskatchewan	Conservation Act	greenhouse gas, climate change	no	no	7	8	10	mining

Saskatchewan	The Provincial Lands Act, 2016	fertilizer	no	no	7	8	10	Oil, gas and mining
	The Saskatchewan Water							Land Use and
Saskatchewan	Corporation Act	effluent, water quality	no	no	2	2	2	Planning
	The Water Security							Environmental
Saskatchewan	Agency Act	water quality	no	no	2	5	9	Quality